
1

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Board of Education 

"Building a Bright Future for All Learners" 

Regular Board Meeting 
September 20, 2023 
6:00 p.m. Closed Session 
7:00 p.m. Open Session 

Vernon E. Greer Elementary School 
Bright Future Learning Center/Library 

248 West A Street, Galt, CA 95632 

To join the webinar remotely: 
https://galt-k12-ca.zoom.us/j/83526444647 

Or One tap mobile : 
+16699006833,,83526444647# US (San Jose)

+16694449171,,83526444647# US
Webinar ID: 835 2644 4647 

AGENDA 
Anyone may comment publicly on any item within the Board's subject matter jurisdiction to the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District Board 
of Education. However, the Board may not take action on any item not on this Board meeting agenda except as authorized by Government Code 
section 54954.2. 
− Complete a public comment form indicating the item you want to address and give it to the board meeting assistant.
− Public comment via Zoom teleconference by notifying the board meeting assistant through the chatbox feature in Zoom (please include 

agenda item topic) or by using the raised hand feature in Zoom during the agenda item to be addressed. You will be identified by your Display 
Name in Zoom when called upon to speak. 

− Individual speakers shall be allowed three minutes to address the Board on each agenda or non-agenda item.
− Public comments emailed to superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 24 hours before the board meeting will be posted on the GJUESD website with 

the agenda. Email public comment is limited to 450 words. 
− The Board shall limit the total time for public input on each item to 20 minutes. With Board consent, the president may increase or decrease 

the time allowed for public presentation, depending on the topic and the number of persons wishing to be heard. 

Board of Education Meetings are recorded. 

A. 6:00 p.m. – Closed Session Location: Vernon E. Greer Elementary, Room 3

B. Announce items to be discussed in Closed Session, Adjourn to Closed Session

1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6
Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association
 Non-Represented Employees

2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE §54957

C. Adjourn Closed Session, Call Meeting to Order, Flag Salute, Announce Action Taken in Closed
Session

D. Board Meeting Protocol

Updated 9/18/23 with Unaudited Actuals Presentation

mailto:superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us


2 
 

E. Presentations & Recognitions 
 1. Robert L. McCaffrey Student Leadership Report 
  
F. Public Comments for topics not on the agenda 

Public comment is limited to three minutes or less, pending Board President's approval. 
  
G. Reports  
 LCAP GOAL 1 

Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 
 1. Enrollment Update 
   
 LCAP GOAL 2 

Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive 
environments. 

 1. Facilities Master Planning  
    
 OTHER REPORTS  
 1. Jennings Property Lease  
 2. Fentanyl Awareness Parent Training: September 12, 2023  
 3. School Calendars  
    
H. Routine Matters/New Business  
 232.412 Consent Calendar  
  a. Approval of the Agenda 

At a regular meeting, the Board may act upon an item of business not appearing on the posted agenda 
if, first, the Board publicly identifies the item, and second, one or more of the following occurs: 
1) The Board, by a majority vote of the entire Board, decides that an emergency (as defined in 

Government Code section 54956.5) exists or 
2) Upon a decision by a two-thirds vote of the Board, or if less than two-thirds of the Board 

members are present, a unanimous vote of those present, the Board decides that there is a need 
to take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the District after 
the agenda was posted; or  

3) The item was posted on the agenda of a prior meeting of the Board occurring not more than five 
calendar days before the date of this meeting, and at the preceding meeting, the item was 
continued to this meeting. 

MOTION 

     
  b. Minutes  
    August 16, 2023 Regular Board Meeting  
     
  c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24431669-24431732; 24433571-24433649; 
24434741-24434820; 24436107-24436152; 24437009-24437083 

 Payroll Warrants: 8/11/23, 8/31/23, 9/8/23 

 

     
  d. Personnel  
    Resignations/Retirements 

 Leave of Absence Requests 
 New Hires/Reclassifications 

 

     
  e. Donations  
     
  f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Erin McCook Mundy  
     
  g. 2023-24 School Fundraisers  



3 
 

     
  h. 2023-24 After School Education and Safety (ASES) Program Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU) Between GJUESD and the City of Galt 
 

     
  i. Bid for Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake Canyon 

Elementary 
 

     
  j. 2023-24 Master Contracts for Nonpublic Schools and Agencies 

 Sierra School “ Specialized Education of California” 
 Sierra San Joaquin “Specialized Education of California” 
 Sunbelt Staffing 

 

     
 232.413 Consent Calendar (Continued) – Items Removed for Later Consideration MOTION 
    
 232.414 Public Hearing Regarding the Sufficiency of Instructional Materials and 

Determination through a Resolution Whether Each Student has Sufficient 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials Pursuant to Education Code 60119 

PUBLIC 
HEARING 

    
 232.415 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 2; GJUESD Resolution 

Regarding Sufficiency of Instructional Materials 2023-2024 
MOTION 

    
 232.416 Board Consideration of Approval of FM3 Research (Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, 

Metz & Associates) Proposal to Conduct Public Opinion Research 
MOTION 

    
 232.417 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 3; Authorized Signatories for 

the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
MOTION 

    
 232.418 Board Consideration of Approval of Side Letter of Agreement Between GJUESD 

and the Galt Elementary Faculty Association (GEFA) Regarding Acceleration 
Blocks for the 2023-24 School Year 

MOTION 

    
 232.419 Board Consideration of Approval of GJUESD Actuarial Study of Retiree Health 

Liabilities Under GASB 74/75 For Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 
MOTION 

    
 232.420 Board Consideration of Approval of 2022-23 Unaudited Actuals MOTION 
    
 232.421 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 4; Resolution of the 

Governing Board to Commit Fund Balance for 2023-24 
MOTION 

    
 232.422 Board Consideration of Approval of Resolution No. 5; GANN LIMIT MOTION 
    
 232.423 Board Consideration of Approval of Substitute Teacher Pay Rate Increase MOTION 
    
 232.424 First Reading and Board Consideration of Approval of Board Policy 3314.2 

Revolving Funds  
MOTION 

    
 232.425 Board Consideration of Approval to Open Venmo Account for Galt Joint Union 

Elementary District 
MOTION 

    



4 
 

 232.426 Board Consideration of Approval of the Following Board Policies (BP), 
Administrative Regulations (AR) and Bylaw (BB): 

Superintendent 
1. BP 1113 - District and School Websites 

AR 1113 - District and School Websites 
2. BP 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units 
3. BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials 

Curriculum 
4. BP 4112.2 – Certification 

AR 4112.2 – Certification 
5. BP 6174 - Education for English Learners 

AR 6174 - Education for English Learners 
Educational Services 

6. BP 5141.5 - Mental Health 
7. BP 5148 - Child Care and Development 

AR 5148 - Child Care and Development 
8. DELETE: BP 6146.4 - Differential Graduation and Competency Standards 

for Students with Disabilities  
9. BP 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 

Special Education 
AR 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 
Special Education 

MOTION 

    
I. Public Comments for topics not on the agenda 

Public comment is limited to three minutes or less, pending Board President's approval.  
   
J. Pending Agenda Items  
    
K. Adjournment  
    
    
 The next regular meeting of the GJUESD Board of Education: October 18, 2023 
  

 
 

Board agenda materials are available for review at the address below. Individuals who require disability-related 
accommodations or modifications, including auxiliary aids and services, to participate in the Board meeting should 

contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 
 

 Lois Yount, District Superintendent 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 
superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 

 

 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      September 20, 2023 Agenda Item:  Closed Session 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 
  

 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6 
Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar, Alejandra Garibay 
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association 
 Non-Represented Employees 

  
  
2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE §54957 

  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Revised February 9, 2022 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

BOARD MEETING PROTOCOL 

 

 

SESSION INTRODUCTION 

1. The meeting is being recorded. 
2. The meeting is open to the public. 
3. The meeting is being broadcast live through Zoom teleconference. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

1. Public comments are three minutes per agenda item. 
2. The Board shall limit the total time for public comment for each agenda item to 20 

minutes. 
3. With Board consent, the Board President may increase or decrease the time allowed for 

public comment. 
4. To make a public comment via Zoom teleconference, notify the board meeting assistant 

through the chatbox feature in Zoom (please include agenda item topic) or by using the 
raised hand feature in Zoom during the agenda item to be addressed. You will be 
identified by your Display Name in Zoom when called upon to speak. 

5. To make a public comment in person, complete a public comment form indicating the 
item you would like to address and give it to the board meeting assistant. 

Email Public Comment 

1. Public comments emailed to superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us 24 hours before the board 
meeting will be posted to the GJUESD website with the agenda.  

2. Email public comment is limited to 450 words. 

 

BOARD VOTE AND CONNECTIVITY 

1. Each motion will be followed by a roll call vote for action items. 
2. Should a board member attend the meeting remotely and lose connectivity by 

teleconference or phone, the meeting will be delayed five minutes. 

 

REGULAR BOARD MEETINGS SHALL BE ADJOURNED BY 10:30 P.M. 

 

mailto:superintendent@galt.k12.ca.us


Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      September 20, 2023 Agenda Item:   
Presentations & Recognitions 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 
  

 

1. Robert L. McCaffrey Student Leadership Report 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: Reports 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item:  
 Information Item: XX 

 
 

LCAP GOAL 1 
Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 

1. Enrollment Update 
  
  
LCAP GOAL 2 
Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive environments. 

1. Facilities Master Planning 
  
  
OTHER REPORTS 
1. Jennings Property Lease 
2. Fentanyl Awareness Parent Training: September 12, 2023 
3. School Calendars 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
LCAP GOAL 1 

 

 
 
 
LCAP GOAL 1 
Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in a variety of learning 
environments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Enrollment Update 
Lois Yount, Superintendent 

  
  
  
  



GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 

 

Total Enrollment 

Beginning 
2023-24 

Ending 
2022-23 

Ending 
2021-22 

9/14/23  8/17/23 3361 3320 
3393 3410 

 

Enrollment by School  

 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 
9/14/23 8/17/23 

Fairsite  
(Transitional Kinder) 

107 125 94 
(does not include SPED) 

 

Greer 529 539 508 495 

Lake Canyon 465 470 511 536 

Marengo Ranch 471 467 446 503 

River Oaks 521 517 534 545 

Valley Oaks 511 515 508 508 

McCaffrey 780 777 781 725 
 

 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
LCAP GOAL 2 

 

 
LCAP GOAL 2 
Promoting PreK-8 whole learner development through social and emotional learning opportunities in a variety of safe and supportive 
environments. 

 
1.  Facilities Master Planning 

Lois Yount, Superintendent 

 
Architectural firm 19six is performing site visits this month to determine facility needs. They 
are also in the process of reviewing and evaluating the District’s existing plans and projects 
completed to date. The completed Master Plan should be presented to the Board by April 
2024.  
 
The District is in the process of establishing a Steering Committee that would meet 3-4 
times between October and April. This Committee will be responsible for reviewing and 
giving feedback on the Master Plan and facility long-term goals for the District. The District 
would like a Board member, 2-3 principals, 2-3 teachers and maintenance staff to 
participate in this Committee.  
 

 
 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
OTHER REPORTS 

 

 
 
 
OTHER REPORTS 
 

1. Jennings Property Lease 
Lois Yount, Superintendent 
 

 District and City staff met on August 23rd to continue planning for a potential City lease of 
the District’s Jennings property at 320 W Elm Avenue.  
 
Summary of topics discussed: 

• The City would prefer a lease term of at least 25 years 
• A lease would include a cancellation clause if the City did not develop the land in 

the time specified 
• Payment to the District for the property- District’s goal is to recover attorney fees 

associated to developing this lease 
• Insurance costs and liability need to be researched for both parties  
• City would develop two softball fields, parking lot and bathrooms  
• Potential City funding sources- Measure Q, Developer Fees and Financing Options  

 
Next Steps:  
District’s legal counsel will have draft agreements for the City and District to review by the 
end of October.  

  
  
2. Fentanyl Awareness Parent Training: September 12, 2023 

Lois Yount, Superintendent 
  
  
3. School Calendars 

Principals  
  

 



FUTURE FOCUSED: 

FENTANYL  
AWARENESS 

COMMUNITY INFORMATION MEETING

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12TH 6PM-7:30PM 
McCaffrey Middle School 

997 Park Terrace Dr., Galt, CA 95632

Over 150 people die every day from fentanyl poisoning. 
99% of the most common street pills tested are fake, 99% of those pills contained fentanyl.  

Fentanyl is up to 50 times stronger than heroin and up to 100 times stronger than 
morphine. Rainbow fentanyl is rapidly spreading amongst teenagers in the Sacramento 

region.

GUEST SPEAKERS 
District Attorney's Office 

Crime Lab
Bereaved Family Member 

MODERATOR 
Arrive Alive California Inc.

Signs of Fentanyl Poisoning 
Slow or no breathing 
Difficulty staying awake 
Blue lips or nails 
Choking/snoring sounds 
Dizziness and confusion 
Can’t be woken up

Hosted by the Galt Teen Center ~ For more information, please contact Annette 
Kunze at galtteencenter@gmail.com

1PillCanKillSac.com



S U N M O N T U E W E D T H U F R I S A T

1 2 3 4 5 6

F I R E  D R I L L

2 N D  C U P  O F
C O F F E E

7

8 9 1 0 1 1

F S  P A C  

1 2

P R O F E S S I O N A L
D E V E L O P M E N T

1 3

P R O F E S S I O N A L
D E V E L O P M E N T

1 4

1 5 1 6

C O N F E R E N C E
W E E K

1 7 1 8 1 9 20

F A L L
C A R N I V A L  &
B O O K  F A I R

2 1

2 2 2 3

B O O K  F A I R

24 2 5 26 2 7 28

29 3 0

S P I R I T
W E E K

3 1

O
C
T
O
B
E
R

2 0 2 3

F A I R S I T E
E L E M E N T A R Y  A N D
E A R L Y  L E A R N I N G

C E N T E R

9 0 2  C A R O L I N E   S T .
G A L T ,  C A  9 5 6 3 2  
( 2 0 9 )  7 4 5 - 2 5 0 6

L A U R A  M A R Q U E Z
P R I N C I P A L





Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

1 2 3 

 

 

Menu Tuesday  

3:00 

4 5 

Fire Drill 8:10  

 

House Meeting  

1:55  

6 7 

8 9 

 

ELAC Meeting  

8:05 - BFLC  

10 

 

 

 

Picture Day 

Makeups 

11 

Academic                      
Conferences                    

4th-6th 

 
Vision Screening  

12 13 14 

15 16 17 18 

 

GJUESD Board 

Meeting 7:00 PM  

19 20 
 

3rd Grade to LRHS  

21 

22 23 24 

 

Hearing  

Screening  

 

25 

 

Leadership Committee 

2:40 - Conference Rm  

26 

 

House Meeting  

1:55  

27 28 

29 30 31     

Lake Canyon Board Calendar  
October 2023 

NO SCHOOL  NO SCHOOL  

Kinder Dismissal 1:00 

Kinder Dismissal 1:00 

MAP Testing (Grades 1 - 8) 

Parent Conference Week - 12:30 PM Dismissal 

LC Haunted House  



Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 

29 30 31     

October 2023 
McCaffrey Middle School 

Fall MAP Testing Window - September 18 – October 6 

———— Parent/Teacher Conference Week - Minimum Days  ———— 

Kona Ice - Lunch Time 
Volleyball Games 

 

—————-—————— Washington DC Trip - Oct 8 - 13 —–——————————  

No School - Professional Development Day  

Fall Concert 6pm iSmart Parent  
Presentation 6pm 
Multi and Library 

Hearing Testing 
Science 

AVID Fall Visit 9am Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Club Live - Library 
During Lunches 

Environmental Club 
to CRP 3:15 - 4:15 

Academic Conferences 

Unity Day  
Wear Orange 



SUN MON TUE WED THU FRI SAT 

1  2  
 

E L D  m e e t i n g  
2 : 5 0  

3  
 

M T S S  

4  
 
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

5  
 

6  
 
 
 
 

K i n d e r  1 p m  
d i s m i s s a l  

7  

8  9  
 

A c a d e m i c   
C o n f e r e n c e  

1 0  
 
 
 

1 1  
 

F a l l  p i c t u r e  
r e t a k e s  

 
 

1 2  1 3  
 
 
 
 
 

1 4  

1 5  1 6  
 

1 7  
 
 
 
 

E m e r g e n c y  
D r i l l  

1 8  
 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

1 9  
 
 
 
 

2 0  

3 r d  G r a d e  
g o e s  t o  L R H S  

 
K i n d e r  g o e s  t o  

F o g  W i l l o w  
1 p m  d i s m i s s a l  

2 1  

1 1  2 3  
S S C  M e e t i n g  

2 4  
L e a d e r s h i p  

M e e t i n g  

2 5  
T r u n k  o r  T r e a t  

 
 
 
 

C O L L E G E  D A Y  

2 6  
K O N A  I C E  

 
 
 

H e a r i n g  
S c r e e n i n g   

2 7  
M o r n i n g  S i n g  

 
 
 
 

K i n d e r  1 p m  
d i s m i s s a l  

2 8  

2 9  3 0  
 

6 t h  G r a d e  
g o e s  t o   

S l y  P a r k  

3 1         

October 2023 
Board Calendar– What’s happening this month at Marengo Ranch? 

Important District 

Dates/Reminders 

2  DRA Window 
opens  
 
4  Co lo r  Day  
 
5  Admin       
Meet ing  
 
10  Nego t ia t i ons  
 
12 -13  PD Days   
No  Schoo l  
 
16 -20  Pa ren t  
Teacher  con fe rence  
week  
 
30  You th  Baske tba l l  
Beg ins  
 
 
 
CLYSL us ing  
f ac i l i t y  M -TH 

 
 

—————Book Fair————— 

NO SCHOOL 

Jog-A-Thon 

———————— Red Ribbon Week ———————- 



Sun  Mon  Tue  Wed  Thu  Fri  Sat 

1  2   
 

3 
 

4 
 

 

5 
 

 
 

6  
 

7 

8  9 
 

10 
 

 

11 
 

12 
 No School  

Professional  
Development 

 

13 
No School 
Professional  
Development 

14 

15  16 
 

17 
 

Principal Lunch 
Bunch 

 
 

18        
 
 
 

Board  Meeting 7:00  pm 
 

19 
 
 

GEFA/CSEA 

20  3rd to Liberty Ranch 

 
 
 

4:00-7:00 pm 

21 

22  23 
 

 

24 
 
 

PTA Mee ng 3pm 

25   
 
 

26 
 

27    
Friday Sing 8:15 
Wear RED DAY! 
Kinder to McFarland 

28 

29  30 
 

31 
 
Orange & Black Day 

 
 

 

 
 
 

     

  R  O k  E nt  
       Oct  2023 

Coins For Classrooms 

1st-6th Parent Conferences 12:30 Dismissal 

Red Ribbon Week 10/23-10/27 



David Nelson 

Principal 

 

Leah Wheeler 

Assistant Principal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Valley Oaks Elementary School 

21 C Street 

Galt, CA 95632 

Phone: (209) 745-1564 

Fax: (209) 744-4565 

 

District Office 

1018 C Street, Suite 210 

Galt, CA 95632 

Phone: (209) 744-4545 

Fax: (209) 744-4553 

 

MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY 

2 

 

•SSC Meeting @    

  2:45pm 

3 4 

 

•50% 1st Tri. AR  

 Celebration 

5 

 

•PTO Mtg. @ 2:45pm 

6 

 

•Kinder Dismissed      

 @1:00pm 

9 10 

 

•VO Family Science    

  Night @ 6:00pm 

11 12 13 

16 17 18 

 

 

 

•Board Mtg. @ 7:00pm 

19 

 

 

 

•KONA ICE @ 12:30 

20 

23 24 25 

 

•Fall Picture  

  MAKE-UPs 

26 27 

•Friday Sing @ 8:15 

•Kinder Dismissed   

 @1:00pm 

•VO Fall Carnival  

 @4:00pm 

30 31    

Valley Oaks Elementary School 

October 2023 

No School—PD  Day 1      No School—PD  Day 2 

Parent Conferences           Minimum Days                    Dismissal @ 12:30pm  



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.412 
Board Consideration of Approval of Consent 
Calendar 
 

Presenter: Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 

 

 
a. Approval of the Agenda 
  
b. Minutes 
  August 16, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
  
c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24431669-24431732; 24433571-24433649; 24434741-24434820; 24436107-
24436152; 24437009-24437083 

 Payroll Warrants: 8/11/23, 8/31/23, 9/8/23 
  
d. Personnel 
  Resignations/Retirements 

 Leave of Absence Requests 
 New Hires/Reclassifications 

  
e. Donations 
  
f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Erin McCook Mundy 
  
g. 2023-24 School Fundraisers 
  
h. 2023-24 After School Education and Safety (ASES) Program Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

Between GJUESD and the City of Galt 
  
i. Bid for Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake Canyon Elementary 
  
j. 2023-24 Master Contracts for Nonpublic Schools and Agencies 

 Sierra School “ Specialized Education of California” 
 Sierra San Joaquin “Specialized Education of California” 
 Sunbelt Staffing 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



1 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District  
Board of Education Minutes 

 
 

Regular Board Meeting 
August 16, 2023 
 

Galt City Hall Chamber 
380 Civic Drive, Galt, CA 95632 

 
Zoom Webinar ID: 

83482997464 
  
Board Members Administrators 
Wesley Cagle 
Traci Skinner- absent 
Casey Raboy 
Annette Kunze 
Katherine Harper 

Lois Yount 
Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano 

Kuljeet Nijjar 
Alejandra Garibay 

Laura Marquez 
Judi Hayes 

Jennifer Porter 
Tina Homdus 
David Nelson 

Carlos Castillo 
Stephanie Simonich 

 
A. 6:00 p.m. – Closed Session Location: Galt City Hall Conference Room 

Present for closed session: Wesley Cagle, Casey Raboy, Annette Kunze, Katherine Harper, Lois Yount, 
Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar and Alejandra Garibay 

   
B. Wesley Cagle called the Closed Session to order at 6:00 p.m. to discuss the following 

items—item 4. Public Employee Appointment was moved to the top of the closed session 
items. Adjourn to closed session. 

 

    
 1. STUDENT MATTER, Education Code §35146, 48918(c) 

 Expulsion Re-admit Case No. 21/22-04 
 

    
 2. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS, Pursuant to Government Code, §54956.8 

Property: 320 W Elm Avenue [APN 148-0140-057-0000] 
Agency Negotiator(s): P. Addison Covert, Parker & Covert LLP Attorney At Law 
Negotiating Parties: Galt Joint Union Elementary School District and the City of Galt 
Under Negotiation: Purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property 

    
 3. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR, Government Code §54957.6 

Agency Negotiator: Lois Yount, Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Kuljeet Nijjar 
 Employee Agency: (GEFA) Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
 Employee Agency: (CSEA) California School Employee Association 
 Non-Represented Employees 

 

    
 4. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT, Pursuant to Government Code, §54957, subd. 

(b)(1)) 
Title: Chief Business Officer 

 

    
  Alejandra Garibay exited the closed session at 6:10 p.m.  



2 
 

    
C. Closed Session adjourned at 6:58 p.m. Wesley Cagle announced no action was taken in closed session. 
   
D. Lois Yount, Superintendent, shared the Board Meeting Protocol. 
  
E. Public Comments  

There were no public comments. 
  
F. Reports  
 LCAP GOAL 1 

Engaging learners in PreK-8 through a focus on equity, access, and academic rigor with inclusive practices in various learning environments. 
 1. New School Year and Enrollment Updates 

 
Lois Yount reported that teachers returned on August 14, 2023 and attended a welcome-back 
presentation at McCaffrey Middle School. This year's theme is "Attend Today, Achieve Tomorrow." 
She indicated Kuljeet Nijjar, Educational Services Director, is leading efforts to improve attendance 
and credited her with this year's theme. 
 
Ms. Yount shared the 2023-24 District goals and focus areas. They include: 

• Student Academic Growth  
• MAP Reading and Math – 5% growth 
• District Reading Assessments – 10% growth 
• Continuous Improvement cycles and collaboration 
• CalSCHLS Surveys – increase engagement, relationships and safety 
• Improve & Maintain Facilities 
• New Math Framework Professional Development 
• Implementing SOME Building Thinking Classrooms Strategies 

 
Ms. Yount shared a video on Vertical Workspaces and Collaboration. She indicated that the District 
is focusing on increasing student collaboration. One way to do that is by getting students on their 
feet and working together on whiteboards or other spaces. The video shows students learning on 
their feet. Vertical learning is a framework for high-quality group work. It showcases student 
thinking for everyone to see. 
 
Ms. Yount said approximately 30 teachers went to a week-long training at the Sacramento County 
Office of Education (SCOE) called Building Thinking Classrooms this summer to learn about vertical 
learning. 
 
Ms. Yount shared Leadership Teamwork & Collaboration Members, including the Board of 
Education, Cabinet Members, School Administrators, Supervisors & Coordinators, Union 
Leadership, Math Pilot Teachers, Teachers on Special Assignments (TOSAs), Building Thinking 
Classrooms Teachers and Teacher Mentors. 
 
At the end of the slides, Ms. Yount said she introduced Mark Schumacher, Guest Speaker. Mr. 
Schumacher is an educator, speaker and stand-up comedian. She indicated she wanted to bring a 
message to teachers that they would enjoy, laugh, put them in good spirits, and reignite their 
passion for teaching. She said she had some positive feedback from teachers. She shared one 
email. The email sender said, "What a nice meeting to start the year off. The start of the school 
year is normally very stressful. It was nice to have someone that has been in teacher's shoes and 



3 
 

put a comedy spin on it. It was not only  a good time, but he taught us and made us remember 
why we all went into teaching. The email sender described her checking for understanding related 
to what she learned from the speaker. 
 
Ms. Yount provided an enrollment update. She said the District has 3,421 students enrolled, an 
increase of 60 students. She indicated that another update will be brought to the September 
Board meeting. 
 
Ms. Yount shared information from the CAST meeting as it relates to the start of the new school 
year. She indicated they discussed the possible addition of a School Resource Officer (SRO) shared 
with the Galt High School District (GHSD). The GJUESD SRO is Matt Walters. His office is located at 
McCaffrey Middle School. However, he will spend significant time at the elementary school sites 
this year. 
 
Ms. Yount said that she and Lisa Pettis, GHSD Superintendent, attended the Galt Saturday Market 
to share information on their respective school districts.  
 
Ms. Yount said Lorenzo Hines, Galt City Manager, shared information at the CAST meeting 
regarding the Cannabis Public Forum sessions. He said the community survey related to Cannabis 
sales slightly favors a commercial cannabis business. He offered to provide a city update report to 
both school Boards at an upcoming Board meeting. He also shared that Measure Q has allowed 
the city to increase park and recreation staff.  
 
The Board requested a report from the city manager at a future Board meeting. 

   
 2. 2023 Summer Programs 

 
Kuljeet Nijjar, Educational Services Director, reported on the 2023 summer programs. She 
indicated the District offered Extended School Year (ESY), summer school, migrant program, and 
Expanded Learning Summer Program (GEL). She highlighted staff members' efforts this summer 
and acknowledged Gina Fuentes, ESY Coordinator, Leah Wheeler, Summer School Coordinator, 
Lori Jones, Expanded Learning Coordinator, Teachers, classified staff, and District nurse.  
 
Ms. Nijjar shared attendance rates and academic growth percentages that students made on pre 
and post-tests. She said the technology department staff provided hotspots to migrant education 
students so they could participate in a hybrid program and acknowledged their efforts.  
 
Lori Jones, Expanded Learning Coordinator, reported on the Expanded Learning program. She 
indicated that they served students at every school site except Valley Oaks Elementary due to 
construction. The average daily attendance was 82%. Students participated in a variety of 
activities that included:  

• Creative writing 
• Team building 
• WOW on Wheels 
• LEGO and magnetic block building 
• Walking Field trip 
• Circle time with "question of the day"  
• Gardening 

   



4 
 

 3. Spring 2023 Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium (SBAC) and California Assessment of 
Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP) 
 
Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano, Curriculum Director, reported. She reflected on the SBAC 
administration over the past six years. She indicated a similarity in results pre and post-pandemic. 
She said she encourages the administrative team and teachers to look at data through the lens of 
status and growth. For status, how many students met or exceeded the standard and for growth, 
what gains were made by student cohorts.  
 
Ms. Del Toro-Anguiano said administrators are given data for the entire District by cohort groups 
and Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) to see if the instructional practices they had in 
place made a difference. The goal is to ensure everyone is holding data talks and that everyone is 
reflecting on the data. Data talks and reflections included the following: 

1. Identify trends 
2. Instructional implications 
3. Non-negotiables 
4. Correlation to MAP 
5. Support needed 

 
Also, what was the impact to children identified as chronically absent? Ms. Del Toro-Anguiano 
shared a sample of the reflection questions. She said the District has Teachers On Special 
Assignment (TOSAs), mentors for all interns and mentors for teachers in the induction program. 
The goal is to use some of the data sets during academic conference to set direction and goals and 
new targets for PLCs. 
 
Annette Kunze, Board Member, said it is helpful to see the sense of urgency that was presented to 
help students succeed and thanked Ms. Del Toro-Anguiano. 

    
 OTHER REPORTS  
 1. Budget 45-Day Revision 

 
Lois Yount reported on the items that have changed in the budget since it was 
adopted in June. She indicated an increase in employee salaries and benefits and a 
decrease in the Arts, Music, and Instructional Materials Discretionary Block Grant 
(AMISDBG) and Learning Recover Emergency Block Grant (LRDBG). Ms. Yount added 
that this would not affect a math adoption due to Board commited funds for an 
adoption. 

 

    
 2. Williams Uniform Complaint Process (UCP) Quarter 4 Report 

Lois Yount reported no complaints. 
 

    
 3. State Facility Funding 

 
Lois Yount reported the District had received $10,783,546 in State funds for 
Modernization. It has enabled the District to expand its bond program from $19.7 
million to $30.5 million, an increase of over 30%. She stated that the District had 
done a really good job getting as much money from the state facility program as 
possible.  

 

    



5 
 

    
 4.  School Calendars 

School principals highlighted events from their August and September 2023 
calendars. 

 

    
 Wesley Cagle, Board President, stated it had been determined that an agenda item needs 

to be added to the agenda for immediate action. The need to act came to the Board's 
attention after the agenda was posted. 
 
Katherine Harper made a motion to approve adding agenda item 232.412  to the agenda.  
Board consideration to move the September 20, 2023 Board meeting from Galt City Hall 
Chamber to Vernon E. Greer Elementary School due to the city beginning its Galt 
University meeting series at the chamber, seconded by Casey Raboy. A vote of 4 ayes 
carried the motion. 

 

    
G. Routine Matters/New Business  
 232.401 Consent Calendar 

 
Wesley Cagle pulled item f. Contractor Bid for Base Foundation for Three 
Portable Classrooms at Lake Canyon Elementary School for the Consent 
Calendar for later consideration. 
 
Katherine Harper made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar [minus item 
f. Contractor Bid for Base Foundation for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake 
Canyon Elementary School] seconded by Annette Kunze.  
A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 
 

 

  a. Approval of the Agenda Consent 
Calendar 

     
  b. Minutes  
    June 20, 2023 Special Board Meeting 

 June 21, 2023 Regular Board Meeting 
 

     
  c. Payment of Warrants 

 Vendor Warrants: 24428709-24428769; 24427909-24427926; 
24427394-24427420; 23426952-23426987; 23423170-23423263; 
23424609-23424661; 23425602-23425642; 24431193-24431212 

 Payroll Warrants: 6/16/23; 6/30/23; 7/10/23; 7/31/23; 8/10/23 

 

     
  d. Personnel  
    

Resignations/Retirees 
 

Name Position Effective 
Date 

Site 

Arredondo, Rosa Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 6/1/23 Vernon E. Greer 

Duenas, Gabriela Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded 
Learning 

6/26/23 Lake Canyon 

Milligan, Emily Instructional Assistant, Special Education 7/26/23 Lake Canyon 

 



6 
 

Norris, Yvette Instructional Assistant, Special Education 8/1/23 Marengo Ranch 

Porras, Diana Expanded Learning Instructional Assistant 7/25/23 Valley Oaks 

Sandoval, Maria Bilingual Community Outreach Assistant 8/2/23 Fairsite 
Preschool 

Tackett, Andrea Expanded Learning Site Coordinator 8/4/23 Lake Canyon 

Walker, 
Katherine 

Expanded Learning Instructional Assistant 8/9/23 Vernon E. Greer 

 
Leave of Absence Requests 

 

Name Position Effective Date Site 

Coupe, Amber Teacher 8/21/23 Vernon E. Greer 

Curiel, Guadalupe Bilingual Instructional Assistant 8/22/23 River Oaks 

Gomez, Mercedes Bilingual Instructional Assistant 8/16/23 Fairsite Preschool 

 
New Hires/Reclassifications/Status Changes 

 

Name Position Site 

Anaya, Corina (Status Change) Bilingual Community Outreach Asst - Special 
Programs 

Fairsite 
Preschool 

Arce, Clarita Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 Lake Canyon 

Chikwendu, Rose School Nurse District Office 

Escalante, Josefina Bilingual Office Assistant River Oaks 

Gutierrez, Sarai Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite 

Henriquez, Rebecca Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded 
Learning 

Lake Canyon 

Hill, Jessica Music Teacher Vernon E. Greer 

Howard, Jolene Food & Nutrition Assistant 2 Marengo Ranch 

Keoveunxay, Lavonne Licensed Vocational Nurse District Office 

Lopez De Vera, Fabiola (Status 
Change) 

 
Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded 
Learning 

 
River Oaks 

Mendoza, Francisco Groundskeeper Maintenance 

Mock, Sofia Yard Supervisor River Oaks 

Ocampo, Daneille (Status Change) Bilingual Instructional Assistant Valley Oaks  

Oliveira, Bailey Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning River Oaks 

Ordaz, Lilianna (Status Change) Expanded Learning Site Coordinator Lake Canyon 

Pelayo Robles, Gabriela Instructional Assistant, Special Education McCaffrey 
Middle 

Ramirez Gomez, Ma Guadalupe Custodian Lake Canyon 

Reyes, Eddie Teacher Valley Oaks 

Ruiz, Vanessa Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Valley Oaks 

Scherrer, Tianna (Status Change) Instructional Assistant Marengo Ranch 

Siewert, Lacy Teacher Vernon E. Greer 

Vang, Jessica Psychologist River Oaks 

Whitford, Jordan Special Education Teacher Marengo Ranch 
 

     



7 
 

  e. Out-of-State Conference Attendance: Edupoint Synergy Connect 2023 
Conference, November 2-3, 2023, Orlando, Florida, for Gina Fuentes, 
Teacher on Special Assignment and Kristine Baptista, Information Systems 
Technician 

 

     
  f. Contractor Bid for Base Foundation for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake 

Canyon Elementary School 
 

     
  g. 2023-24 Consulting Services Agreement with AR Leadership Partners, LLC  
     
  h. Master Contracts for Nonpublic Schools and Agencies 

1. ATX Learning 
2. CCHAT 
3. Easter Seals 
4. Lodi Children's Therapy 
5. Point Quest Depot Park 
6. The Stepping Stones Group 

 

     
 232.402 Consent Calendar (Continued) – Items Removed for Later Consideration 

 
f. Contractor Bid for Base Foundation for Three Portable Classrooms at Lake 
Canyon Elementary School 
 
Annette Kunze made a motion to approve item f. from the consent calendar, 
seconded by Casey Raboy. The motion was carried by a vote of 3 ayes from 
Casey Raboy, Annette Kunze and Katherine Harper. Wesley Cagle abstained. 

CC 
Items 

Removed 

    
 232.403 Katherine Harper made a motion to approve Student Expulsion Re-admit Case 

No. 21/22-04, seconded by Casey Raboy. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 
 

Student 
Matter 

    
 232.404 Lois Yount provided background information for Alejandra Garibay. She 

indicated that Ms. Garibay was selected to serve as the next Chief Business 
Officer for the GJUESD. 
 
Ms. Garibay addressed the Board. She said she is excited to join the GJUESD 
leadership team and work for the District. 
 
Wesley Cagle made a motion to approve the Galt Joint Union Elementary 
School District Employment Agreement for Chief Business Officer Beginning 
September 1, 2023, and Ending September 1, 2026, seconded by Annette 
Kunze. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 

CBO 
Agreement 

    
 232.405 Annette Kunze made a motion to approve Master Agreement For Architectural 

Services, seconded by Wesley Cagle. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 
Arch Master 

Agreement 

    
 232.406 Katherine Harper made a motion to approve Resolution No. 1 California 

Schools Healthy Air, Plumbing, and Efficiency Program (CalSHAPE) Grant 
Agreement for Robert L. McCaffrey Middle School, Lake Canyon Elementary, 

Res 1 
CalSHAPE 



8 
 

Vernon E. Greer Elementary, River Oaks Elementary and Marengo Ranch 
Elementary, seconded by Casey Raboy. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 

    

 232.407 Lois Yount provided information on the Facility Master Plan (FMP) proposal. 
She indicated that an updated Facility Master Plan is needed to identify 
current and future facility needs and items. 
 
Kim Johnson, Senior Project Manager, and Mariana Alvarez Parga, Principal, 
19six Architects, addressed the Board. They thanked the Board for the 
opportunity to work with the District.  
 
Annette Kunze made a motion to approve 19six Architects' Proposal for Facility 
Master Plan Services, seconded by Katherine Harper. A vote of 4 ayes carried 
the motion. 

FMP 
Services 

    
 232.408 Casey Raboy made a motion to approve the 2023-24 Consolidated Application, 

seconded by Wesley Cagle. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 
ConApp 

    
 232.409 Wesley Cagle made a motion to Increase Adult and Student School Meal Prices 

as follows, seconded by Casey Raboy. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 
 Adult Lunch Adult Breakfast Student Lunch Student Breakfast 
Current Price $4.25 $3.25 $2.50 $1.25 
2023-2024 
School Year 

$4.75 $3.50 $2.75 $1.50 

2024-2025 
School Year 

$4.75 $3.50 $2.75 $1.50 
 

Adult School 
Lunch 

    
 232.410 Nomination to California School Boards Association (CSBA) Directors-at-Large 

African American, American Indian, and County did not carry due to lack of a 
motion. 

CSBA Dir-At-
Large 

    
 232.411 A First Reading of the Following Board Policies (BP), Administrative Regulations 

(AR) and Bylaw (BB) was held: 
Superintendent 

1. BP 1113 - District and School Websites 
AR 1113 - District and School Websites 

2. BP 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units 
3. BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials 

Curriculum 
4. BP 4112.2 – Certification 

AR 4112.2 – Certification 
5. BP 6174 - Education for English Learners 

AR 6174 - Education for English Learners 
Educational Services 

6. BP 5141.5 - Mental Health 
7. BP 5148 - Child Care and Development 

AR 5148 - Child Care and Development 
8. Delete: BP 6146.4 - Differential Graduation and Competency Standards 

for Students with Disabilities  
 

FIRST 
READING 



9 
 

9. BP 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 
Special Education 
AR 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for 
Special Education 

 
Board members addressed an optional paragraph in BB 9322 - 
Agenda/Meeting Materials. The consensus was not to include the following 
optional paragraph in the final version of the bylaw.  
 
[Each agenda shall include a statement regarding the option for students and 
parents/guardians to request that directory information or personal information of the 
student or parent/guardian, as defined in Education Code 49061 and/or 49073.2, be 
excluded from the minutes. The agenda shall also state that the request must be made in 
writing to the secretary or clerk of the Board.] 

    
 232.412 Casey Raboy made a motion to Move the September 20, 2023 Board Meeting 

from the Galt City Hall Chamber to Vernon E. Greer Elementary School Due To 
The City Beginning Its Galt University Meeting Series at the Chamber, 
seconded by Annette Kunze. A vote of 4 ayes carried the motion. 

Location of 
Sept Board 

Meeting 

    
H. Public Comments  
   
I. Pending Agenda Items  
    
 Wesley Cagle thanked the District staff for all their hard work getting ready for the new 

school year. 
 
Annette Kunze highlighted the upcoming fentanyl presentation “Arrive Alive” at 
McCaffrey Middle School on September 12, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. She encouraged everyone 
to attend. 

 

    
J. Adjournment 8:38 p.m.  
    
    

 
 

________________________________________________ 
Casey Raboy, Clerk 

 
 
 

______________________________ 
Date 



Recommend approval of the following:

Resignations/Retirees

Name Position Effective Date Site

Chikwendu, Rose School Nurse 8/31/23 District Office

Escalante, Josefina Bilingual Office Assistant 8/22/23 River Oaks

Gwinn, Kobi Registered Behavior Technician 8/15/23 District Office

Hibbard, Debbie Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 8/21/23 Vernon E. Greer

Mock, Sofia Yard Supervisor 9/29/23 River Oaks

Powers, Elliot Instructional Assistant, Special
Education

8/15/23 River Oaks

Leave of Absence Requests

Name Position Effective Date Site
Blake, Lauren Instructional Assistant, Special

Education
9/5/23 Valley Oaks

Calhoun, Alison Teacher 9/13/23 River Oaks

Chavez, Faviola Instructional Assistant, Bilingual 9/18/23 Valley Oaks

Dawley, Krista Teacher 9/1/23 River Oaks

Dena, Gerardo Custodian 8/25/23 River Oaks

Guillen Madera, Karla Instructional Assistant, Expanded
Learning

8/23/23 Lake Canyon

Harcourt, Kevin Skilled Maintenance Technician 8/7/23 District Office

Ibanez, Sofia Instructional Assistant, Bilingual 9/12/23 Valley Oaks

Reuthinger, Heidi Instructional Assistant 9/19/23 Lake Canyon

Singh, Nisha Yard Supervisor 9/11/23 Lake Canon

New Hires/Reclassifications/Status Changes

Name Position Site

Alvarado, Jonathan Classified Substitute N/A

Cardoza, Fatima-Itzel (Status
Change)

Bilingual Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Valley Oaks

Durham, Jana Classified Substitute N/A

Forbes, Jamie (Status Change) Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 Marengo Ranch

Freeman, LaDonna Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 Valley Oaks

Garcia, Annette Bilingual Community Outreach Assistant McCaffrey Middle

Garibay, Alejandra Chief Business Official District Office

Granados, Diana (Status Change) Bilingual Community Outreach Assistant TBD

Lopez, Elizabeth Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Lake Canyon

Miranda, Amanda Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning River Oaks

GJUESD Board Meeting September 20, 2023



Human Resources
Page 2

Orozco, Anica Instructional Assistant, Special Education Marengo Ranch

Ramirez, Lucerito Instructional Assistant Marengo Ranch

Reeve, James Instructional Assistant River Oaks

Rios de Yepez, Griselda Classified Substitute N/A

Salamy, Justine Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite Preschool

Sandoval Torres, Maria Food & Nutrition Assistant 1 Lake Canyon

Torres, Alexandria Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite Preschool

Villalobos Hinojosa, Valeria Instructional Assistant, Expanded Learning Vernon E. Greer

Villanueva, Marinda Instructional Assistant, Special Education Fairsite Preschool



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Donations 
 

  
 

e. Donations 
 

Lake Canyon 
• Kiwanis and the Galt Lions Club donated a Lowe’s gift card for $800.00 and a 

garden shed valued at $1,059.00 for the Special Education Learning Garden 
 

McCaffrey 
• McCaffrey ASB purchased a HP Color Printer valued at $728.69 and donated it to 

  ASB student organization    



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 

  
 

f. Out-of-State Conference Attendance 
 
 National Association of School Psychologists: Annual Conference 
 

NASP Annual conference will provide participants sessions  on the latest research regarding 
mental health, family supports, academic interventions, assessment and behavioral 
strategies.  Information will be shared with staff and MTSS teams through on site trainings.  
 
Attendee: Erin Mundy-McCook 
 
Conference Dates: February 14- 17, 2024 
 
Location: New Orleans, Louisiana 
 
Approximate Cost: $1134.50 
 
Funding Source:  Half through LEA Collaborative and half through personal teacher 
contribution 

 
 
 



g. CONSENT CALENDAR: 2023-2024 SCHOOL FUNDRAISERS 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 

 August September October November December January February March  April May June 
Fairsite 
Elementary 

           

Lake 
Canyon 
Elementary 

 Muffins in 
the Morning 
Sales and 
Student 
Silent Art 
Auction for 
school-wide 
use 

   Family Bingo 
Night for 
school-wide 
use 

    Color Run 
for school-
wide use 

Marengo 
Ranch 
Elementary 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Jog-A-Thon for 
school-wide 
use 

Cookie Dough 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

   Read-A-
Thon for 
school-wide 
use 

   

River Oaks 
Elementary 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 
 
PTA Coins for 
Classroom 

PTA Color 
Run for 
school-wide 
use 
 
Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Fall Festival Kona Ice Sales 
for school-wide 
use 

PTA Holiday 
Store (no 
profit) 
 
Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

      

Valley Oaks 
Elementary 

 Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-
wide use 
 
Fall Carnival 
for school-
wide use 
 
Popcornopolis
/ Ro-Sham-Bo 
Catalog Sales 
for school-
wide use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-wide 
use 
 
Popcornopolis/ 
Ro-Sham-Bo 
Catalog Sales 
for school-wide 
use 
 
See’s Candy 
Sales for Sly 
Park 6th grade 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-
wide use 
 
Nature’s 
Vision for Sly 
Park 6th grade 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-
wide use 
 
Nature’s 
Vision for Sly 
Park 6th grade 
 
See’s Candy 
for Sly Park 
6th grade 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 
 
Pancake 
Breakfast for 
Sly Park 6th 
grade 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

 

Greer 
Elementary 

 Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-
wide use 
 
Color Run for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 

      



g. CONSENT CALENDAR: 2023-2024 SCHOOL FUNDRAISERS 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 

 August September October November December January February March  April May June 
McCaffrey 
Middle 

99Pledges 
Fundraising 
Platform for 
school-wide 
use 

Mo Mo Gift 
Wrapping 
and 
Popcorn 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 
 
Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 
 
Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing 
King for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-
wide use 
 
Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 
 
99Pledges 
Fundraising 
Platform for 
school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice Sales 
for school-wide 
use 
 
Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-wide 
use 

Kona Ice 
Sales for 
school-wide 
use 
 
Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 

Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 

Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 

Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 

Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing 
King for 
school-wide 
use 

Spirit Wear 
Web Store 
through 
Printing King 
for school-
wide use 

 

 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

ASES MOU 
 

 
 
 

h. 2023-24 After School Education and Safety (ASES) Program Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) Between GJUESD and the City of Galt 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 















 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board Meeting: September 20, 2023 
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Lake Canyon Elementary Portable Classrooms 
 

  
 

i. Bid for site work for three portable classrooms at Lake Canyon Elementary 
 
Estimated Cost: $198,498 
Funding Source: Expanded Learning Funds 



 
 
 
              NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS ~ INFORMAL BID 
 

 
Notice is hereby given by Galt Joint Union Elementary School District (“District”) that it will receive up to, but no later than the Due Date and Time 
stated below, sealed Bids for the Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms – Lake Canyon Elementary. 
 
DISTRICT has elected to become subject to the alternative bidding procedures set forth in the California Uniform Public Construction Cost 
Accounting Act (“CUPCCAA”), Public Contract Code section 22000 et seq., with respect to public projects, as specified in Public Contract Code 
sections 22002(c)-(d) and 22003. This Project is subject to CUPCCAA’s informal bidding procedures per Public Contract Code section 22032(b). 
Accordingly, notice is being given in accordance with the provisions of Public Contract Code section 22037. Further, the contract will be awarded 
and/or the bids rejected in accordance with CUPCCAA. 

 
Project Description 
Three portable classrooms and related ramps have been placed on base rock. Scope of work includes the site improvements to complete the 
installation in and around the classrooms. Improvements include grading, storm drain, concrete walks, paving, curb ramps, and the extension of 
water, and sewer to points of connections at each portable.  Electrical includes the addition of a transformer and extending power to each 
portable.  Low voltage work: data, fire alarm, and intrusion alarm, shall be extended to each portable and the interiors. The school district will 
provide landscaping. To assist with construction, work may include rolling back the existing chain link fence fabric and reinstallation.   

 
Bid Due Date and Time 
4:00 pm on Tuesday, September 5, 2023 at Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, 1018 C Street Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 
 
Bid Documents and Drawings Available 
On the District’s website, Facilities and Planning page: https://www.galt.k12.ca.us/Our-District/Facilities-and-Planning/Informal-Bids/index.html 
 
For Construction Documents Contact 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District Business Department 
1018 C St., Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 
Contact: Alicia Valdovinos, email (avaldovinos@galt.k12.ca.us) or (209) 744-4545 ext. 345 
 
Submittal of Bid 
All Bids shall be submitted on forms furnished by the District. Bids must conform with, and be responsive to, the Bid requirements, which may be 
obtained from the District as set forth above. Only Bids submitted to the District prior to the date and time set forth above shall be considered.  

 
Qualification of Contractors 
In order to submit a Bid, contractors must possess a current and active A or B General Contractor license and be CUPCCAA registered with the 
District by August 31, 2023.  
 
Rejection of Bids 
The District reserves the right to reject any or all bids or to waive any irregularities or informalities in any bids or in the bidding. 
 
DVBE Participation Goal 
The District has established a Disabled Veteran Business Enterprise (DVBE) Participation Goal of 3%. All contractors will be required to submit 
DVBE Worksheets that confirm outreach efforts to meet this goal. 
 
CUPCCAA Bid Advertisement Dates 
CUPCCAA Qualified Contractor List for Category of Work Notification: Wednesday, March 1, 2023 
 
Trade Journal Notification: Construction Bidboard (Ebidboard), Dodge Data & Analytics, Sacramento Regional Builders’ Exchange, Builders’ 
Exchange of San Joaquin  
 
Notification date: Wednesday, March 1, 2023 
 
Mandatory Pre-Bid Walk 
Thursday, August 31, 2023 at 9:30 am, 800 Lake Canyon Avenue, Galt, CA 95632 
 
 

 
END OF NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS 

https://www.bing.com/local?lid=YN873x124777517&amp;id=YN873x124777517&amp;q=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;name=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;cp=38.2525215148926%7e-121.297622680664&amp;ppois=38.2525215148926_-121.297622680664_Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;FORM=SNAPST
https://www.bing.com/local?lid=YN873x124777517&amp;id=YN873x124777517&amp;q=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;name=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;cp=38.2525215148926%7e-121.297622680664&amp;ppois=38.2525215148926_-121.297622680664_Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;FORM=SNAPST
https://www.galt.k12.ca.us/Our-District/Facilities-and-Planning/Informal-Bids/index.html
https://www.bing.com/local?lid=YN873x124777517&amp;id=YN873x124777517&amp;q=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;name=Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;cp=38.2525215148926%7e-121.297622680664&amp;ppois=38.2525215148926_-121.297622680664_Galt%2BUnion%2BSchool%2BDistrict&amp;FORM=SNAPST
mailto:avaldovinos@galt.k12.ca.us


Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Site Work for 3 Portables – Lake Canyon 

Present at Bid Opening: 
Lois Yount, Superintendent 
Alicia Valdovinos, Administrative Assistant/CBO & HR 

 

BID RESULTS 
BID OPENING – Tuesday, September 5, 2023 at 4:15 P.M. 

 

AMOUNT OF BID(S) 

Required Documentation: 

VENDOR 

BID 
PACKAGE 
RECEIVED 

PRESENT 
AT PRE-
BID JOB 
WALK 

BID 
FORM 

BID 
BOND 

DESIGNATION OF 
SUBCONTRACTORS 

NON-
COLLUSION 

DECLARATION 

SIGNED 
DOCUMENT RE: 

WORKERS 
COMPENSATION 

Frontline General Engineering 
Construction, Inx. X X $451,539.00 X X X X X 
Blevins Construction X X $198,498.00 X X X X X 

 



BID FORM 

TO: GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT, acting by and through its Governing 
Board, herein called the “DISTRICT”: 

1. Pursuant to your Notice to Contractors Calling for Bids and the other documents
relating thereto, the undersigned bidder, having become familiarized with the terms of the 
complete contract, as defined in the Agreement, the local conditions affecting the performance of 
the contract and the cost of the work at the place where the work is to be done, hereby proposes 
and agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions of the complete contract and agrees to 
perform, within the time stipulated, the contract, including all of its component parts, and 
everything required to be performed, and to provide and furnish any and all of the labor, 
materials, tools, expendable equipment, and all applicable taxes, utility and transportation 
services necessary to perform the contract and complete in a good workmanlike manner all of the 
work required, including sheeting, shoring and bracing, or equivalent method for protection of 
life and limb in trenches and open excavation in conformance with applicable safety orders, in 
connection with the following: 

 Project: Site Work for Three Portable Classrooms – Lake Canyon Elementary 

 Located at: 800 Lake Canyon Ave, Galt 95632  

all in strict conformity with the complete contract as defined in the Agreement, prepared 
therefore and now on file at the office of: Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, 1018 C 
Street, Ste 210 Galt, CA. 95632 for the sum of: 

Total Bid before Allowances: $ 

Allowance: $ 

Total Base Bid (including Allowance(s)): $ 

Total: 

DOLLARS 

Base bid to include all Work indicated in drawings and narratives.  

198,498.00

198,498.00

One hundred ninety-eight thousand, four hundred ninety-eight 



 
                                                                         

 

GJUESD Board of Education Meeting: September 20, 2023 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Non Public Schools/Agencies Contracts 
 

 
 

j. 2023-24 Master Contracts for Non-Public Schools and Agencies providing 
services to students whose needs cannot be met in the district’s programs. 
Master Contracts No. 1 through 6 were adopted at the August 16, 2023 board 
meeting. 

 
  7. Sierra School “Specialized Education of California” 

  8. Sierra San Joaquin “Specialized Education of California” 

          9. Sunbelt Staffing 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

 

 





















































































































































































































































































Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      September 20, 2023 Agenda Item:  232.413 
Consent Calendar (continued)- Items 
Removed For Later Consideration 
 

Presenter:            Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
 Information Item:  

 
 
The Board will have the opportunity to address any items that are moved from the consent 
calendar. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.414 
Public Hearing Regarding the Sufficiency of 
Instructional Materials and Determination 
through a Resolution Whether Each Student 
has Sufficient Textbooks and Instructional 
Materials Pursuant to Education code 60119 
 

Presenter: Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano Public Hearing: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

EC 60119 specifies that the Board of Education shall hold a public hearing and shall determine 
through a resolution that each pupil, including each English learner, in each school in the district 
has sufficient textbooks or instructional materials or both, in each subject (English/language arts, 
mathematics, history/social science, and science), that are consistent with the content and cycles 
of the curriculum framework adopted by the California State Board of Education. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Notice of Public Hearing, 2023 
 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209‐744 4545 * 209‐744‐4553 fax 

September 5, 2023 

Notice of Public Hearing 
Pupil Textbook and Instructional Materials Incentive Act 

2023-2024 
Please be advised that in accordance with the requirements of Education Code 60119(c), a public 
hearing will be held at the regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Education on Wednesday, 
September 20, at 7:00 p.m. at Vernon E Greer Elementary, 248 W. A Street, Galt, CA, to certify that the 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District has sufficient textbooks or instructional materials, or both, 
in each subject, 
“consistent with the content and cycles of the curriculum framework adopted by the State Board”. 

Any comments or questions regarding this public notice can be directed to the District Superintendent, 
209-744-4545. 

Aviso de Audiencia Pública 
Ley de Incentivos de Libros de Texto del Alumno 

2023-2024 
Por favor tome en cuenta que, de acuerdo a los requisitos del Código de Educación 
60119 (c), se llevará a cabo en la reunión programada regularmente de la junta de la Mesa Directiva programada 
el miércoles, 20 de septiembre 2023, a las 7:00 pm en la Escuela Primaria de Vernon Greer, 248 W Street, Galt, 
CA, para certificar que el Distrito 
Unificado de Escuelas Primarias de Galt tiene suficientes libros de texto o materiales de instrucción, o ambos, en 
cada materia, "en consonancia con el contenido y ciclos de la estructura del plan de estudios aprobado por el 
Consejo del Estado". 

Cualquier comentario o pregunta acerca de este aviso público puede dirigirse al Superintendente del Distrito, 
209-744-4545. 

Posted September 5, 2023 
District Office 
E-mailed to School Sites for Posting (Valley Oaks, Vernon E. Greer, Lake Canyon, River Oaks, Marengo Ranch, 
McCaffrey, Fairsite)

MISSION STATEMENT
The school district’s mission is to promote growth and achievement through innovative educational programs that integrate 

personal strengths, social-emotional and academic learning for all children.

Superintendent: Lois Yount | Chief Business Official: Alejandra Garibay
Curriculum Director: Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano | Educational Services Director: Kuljeet Nijjar
Board of Trustees: Wesley Cagle, Traci Skinner, Casey Raboy, Annette Kunze, Katherine Harper



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.415 
Board Consideration of Approval of 
Resolution No. 2; GJUESD Resolution 
Regarding Sufficiency of Instructional 
Materials 2023-2024 

Presenter: Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

Under EC 60119, the Board of Education shall decide through a resolution as to whether each 
pupil, including each English learner in each school in the district, has sufficient textbooks or 
instructional materials in each subject (English/language arts, mathematics, history/social science, 
and science) that are aligned with the academic content standards and consistent with the cycles 
of the curriculum framework adopted by the California State Board of Education. 
 
The attached resolution will certify that each Galt Joint Union Elementary School District student 
has textbooks and instructional materials consistent with these guidelines. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution 
2. Instructional Materials Inventory Summary 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Resolution Regarding Sufficiency of Instructional Materials 

Resolution # 2 
2023-2024 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, in order to 
comply with the requirements of Education Code Section 60119, held a public hearing on September 20, 
2023 at 7:00 pm, which is on or before the eighth week of school and which did not take place during or 
immediately following school hours, and; 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District provided at least 
10 days’ notice of the public hearing by posting it in at least three public places within the district stating 
the time, place, and purpose of the hearing, and; 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District encouraged 
participation by parents, teachers, members of the community, and bargaining unit leaders in the public 
hearing, and; 

WHEREAS, information provided at the public hearing detailed the extent to which sufficient textbooks 
or instructional materials were provided to all students, including English learners, in the District, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the definition of “sufficient textbooks or instructional materials” means that each student, 
including each English learner, has a standards-aligned textbook or instructional materials, or both, to use 
in class and to take home, which may include materials in a digital format, and; 
 
WHEREAS, textbooks or instructional materials in core curriculum subjects should be aligned with state 
academic content standards adopted by the State Board of Education pursuant to Education Code 60605 
and/or the Common Core Standards adopted pursuant to Education Code 60605.8; 
 
WHEREAS, sufficient standards-aligned textbooks or instructional materials that are consistent with the 
cycles and content of the curriculum frameworks were provided to each student, including each English 
learners in the following subjects: English/Language Arts including the English Language Development 
component of an adopted program, Mathematics, Science, History-social science, and; 
 
THEREFORE, it is resolved that for the 2023-2024 school year, the Galt Joint Union Elementary 
School District has provided each student with sufficient standards-aligned textbooks or instructional 
materials consistent with the curriculum frameworks' cycles and content. 
 
Adopted by the Board of Education of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District at a Regular 
meeting of the Board of Education on September 20, 2023. 
 
Vote: 
Ayes: 
Noes: 
Absent: 
Abstain: 

 __________________________________ 
Wesley Cagle, President 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 



Instructional Summary Inventory 
GJUESD 2023 – 2024 

All students, including each English learner, have been provided with textbooks and/or instructional 
materials in the following subjects: English/Language Arts (including the English Language Development 
component of the program), Mathematics, Science, and History-Social Science. 

Core Discipline   English Language Arts/ English Language Development 

   Benchmark Advance  TK-6 Benchmark Education Co. 

 Steps to Advance  2-6 Benchmark Education Co. 

Benchmark Adelante  TK-6 Benchmark Education Co. 

Amplify  7-8 Amplify Education Inc. 

  Core Discipline   Mathematics 

   Integrated Math  TK Benchmark Education Co. 

 Eureka Math  K-6 Great Minds 

My Math! 
California Math 

K-5 
6th 

 
McGraw-Hill 

College Preparatory Math   7-8 CPM Educational Program 

 Core Discipline  Science  

  NGSS Learning Sequences  TK-8 
GJUESD Learning Progressions 
Scott Foresman 
Benchmark Education Co. 

Core Discipline  History/Social Science 

  California Vistas  TK-6 
MacMillan/ McGraw Hill 
Benchmark Education Co. 

 TCI Units  7 -8 
Teacher’s Curriculum Institute  
Glenco/McGraw-Hill 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.416 
Board Consideration of Approval of FM3 
Research (Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & 
Associates) Proposal to Conduct Public 
Opinion Research 
 

Presenter: Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 

 
Government Financial Strategies JPA has shared with the Board and District administration the 
District’s potential bonding capacity and draft bond measure timeline. The District has sufficient 
bonding capacity to support a possible $26 million bond measure in November 2024.  
 
The District is recommending Board approval to partner with FM3 Research to conduct public 
opinion research regarding a possible November 2024 bond measure. For this project, FM3 
recommends conducting a 15- to 20-minute dual-mode (telephone and online) survey among a 
randomized sample of likely voters within the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District and 
the Galt Joint Union High School District. FM3 will aim to get as many responses as possible, 
with the expectation they will complete 500 interviews.  
 
Staff from GJUESD, Galt High School District and Arcohe Elementary School District have been 
collaborating about the possibility of a joint public opinion survey. This could potentially reduce 
survey costs for each participating District.  
 
Estimated Cost: $31,500-$45,000 (Cost depends on participation of multiple Districts, survey 
length and travel costs for FM3 staff presentations) 
 
Funding Source: General Fund 
 
Attachments: 

1. District’s Bonding Capacity  
2. Draft Bond Measure Timeline 
3. FM3 Proposal to Conduct Public Opinion Research  

 
Board approval is recommended.  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

Galt JUESD-GOB Plan-2023-07-20.xlsx (Bond Cap-New-Chart) 7/20/23 KW Page 7 of 54

$0

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

2020
2021

2022
2023

2024
2025

2026
2027

2028
2029

2030

Bonding Capacity/
Outstanding Bonds

Fiscal Year Beginning July 1

There is Sufficient Bonding Capacity to Support a Possible $26 Million Bond Measure 

New Measure

Measure K

Measure W

Bonding Capacity Changes 
with Assessed Value Changes

Actual Projected

Notes: Local secured assessed value assumed to grow at 3% annually, while all other AV types are assumed to remain unchanged. Bonding capacity is equal to 1.25% 
of total District assessed value and is as of August 20 when AV becomes "equalized."

as of July 1, 2023
$47,425,233 = Bonding Capacity

18,375,000 = Outstanding "K" Bonds
- 2,038,684 = Outstanding "W" Bonds
$27,011,550 =  Remaining Bond Capacity



 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

Galt JUESD-GOB Plan-2023-07-20.xlsx (New-Issuance-Chart)

$13,000,000 $13,000,000 

$0

$3,000,000

$6,000,000

$9,000,000

$12,000,000

$15,000,000

$18,000,000

$21,000,000

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

G.O. Bonds

Fiscal Year Beginning July 1

It is Estimated $26 Million Could Be Issued Over 3 Years, Netting Approx. $25 Million For Projects

Notes: Interest rates based on the "AAA" credit Municipal Market Data (MMD) scale as of July 20, 2023 adjusted for credit and volatility. Credit adjustment based on S&P "A+" rating of 2021 GO 
bonds. Volatility adjusted based on historical volatility at 90% or greater. Historical volatility based on Bond Buyer 20-Bond Index over estimated timeframe to issuance, beginning January 1, 1984 to 
May 25, 2023. Net local secured AV assumed to grow 3% annually, while all other AV types are assumed to remain unchanged. Other costs are budgeted to include financial advisor, bond counsel, 
credit rating agency, and other misc. upfront costs.

Spring 2025 Spring 2027

Bond Proceeds Analysis Using Conservative Assumptions (Nov 2024 Election)

 Series 2025  Series 2027 Total
Bond Issuance Amount $13,000,000 $13,000,000 $26,000,000

Premium $0 $0 $0
Underwriter's Discount ($165,000) ($165,000) ($330,000)

Bond Insurance ($90,000) ($80,000) ($170,000)
Other Costs ($175,000) ($175,000) ($350,000)

Interest & Sinking Fund Deposit $0 ($200,000) ($200,000)
Cash for Projects $12,570,000 $12,380,000 $24,950,000

7/20/23 KW Page 5 of 54



 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

DRAFT Bond Measure Timeline for November 5, 2024 Primary Election

DRAFT GJUESD-Timeline Nov 2024-7-24-2023.xlsx (Gantt Chart) 7/24/23 KW Page 1 of 1

Jul 
2023

Aug 2023

Sep 2
023

Oct 
2023

Nov 2
023

Dec
 2

023

Jan
 2

024

Fe
b 2024

M
ar

 2
024

Apr 2
024

M
ay

 2
024

Jun
 2024

Jul 
2024

Aug 2024

Sep 2
024

Oct 
2024

Nov 2
024

Potential Election Day (11/5/2024)

Statutory deadline to provide bond measure to County (8/9/2024)

Board action - Resolution calling election

Board information - first read of election documents

Board information - facilities master plan review / bond project list

Community engagement and public information efforts

Board information - survey results and communication

Public opinion research survey

Board information - Looking ahead

Task Description

Date

Nov '24

Jan '24

Mar '24

May '24

Sep '23 - Dec '23 (4 months)

Feb - Oct '24 (9 months)

Apr '24

Aug '24

Sep '23



 
 

Proposal to Conduct Public Opinion 
Research and Outreach on a Potential 

2024 Bond Measure 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 

  

 

August 14, 2023 921-6840 
 



 

Page i 

August 14, 2023 

Dear Ms. Yount: 

Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & Associates (FM3 Research or FM3) and TeamCivX are pleased to present this 
proposal to conduct public opinion research and outreach regarding a potential 2024 bond measure for the Galt 
Joint Union Elementary School District. We believe our team is an excellent choice to provide these research 
services for several reasons detailed in our proposal, including: 

•  FM3 is a leading provider of accurate public opinion research for local California K-12 school and community 
college districts considering revenue-enhancing ballot measures. During our 42-year history, our research 
has helped secure voter approval for more than $89 billion in general obligation bond funding for California's 
K-12 and community college districts. In 2022 alone FM3’s research contributed to the passage of bond 
measures for 13 school and community college districts across the state, adding up to a total of $11.8 billion 
in funding to provide necessary upgrades and services. 

• The partners at TeamCivX have helped develop over 100 successful bond measures for California school 
districts that have generated billions of dollars to improve public schools for millions of students. We are the 
go-to consultants when it comes to passing K-12 bond measures in all of California. 

• Our team has worked in Sacramento County on numerous occasions, and we are familiar with the voters 
there. Most recently, in 2022 FM3’s research contributed to the passage of a general-purpose sales tax 
measure, Measure Q, in the City of Galt. Additionally, FM3’s research has contributed to successful bond 
measures in San Juan USD, Natomas USD, and River-Delta JUSD. 

• Currently, FM3 is working with C.A.S.H. and C.B.I.A. to conduct polling on a $14 billion statewide K-
12/community college measure for the November 2024 election. This work provides us with a deep 
understanding of the work to be done not only statewide, but also in local communities hoping to gain 
additional funding through the passage of a bond measure. 

• We have a strong commitment to personalized, hands-on client service. As a medium-sized research firm, 
FM3 provides its clients with a level of personal attention and service from our senior staff that is more often 
associated with much smaller organizations, while concurrently offering the wide range of services, adherence 
to expedited timelines, and rigorous quality control expected from larger research firms. FM3 partner Dr. 
Richard Bernard will be the project manager for FM3’s work on this project, and he is never more than a phone 
call away. Similarly, TeamCivX’s seasoned partners and well-trained staff have both the knowledge and the 
capacity to serve your needs throughout the bond process. Joy Kummer is one of TeamCivX’s founding 
partners and will personally lead your project as TeamCivX’s primary point of contact. 

We appreciate the opportunity to be considered for this important project. If you have any questions about the 
contents of this proposal, please do not hesitate to reach out—contact information is available on page 18. 

Sincerely, 

   

Dr. Richard Bernard, FM3 Partner  Joy Kummer, TeamCivX Partner 



 

Page ii 

 

CONTENTS 
1 FIRM BACKGROUNDS AND EXPERIENCE .......................................................................................................................1 

2 REFERENCES ...........................................................................................................................................................6 

3 PROPOSED APPROACH .............................................................................................................................................7 

3.1 Public Opinion Polling (FM3 Research) ......................................................................................................7 

3.2 Public Outreach and Education (TeamCivX) ............................................................................................ 11 

4 ESTIMATED COSTS ................................................................................................................................................ 14 

4.1 Public Opinion Polling (FM3 Research) ................................................................................................... 14 

4.2 Public Outreach and Education (TeamCivX) ............................................................................................ 14 

5 STAFF BIOS ......................................................................................................................................................... 15 

6 CONTACT INFORMATION ....................................................................................................................................... 18 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 
FIGURE 1: FM3’S SUCCESSFUL ELEMENTARY/JOINT ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCHOOL DISTRICT BOND MEASURES ..................... 3 
FIGURE 2: RESEARCH SPECS AT A GLANCE ........................................................................................................................... 7 
FIGURE 3: SURVEY RESEARCH TIMELINE ............................................................................................................................ 10 
FIGURE 4: ESTIMATED SURVEY COSTS .............................................................................................................................. 14 
FIGURE 5: FM3’S SUCCESSFUL K-12 SCHOOL BOND MEASURES ......................................................................................... 20 
FIGURE 6: TEAMCIVX PARTNERS’ K-12 BOND MEASURES SINCE 2018 ................................................................................. 25 
 



 

 Page 1 

1 FIRM BACKGROUNDS AND EXPERIENCE 

FM3 Research 
Fairbank, Maslin, Maullin, Metz & Associates (FM3 Research or FM3) has been 
conducting public policy-oriented opinion research since 1981 on issues of 
major economic and social concern. As a California-based company, we are a 
medium-sized research firm with 22 full-time employees working out of our 
Oakland and Los Angeles offices. The research FM3 conducts goes far beyond 
simply documenting the knowledge, views, and behaviors of various 
populations. Rather, our work produces actionable data that provides a 
strategic roadmap for policy makers and informs community outreach and 
communication efforts. 

Each of the research projects we do is led by one of our six 
partners, all of whom are nationally respected authorities on 
public opinion research. As our client, you will have direct 
access to not only the partner working on your project, but 
also several other key staff members with advanced degrees 
in public policy, research methods, and/or extensive 
experience working in state and local government.  

While our firm is not so big that you will wonder whom to call 
with your questions, we are big enough to have our own in-
house data analysis/processing team and graphic design 
resources. This means we can provide our clients with a level 
of personal attention and service from firm partners and other 
senior staff more often associated with much smaller 
organizations, while also providing rapid project turnaround 
and more sophisticated data analysis and presentations 
tailored to client needs that one might expect from larger 
firms. 

Experience Conducting Research on School Bond Funding  
Our research has helped secure voter approval for more than $59 billion in general obligation bond funding for K-
12 school districts. The depth and diversity of FM3’s experience with California’s local school districts represents 
an added value for the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District. One such benefit is our firm’s ability to provide, 
throughout the election cycle, an awareness of which educational messages and communications strategies prove 
to be effective in other California school districts.  

In 2022 alone, FM3 helped raise $11.8 billion in capital funding for 13 school and community college districts 
across the state. This includes work we did to help the Los Angeles Community College District pass a $5.3 billion 

FM3 offers a hands-on approach  
in which one of our partners  

is involved in the research  
every step of the way. 

Even once the research is complete,  
an FM3 partner is only a phone  

call away, happy to provide  
additional consultation at  

no additional charge. 



 

 Page 2 

bond, the largest ever passed by any community college district in the country. Additionally, we are proud to have 
worked on successful bond measure campaigns in the following districts in 2022: Forestville USD, Little Lake City 
SD, Long Beach USD, Oakland USD, Pleasanton USD, Ravenswood CSD, Rialto USD, San Diego USD, Santa Rita 
USD, Selma USD, Twin Rivers USD, Wiseburn USD, Cerritos CCD, and College of the Sequoias CCD. 

In addition to testing core concepts such as bond measure viability, voters’ tax tolerance, optimal election timing, 
and voters’ sense of a District’s financial needs, our bond measure research works to achieve four key objectives: 

• Quantitatively test voters’ sense of urgency and priority for dozens of potential projects and expenditures, 
and then works collaboratively with District legal counsel to draft a 75-word ballot label that meets legal 
requirements while emphasizing as many of your voters’ top priorities as possible.   

• Assess the relative efficacy of a range of non-advocacy, public education statements to identify which themes 
and information will resonate most with voters in the context of public outreach efforts.  

• Test the impact of finance measure opponents’ potential criticisms to provide the District a quantitative 
assessment of which opposition arguments may be most damaging to a bond measure’s standing among the 
electorate.   

• Learn which sources voters use to get information about the District, and which public figures and 
organizations would prove the most credible as messengers about the District’s bond measure. 

Furthermore, FM3 has a thorough understanding of the unique needs and opportunities confronting 
elementary school districts/joint elementary and middle school districts seeking voter approval for a local 
revenue measure. Since 1997, our research and strategic consulting services have given rise to 26 successful local 
school bond measures for elementary/joint elementary and middle school districts throughout the state, totaling 
more than $1.9 billion (see Figure 1 on the next page). For a list of all successful school bond measures FM3 has 
worked on in the past, please see APPENDIX A. 

Statewide Education Funding Experience 
FM3’s experience with public opinion research for local school funding issues has also helped secure voter 
approval for seven statewide school bonds that have provided more than $34 billion in capital improvement funds 
for California’s local schools and community colleges. We have also served as the lead research firm for the 
Coalition for Adequate School Housing (C.A.S.H.) for more than a decade. One particularly noteworthy project we 
worked on with C.A.S.H., as well as the California Building Industry Association (C.B.I.A.) and others, was the 
successful statewide effort to pass Proposition 51, a $9 billion statewide K-12 and community college bond, in the 
November 2016 Presidential Election.  

Currently, we are working with C.A.S.H. and C.B.I.A. to conduct polling on a $14 billion statewide K-12/community 
college measure for the November 2024 election. Being on the ballot at the same time as a statewide measure is 
beneficial for local school bond measures because it is a time when the state is actively communicating with 
constituents about the needs of school districts and the importance of funding educational institutions. 

 



 

 Page 3 

Figure 1: FM3’s Successful Elementary/Joint Elementary and Middle School District Bond Measures 

Agency Measure Total Authorization Election 
Santa Rita Union School District Measure R $24.9 million November 2022 
Forestville Union School District Measure D $6.5 million November 2022 
Wiseburn Unified School District Measure EE $98 million November 2022 

Little Lake City School District Measure LL $36 million June 2022 
Ravenswood City School District Measure I $110 million June 2022 

Del Mar Union School District Proposition MM $186 million November 2018 
Grass Valley School District Measure D $18.8 million June 2018 

Ravenswood City School District Measure S $70 million June 2018 
Bakersfield City School District Measure N $110 million November 2016 

Etiwanda School District Measure I $137 million November 2016 
Mountain View School District Measure SS $57 million November 2016 

Ontario-Montclair School District Measure K $150 million November 2016 
Ravenswood City School District Measure H $26 million June 2016 

Mountain View School District SFID-2 Measure W $171 million April 2015 
Central School District Measure N $35 million November 2014 

Evergreen School District Measure M $100 million November 2014 
Rosemead School District Measure RS $30 million November 2014 

Merced City School District Measure M $60 million June 2014 
Spreckles Union School District Measure B $7 million November 2012 

Helendale School District Measure X $20 million November 2008 
Victor Elementary School District Measure E $150 million November 2008 

Westminster School District Measure O $130 million November 2008 
Alisal Union School District Measure A $90 million November 2006 

Perris Elementary School District Measure S $25 million November 2006 
Chula Vista Elementary School District Proposition JJ $95 million November 1998 

South Bay Union School District Proposition B $8.5 million March 1997 
 

  



 

 Page 4 

Regional Experience  
FM3 has extensive experience in Sacramento County, as well, meaning we are familiar with voters in the area. We 
have provided both countywide research and conducted surveys and focus groups in individual cities on 
community satisfaction, ballot measures, candidates running for office, and on local policy issues.  

Our experience in the region includes a voter survey exploring cannabis issues conducted earlier this year for the 
City of Galt. Previously, we conducted two voter surveys for the City to examine the feasibility of a local revenue 
measure—which ultimately contributed to the passage of Measure Q, a general-purpose sales tax measure, in 
November 2022. We also conducted research in Galt that contributed to the passage of a dedicated public safety 
sales tax (which had a two-thirds approval threshold) in 2008.  

Other past regional clients have included Sacramento County; the Consumnes Community Services District; 
school districts including the San Juan Unified School District, Natomas Unified School District, and River-Delta 
Joint Unified School District; the Sacramento County Flood Control Agency (SAFCA); and the cities of 
Sacramento, Citrus Heights, Folsom, and Rancho Cordova. 

Experience Conducting Research Among Latino Voters 
FM3 provides some of the highest quality English/Spanish bilingual research available—we conduct hundreds of 
surveys and dozens of focus groups in Spanish every year. Given that the population of likely November 2024 
voters in the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District is 30% Latino, any research conducted among the 
District’s voters must be both linguistically inclusive and culturally sensitive to produce accurate results. We have 
long-standing relationships both with trusted translators and with call centers that employ regular, full-time 
multilingual interview staff who have the strongest fluency in both English and Spanish, ensuring that our 
materials resonate in both languages to capture the best data possible.  

A partial listing of California school districts with large Latino populations where FM3’s research contributed to 
the passage of local school bond measures includes:  

Bakersfield City SD 
Caruthers USD 
Central UHSD 

Coalinga-Huron JUSD 
Compton USD 

Chula Vista ESD 
Downey USD 

El Monte UHSD 
Firebaugh-Las Deltas USD 

Fontana USD 
Fowler USD 
Fresno USD 

Golden Plains USD 
Kern HSD 

Los Angeles USD 
Los Banos USD 
Madera USD 

Mountain View SD 
Montebello USD 

Norwalk-La Mirada USD 

Paramount USD  
Perris ESD 

Salinas UHSD 
Sanger USD 

Santa Ana USD 
Sweetwater UHSD 

  



 

 Page 5 

Team CivX 
TeamCivX is a California-based company providing hands-on election strategy and 
communications for public agencies. We help develop revenue measures for the ballot 
to meet your funding needs. Our areas of expertise include:  

• Creating and implementing informational communication strategies for public 
agencies. 

• Running privately funded political campaigns to win voter approval for taxes, 
bonds, and other public funding as well as affordable housing and other needed 
developments.  

• Helping qualified candidates who reflect our values make their case to the electorate. 

Throughout our work with various agencies, we have helped generate billions of dollars in revenue for quality 
public services, programs, facilities, and infrastructure in communities throughout California and the nation. 

Relevant Experience  
The partners and consultants at TeamCivX have worked with school districts on public finance ballot measures for 
over 20 years. While TeamCivX is a new business venture for us, we are a team of seasoned professionals with 

decades of experience helping school districts and other public 
agencies navigate the ballot measure process to achieve locally 
controlled funding. We are strategy and communications 
consultants with unmatched experience evaluating the 
feasibility of local funding measures, designing measures for the 
ballot that align with community priorities and implementing 
informational communication efforts to raise awareness of your 
needs and a potential ballot measure.  

Our services dovetail seamlessly with your other advisors, 
including the financial advisors, legal counsel, public opinion 
pollster, architects and construction experts needed to develop 
a strong bond proposal. We are respected in our industry as 
good “team players” who pay attention to the nuances of every 

community where we work to develop the customized strategies needed to meet our client’s needs. 

We have extensive experience helping school districts and other public agencies craft effective public 
informational materials that don’t cross the line into advocacy. This information plan includes gathering 
information back from stakeholders and the community to gauge their understanding of local school needs. Our 
team will work closely with district officials to develop a specific communication plan. 

The five partners of TeamCivX have worked on numerous bond campaigns since 2018. During that time, we have 
been proud to maintain a win rate of 73%, including during the March 2020 election which saw only 36% of school 
measures pass statewide, the lowest rate in recent memory. See APPENDIX A for a list of all the bond measures 
TeamCivX partners have worked on since 2018.  

 

For a full list of past clients 
TeamCivX has assisted  
with successful ballot  
measure campaigns,  

please visit our website: 
 

www.teamcivx.com/#clients 



 

 Page 6 

2 REFERENCES 

FM3 Research 

   

TeamCivX 

     

  

 
Lorenzo Hines Jr.,  

City Manager 
City of Galt 

(209) 366-7100 
lhines@cityofgalt.org 

 

 

 

Joshua M. Green,  
CPRP General Manager/ 
Chief Executive Officer  

Cosumnes Community Services 
District 

(916) 405-7150 
joshuagreen@yourcsd.com 

 

 

 
 

Kathy Wright,  
Superintendent 

River Delta Unified School 
District 

(707) 374-1711 
kwright@rdusd.org 

 

 

 

Roxane Fuentes, 
Superintendent  

Berryessa Union Elementary 
School District 
(408) 923-1815 

rfuentes@busd.net 

 

 

 

Alisa Greene MacAvoy,  
Board Member  

Redwood City School District 
(650) 888-5933 

alisamacavoy@yahoo.com 

 

 

 

Allan J. Mucerino,  
Superintendent 

Alvord Unified School District 
(951) 509-5000 

superintendent@ 
alvordschools.org 

 

 



 

 Page 7 

3 PROPOSED APPROACH 

3.1 Public Opinion Polling (FM3 Research) 

Research Specifications 
For this project, FM3 recommends conducting a 15- to 
20-minute dual-mode (telephone and online) survey 
among a randomized sample of likely voters within the 
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District and the 
Galt Joint Union High School District. Because these are 
modestly sized districts, with approximately 21,400 
voters likely to cast a ballot in the November 2024 
election in the high school district and approximately 
16,300 registered voters in the elementary school 
district. FM3 will aim to get as many responses as 
possible, with the expectation that we will complete 
500 interviews; 400 will be in the high school district 
which on the natural will provide 300 interviews in the 
elementary school district, as well as representative 
samples of other elementary school districts within the 
high school district’s boundaries. We will also conduct 
an additional 100 interviews just in the elementary 
school district to reach a 400 sample in that geography. 

We will work to achieve a higher number than this, and 
if successful, the additional interviews will be at no 
additional charge to the District. If we are not able to 
reach 500 interviews, we will prorate our costs.1 

The margin of error (at the 95% confidence level) for 
each sample of 400 is ±4.9%. This means that, in 95 out 
of 100 cases, the outcome on Election Day will be 
within ±4.9% of what our survey data suggests it will 
be. Because we are using a random sample that reflects 
the demographics of the population of voters who are 
likely to vote in the November 2024 election, this type 
of survey research simulates the election itself, and 

                                                           
1 For context, early this year, we conducted a voter survey for the City of Galt and were able to obtain a random sample of 
361 interviews. Since both school districts have a larger geographic footprint than the City, however, we believe we can obtain 
the proposed 400 sample in each of the Districts. 

 

Methodology 
Dual-mode survey using a 
combination of telephone 
and online interviews 

Respondent 
Contact 
Method 

Telephone calls, email 
invitations, and text 
invitations 

Population & 
Sample 

500 likely November 2024 
voters within Galt JUHSD 
and GJUESD 

400 in Galt JUHSD with a 
subset of 300 in Galt 
JUESD 
An additional 100 in Galt 
JUESD 

Margin of 
Sampling 
Error* 

±4.9% for each sample of 
400 

*At the 95% confidence 
level (i.e., in 95 out of 100 
cases) 

Questionnaire 15-20 minutes 

 

Telephone interviews will 
b  d d i  li h 

   
   
    

  

 

Figure 2: Research Specs at a Glance 



 

 Page 8 

therefore will provide sufficient insight into the viability of a potential measure. 

Given the size of the District’s Latino population (approximately 30% of likely November 2024 voters), we 
recommend conducting telephone interviews in both English and Spanish. To maintain the best cost efficiency, 
online interviews will be conducted in English only. 

To achieve the proposed sample, we recommend utilizing three different contact methods (telephone calls, 
emails, and text messages) to provide an array of ways for potential respondents to participate in the survey. 
Providing multiple forms of contact also helps us engage historically disadvantaged communities that may not 
have adequate broadband access and/or access to computers or smart phones. Additionally, different 
demographic groups often have varying communication preferences—some may be more likely to answer a 
phone call than open an email or text message, and vice versa. 

Finally, FM3 would be happy to provide a link to the survey the District can post online once the survey is 
complete so that additional community members have the opportunity to have their voices heard, even if they 
were not part of our random sample. The data gathered from this portion of the survey will not be included in our 
statistical analysis but will provide the District with additional information it can use however it sees fit. 

As an option, we also recommend conducting a 10-minute tracking survey prior to the District’s deliberations as 
to whether to place a measure on the ballot. 

Description of Methodology 
The research process will begin with an initial kickoff meeting between FM3 and your project team. This meeting 
will provide an opportunity for an extensive review of relevant background information and context, as well as a 
detailed discussion of your objectives for the project.   

In designing a survey questionnaire for the District, FM3 will draw from its knowledge of public opinion survey 
methodology; our comprehensive review of the District’s past survey research (including tracking past questions 
when appropriate); your current and future objectives and needs; and our own vast library of research on school 
bond measures. We will proceed through several drafts, incorporating feedback from your team before each 
revision, to develop a research instrument that will successfully obtain all the desired information. 

Among other questions, the survey will likely test: 

• Basic awareness of the Districts; 
• Attitudes about its job performance and need for additional funding; 
• The viability of a bond measure in each District based on a hypothetical 75-word title and summary; 
• Relative support at different bond amounts/tax rates; 
• The prioritization of various uses of potential bond funds; 
• Informational messages that could help voters understand the value of the bond measure; and  
• The vulnerability to common opposition themes. 

FM3 will then construct a sample by pulling a random list of voters from the voter file. Based upon the final sample 
specifications, FM3 will set a target number of interviews to be completed online. We will then send out email 
invitations to everyone with a valid email address. Within several days of the initial invitation distribution, we will 



 

 Page 9 

examine the demographic and geographic characteristics of the online completes and then begin conducting 
telephone interviews to balance out the sample and target underrepresented subgroups. Additionally, we will 
send out a number of text invitations to help reach the overall target number of online completes and complement 
the other contact methods. 

Once the survey is complete, FM3 will generate a detailed report of the survey results in a PowerPoint 
presentation, including demographic breakouts and summaries of key findings. These results are typically 
presented in draft format to the client team and then further refined based upon feedback from that group. A 
version of this presentation will also be developed in a format suitable for FM3 to present in a public forum. 

Deliverables 
Upon conclusion of the survey project, the District will have received from FM3 each of the documents listed 
below. All documents can be provided in hard copy or electronic form (or both), depending on your preference. 

 Final survey questionnaire 
 PowerPoint presentation (including key findings, results, conclusions, and actionable recommendations)  
 Presentations of results to staff, board members, or other stakeholders (in person if desired)2 

Finally, after FM3’s final deliverables have been completed, we will remain available to answer follow-up 
questions and to present results to additional key stakeholders. We view the responses to the survey as an ongoing 
data resource; if needed, FM3 can conduct further analysis to provide answers to any follow-up questions that 
may arise. 

 

                                                           
2 If the District would like Richard or Lucia to attend an in-person meeting, any costs associated with travel will be billed at 
cost. Richard’s travel from Los Angeles will cost approximately $750-$1000 per trip; Lucia’s travel from Oakland will cost 
approximately $100-$150 per trip.  



 

 Page 10 

Figure 3: Survey Research Timeline 

  



 

 Page 11 

3.2 Public Outreach and Education (TeamCivX) 
Our recommended approach is outlined below, listed sequentially as we work towards placing a bond measure 
on the ballot. We’ve indicated rough timing for each phase to give you a sense of how this process might unfold 
over the next few months. To maintain flexibility, we’ve included timing for both the March 2024 and November 
2024 elections. Dates in blue indicate a March 2024 Primary Election timeline; dates in yellow indicate a November 
2024 General Election timeline. 

Phase 1, Feasibility Assessment: Now – September 2023 
To start this process, we’ll help ensure you are asking the right strategic questions: 

• Does a bond proposal stand a reasonable chance of achieving the 55% passage threshold? 
• What bond amount and tax rates fit within the tolerances of your community? 
• What projects and facility improvements are the top priorities for your voters? 
• Are there controversial projects that should be avoided? 
• Does sufficient awareness of your facility needs exist or is additional informational outreach needed? 
• What is the right time to go to the ballot? The next election? A future election? 
• How does projected voter turnout in upcoming elections impact a bond proposal? 
• What other competing measures or issues are on the horizon that could impact your measure? 
• How does the economy and political environment impact your measure? 

To help answer these questions, TeamCivX will conduct a thorough assessment of the local political landscape, 
analyze recent election results and work with FM3 to design a statistically reliable opinion survey of your local 
voters. With these questions answered, we will provide you with specific recommendations on how to structure 
a measure, when to go to the ballot and communication strategies that are needed to support your efforts. If a 
bond measure does not appear to be viable at the current time, we will tell you that. We are on your team and 
our interests are aligned. 

Our specific scope for this phase of work includes: 

• Developing potential strategies to meet your funding needs to be tested in polling 
• Collaborating with FM3, financial advisor, bond counsel and facilities experts to design, conduct and analyze 

an opinion survey of voters 
• Conducting a demographic analysis of voters in your district and analyze how they break into key sub-groups 

by age, ethnicity, political party, length of residency, parents and other key criteria 
• Analyzing past election results in your district and region to understand voter turnout trends and other 

relevant voting patterns 
• Researching other local tax proposals and issues that may be heading to an upcoming ballot that could 

compete with your ballot measure 
• Making specific recommendations regarding the optimal election date, bond amount, tax rate, tax structure, 

project priorities and other important ballot measure features 

 



 

 Page 12 

If a bond measure does appear viable and we receive direction from the Board to proceed with preparing a 
measure for the ballot, we will proceed to the steps outlined below. 

Phase 2, Awareness Building:  September – October 2023 or September 2023 – May 2024 
Our next step is to develop and implement an informational communications plan to raise awareness of your 
facility and funding needs, while also introducing your proposed measure and providing opportunities for 
community input. While school districts and public agencies are legally prohibited from advocating for the passage 
of a bond, you can educate and inform your community about your needs and plans. 

To build community awareness, TeamCivX will work with the District to implement an informational 
communications effort that will include the following components: 

• Developing informational messaging and fact sheets to be distributed at school and community functions 
• Providing talking points, frequently asked questions and a message training for district officials who will be 

interfacing with the public on this issue 
• Providing content related to your funding needs and proposed measure to be added to your website, used in 

social media and included in email updates and newsletters 
• Preparing PowerPoint presentations for public and community meetings 
• Writing, designing and producing mailings and advertising to inform local residents  
• Developing strategies and plans to inform internal stakeholder groups, including teachers, principals, parent 

leaders, employee associations and others 
• Developing strategies and plans to inform external groups including elected leaders, business leaders, city 

leaders, ethnic community leaders, faith community leaders, taxpayer groups and others 

We will write all copy, handle the graphic design, coordinate print and mailing, and handle any ad buys as needed. 
We will just need you to review content and designs and make sure the information is accurate and has the right 
feel for your community. We will also need to coordinate with those who manage your various social media 
accounts.  

Phase 3, Measure Development: November – December 2023 or May – August 2024 
Based on the results of the feasibility assessment and community input received during the awareness building 
efforts, we will help you develop your measure for the ballot so that it is closely aligned with the community’s 
priorities and sensitivities. We will work with your financial advisor, bond counsel and other experts to accomplish 
this work, including: 

• Recommending a final bond amount, tax rate and other specifics 
• Refining the final project list to reflect community priorities and to ensure projects are described in clear 

language the general public will understand 
• Working with bond counsel to develop the 75-word ballot question 
• Working with bond counsel to develop and refine all language that will appear in the ballot pamphlet mailed 

to all voters 
• Presenting recommendations, documents and resolutions to the Board for approval 
• Working with local elections officials to ensure your measure qualifies for the ballot* 



 

 Page 13 

With these steps complete, your measure will be on the ballot. Since school districts cannot advocate for ballot 
measures, an independent campaign committee will need to be formed to run an advocacy campaign in support 
of the measure. TeamCivX provides campaign consulting services to independent campaign committees, but those 
services are not part of this proposal since the campaign must be led by an independent group. 

*The deadline to qualify for the March 2024 ballot is December 8, 2023. The deadline to qualify for the November 
2024 ballot is August 9, 2024. 

  



 

 Page 14 

4 ESTIMATED COSTS 

4.1 Public Opinion Polling (FM3 Research) 
Figure 1 contains the total estimated costs for this research. These prices are comprehensive and include all costs 
for questionnaire design, sample acquisition and preparation, translation, programming, survey invitations, survey 
hosting, bilingual telephone interviewing, data entry and analysis, and reporting.   

Figure 4: Estimated Survey Costs 

Survey Length 500 Interviews 

10 minutes 
tracking survey $31,500 

15 minutes 
baseline survey $37,500 

20 minutes 
baseline survey $41,500 

As previously indicated, any researcher travel associated with presenting results in person will be billed at cost. 

4.2 Public Outreach and Education (TeamCivX) 
As is the standard in our industry, TeamCivX contracts on a monthly fee basis during the period of our engagement. 
For a district the size of Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, our monthly consulting fee is $7,000. 
Standard reimbursable business expenses for travel will be billed along with fees and partial months of service 
will be prorated.  

We also recommend a budget for printing and production of informational materials. The cost to print and mail 
an informational brochure to the estimated 10,000 Galt Joint Union Elementary School District parents and voters 
is approximately $10,050 per mailing, assuming nonprofit bulk postage rates. We also often deploy informational 
mailers with pre-addressed reply cards to solicit voter and parent feedback—those are priced at roughly $11,800 
per mailing. (The exact cost varies based on the exact specifications and quantity, as well as postage.) Most school 
districts send two to three mailings during the bond planning process. 

Finally, we often recommend supplementing direct mail communications with coordinated digital content. Digital 
pricing varies based on the size, scope and duration of the program and is priced separately. 

  



 

 Page 15 

5 STAFF BIOS 

Dr. Richard Bernard, FM3 Partner 
Dr. Richard Bernard is one of California’s foremost public opinion researchers on issues 
related to public agencies, their services, and the funding they need to provide those 
services. He provides strategic advice for a diverse set of clients including counties, cities, 
special districts, K-12 and community college districts, nonprofits, businesses, and labor 
unions.  

Richard is no stranger to the City of Galt and surrounding areas—he has conducted three surveys in Galt since 
2022, two of which contributed to the recent successful City sales tax measure. He has also conducted two surveys 
in 2021 and 2022 for the City of Elk Grove, in conjunction with the Cosumnes Community Services District. His 
research helped inform the successful 2022 sales tax measure which helps fund local parks and fire services in the 
Services District. He has also conducted research among voters in the City of Folsom and among residents in the 
City of Citrus Heights on recycling issues. 

Richard’s research has also contributed directly to the success of local parcel tax and bond measures for many 
California K-12 school and community college districts, including: 

Anaheim UHSD 

Arcadia USD 

Central UHSD 

Fontana USD 

Hacienda-La Puente USD 

Los Angeles USD 

Nevada Joint UHSD 

Norwalk-La Mirada USD 

River Delta USD 

San Diego USD 

Santa Monica-Malibu USD 

Tahoe-Truckee USD 

Citrus CCD 

Wiseburn USD 

Coast CCD  

Los Angeles CCD 

Mt. San Jacinto CCD 

North Orange County CCD 

He is currently or has provided strategic consulting, branding and/or marketing for Riverside Unified School 
District, Long Beach Unified School District, and Sweetwater Union High School District. 

Richard joined the firm after being on the faculty at the University of Toronto from 1999 to 2002. While at the 
University of Toronto, Richard taught research methods and statistics and within his research dealt frequently 
with issues related to cities, employment, and social and income inequality residents experienced as a result of 
gender, age, ethnicity/race, and citizenship. He has published in such journals as East Asian Pacific Migration 
Journal, International Migration Review, and the Canadian Journal of Sociology. Prior to joining the faculty at 
University of Toronto, Dr. Bernard was a Sloan Foundation post-doctoral fellow at the National Opinion Research 
Center (NORC) based at The University of Chicago, where he both designed and tested quantitative and qualitative 
research related to family, work, and educational issues. 

Education: Richard earned a B.A. at York University, an M.A. at McGill University, and a Ph.D. at UCLA in Sociology.  



 

 Page 16 

Lucia Del Puppo, FM3 Senior Vice President 
Since joining FM3 in 2015, a primary focus of Lucia’s research has been on policies 
supporting children and families. She has provided research on public attitudes toward 
investing in early childhood education and youth programs in communities throughout 
California and the West Coast; public opinion on food policy and nutrition issues such as 
sugar-sweetened beverages, food insecurity and access to benefits, and school meals; 
and support for anti-tobacco policies.   

Lucia has conducted research informing an array of education finance measures in diverse school districts across 
California, including: 

Barstow USD 

Firebaugh Las Deltas USD 

Grass Valley USD 

Livermore Valley Joint USD 

Lodi USD 

Natomas USD 

Oakland USD 

Ontario-Montclair USD 

Ravenswood CSD 

River Delta USD 

San Juan USD 

Tahoe Truckee USD 

She also provided research for El Paso Independent School District’s largest-ever school bond, in addition to 
research for successful measures in the Chabot-Las Positas Community College District and Foothill De Anza 
Community College District. Additionally, Lucia has conducted extensive work on public attitudes towards and 
messaging on early childhood education in California, public perceptions of childcare issues, voters’ willingness to 
publicly fund childcare, and public support for cradle-to-career programs supporting at-risk youth in Oakland.  

In 2022 Lucia conducted research for California Prop 31, upholding the statewide flavored tobacco ban; she 
provided research for school districts across the state of California, most notably helping Oakland Unified School 
District pass a $120 parcel tax, and helped communities statewide pass local revenue measures. Lucia’s research 
contributed to the success of local and statewide candidacies, including Congressman Kevin Mullin, San Jose 
Mayor Matt Mahan, and State Senator Catherine Blakespear.  

Lucia’s prior experience includes providing policy research for the San Francisco Human Services Agency and the 
San Francisco Planning Department, as well as working as a systems and management consultant for federal 
agencies at Accenture.  

Education: Lucia received a Master of Public Policy degree from the Goldman School of Public Policy at UC Berkeley 
and a Bachelor of Science degree in decision science from Carnegie Mellon University.  

  



 

 Page 17 

Joy Kummer, TeamCivX Partner 
Joy is proud to be a Founding Partner of TeamCivX and she will serve as the Strategic 
Lead for Galt Joint Union Elementary School District’s bond efforts. She will play the 
leading role in guiding the overall strategic vision and approach, designing a measure for 
the ballot that has the greatest likelihood of success, ensuring all communications strike 
the right tone and message for your community and managing the entire process from 
feasibility to Board action placing a measure on the ballot.  

Joy brings over 25 years of political, legal and community service experience to each of her clients and causes. 
Over the past several years, Joy has been successful in helping public agencies in all regions of California develop 
local public finance measures for the ballot and achieve voter support—raising billions of dollars for counties, 
cities, schools, hospitals, community colleges, special districts, and other much-needed community projects. 

Part of Joy’s success is in the relationships she builds with her clients, focusing on their specific needs and working 
together to build a communication and community plan that allows them to reach their goals. She is known for 
her can-do attitude, friendly smile, and willingness to listen and collaborate as a team to find the right solution. 

Joy grew up in Montana, where she received her J.D. from the University of Montana School of Law and a B.A. in 
Communications from Montana State University–Billings. Prior to co-founding TeamCivX, Joy was a partner at her 
prior consulting firm, served as Regional Field Director for U.S. Senator Max Baucus (D-MT) and as Field Director 
for the successful 49ers Stadium Campaign in Santa Clara, CA.  

Joy and her husband Todd live in Oakland where they enjoy cheering on the Cal Bears and Golden State Warriors. 
Joy is a proud mother and grandmother, occasional yoga instructor, slow and steady distance runner, roller 
coaster enthusiast and gluten-free baker.  

Josef Topete, TeamCivX Consultant 

Over the past two years, Josef has collaborated with Joy and other TeamCivX partners in 
offering strategic insight to public agencies on revenue measures. Josef will serve as the 
Project Manager for the bond effort, coordinating all deliverables, timelines, and 
deadlines; executing communications plans; and ensuring that all aspects of the project 
are completed accurately, on-time and with precision. Josef recently moved home to be 
closer to family in Los Angeles after spending many years living in San Francisco. 

Born and raised in Los Angeles, Josef graduated from the University of Southern California with a bachelor’s degree 
in public policy and a master’s degree in public administration. 

Josef brings a wealth of experience in the political and government sectors, having worked for elected officials, 
government agencies and campaigns at all levels. His extensive background has provided him with a deep 
understanding of the intricacies of politics and government. He takes pleasure in delving into the nuances, 
translating complex policies into easily understandable communication. Leveraging his strong communication 
skills and policy expertise, Josef has played a pivotal role in driving success for school districts, cities, counties, and 
government agencies throughout California on Election Day.   



 

 Page 18 

6 CONTACT INFORMATION 

Thank you for taking the time to review our proposal. Please feel free to contact us with any questions you may 
have. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Richard Bernard, Partner 
FM3 Research 

Bernard@FM3Research.com 
(310) 428-1809 

  
  
 Joy Kummer, Partner 

TeamCivX 
Jkummer@teamcivx.com 

(510) 914-0028 

mailto:Bernard@FM3Research.com
mailto:Jkummer@teamcivx.com
mailto:Jkummer@teamcivx.com


 

 Page 19 

 

APPENDIX A  
Successful Education Bond Measures 

 

  



 

 Page 20 

FM3 RESEARCH 

Figure 5: FM3’s Successful K-12 School Bond Measures 

District Measure Amount Elec�on 
Twin Rivers USD Measure J $120 million bond November 2022 
Twin Rivers USD Measure K $150 million bond November 2022 
Pleasanton USD Measure I $395 million bond November 2022 
Wiseburn USD Measure EE $98 million bond November 2022 

Santa Rita UESD Measure R $24.9 million bond November 2022 
Forestville UESD Measure D $6.5 million bond November 2022 
Long Beach USD Measure Q $1.7 billion bond November 2022 
San Diego USD Measure U $3.2 billion bond November 2022 

Rialto USD Measure A $340 million bond November 2022 
Litle Lake CSD Measure LL $36 million bond June 2022 

Ravenswood CSD Measure I $110 million bond June 2022 
Roosevelt ESD (Arizona) Ques�on 1 $6.9 million override November 2021 
Roosevelt ESD (Arizona) Ques�on 2 $5.1 million override November 2021 

Phoenix UHSD (Arizona) Ques�on 1 $28.5 million 
override November 2021 

Phoenix UHSD (Arizona) Ques�on 2 $15.3 million 
override November 2021 

Clovis USD Measure A $335 million bond November 2020 
Manteca USD Measure A $260 million bond November 2020 
Whi�er USD Measure AA $183.5 million bond November 2020 
Basset USD Measure BB $50 million bond November 2020 
Duarte USD Measure S $79 million bond November 2020 
Sanger USD Measure C $150 million bond November 2020 

Inglewood USD Measure I $240 million bond November 2020 
River Delta Joint USD Measure J $45.7 million bond November 2020 
River Delta Joint USD Measure K $14.6 million bond November 2020 

Pasadena USD Measure O $516.3 million bond November 2020 
Oakland USD Measure Y $735 million bond November 2020 

Milwaukee Public Schools 
(Wisconsin) - $87 million override April 2020 

Eureka CSD Measure T $18 million bond March 2020 
San Mateo UHSD Measure L $385 million bond March 2020 

Fresno USD Measure M $325 million bond March 2020 
Sanger USD Measure B $70 million bond November 2018 
Placer UHSD Measure D $40.3 million bond November 2018 
Placer UHSD Measure G $42.1 million bond November 2018 

El Monte UHSD Measure HS $190 million bond November 2018 
Natomas USD Measure L $172 million bond November 2018 
Del Mar USD Measure MM $186 million bond November 2018 

South Monterey County 
JUHSD Measure Q $20 million bond November 2018 



 

 Page 21 

District Measure Amount Elec�on 
South Monterey County 

JUHSD Measure R $20 million bond November 2018 

Vallejo City USD Measure S $194 million bond November 2018 
Hemet USD Measure X $150 million bond November 2018 

San Diego USD Measure YY $3.5 billion bond November 2018 
Tahoe-Truckee USD Measure AA $148/parcel tax November 2018 

Evergreen SD Measure EE $125/parcel tax November 2018 
Ravenswood CSD Measure S $70 million bond June 2018 
Grass Valley SD Measure D $18.8 million bond June 2018 

Ravenswood CSD Measure S $70 million bond June 2018 
Ravenswood CSD Measure Q $196/parcel tax June 2018 

Manhatan Beach USD Measure MB $225/parcel tax June 2018 
Phoenix UHSD (Arizona) Ques�on 1 $269 million bond November 2017 
Phoenix UHSD (Arizona) Ques�on 2 $25 million override November 2017 

Westside Community 
Schools (Nebraska) - $8.75 million 

override 
September 

2017 
Arcadia USD Measure A $288/parcel tax March 2017 

Paramount USD Measure I $106 million bond November 2016 
Ontario-Montclair SD Measure K $150 million bond November 2016 

Firebaugh-Las Deltas USD Measure H $15 million bond November 2016 
Sanger USD Measure A $60 million bond November 2016 

San Juan USD Measure P $750 million bond November 2016 
Alhambra USD Measure AE $110 million bond November 2016 
Alhambra USD Measure HS $149 million bond November 2016 

Long Beach USD Measure E $1.5 billion bond November 2016 
Kern HSD Measure K $280 million bond November 2016 

Mountain View ESD Measure SS $57 million bond November 2016 
Bakersfield CSD Measure N $110 million bond November 2016 
Caruthers USD Measure V $6 million bond November 2016 

Lodi USD Measure U $281 million bond November 2016 
Santa Barbara USD 

Elementary SFID Measure J2016 $58 million bond November 2016 

Santa Barbara USD Measure I2016 $135 million bond November 2016 
Barstow USD Measure F $39 million bond November 2016 

Hacienda La Puente USD Measure BB $148 million bond November 2016 
El Paso ISD (Texas) - $668.7 million bond November 2016 

E�wanda SD Measure I $137 million bond November 2016 
Red Bluff Joint UHSD Measure J $26 million bond November 2016 

Chino Valley USD Measure G $750 million bond November 2016 
Nevada Joint UHSD Measure B $47 million bond November 2016 

Fresno USD Measure X $225 million bond November 2016 
Central UHSD Measure K $30 million bond June 2016 

Livermore Joint USD Measure J $245 million bond June 2016 
Montebello USD Measure GS $300 million bond June 2016 
Ravenswood CSD Measure H $26 million bond June 2016 



 

 Page 22 

District Measure Amount Elec�on 

Phoenix UHSD (Arizona) Ques�on 1 $15.3 million 
override November 2015 

Douglas County School 
District No. 66 (Nebraska) - $79.9 million bond May 2015 

Mountain View SFID #2 Measure W $171 million bond April 2015 
Downey USD Measure O $248 million bond November 2014 

Norwalk La Mirada USD Measure G $375 million bond November 2014 
Rosemead SD Measure RS $30 million bond November 2014 
Natomas USD Measure J $129 million bond November 2014 

Anaheim UHSD Measure H $249 million bond November 2014 
Tahoe-Truckee SFID #1 Measure U $114 million bond November 2014 
Tahoe-Truckee SFID #2 Measure E $62 million bond November 2014 

Carpinteria USD Measure 
U2014 $90 million bond November 2014 

Central SD Measure N $35 million bond November 2014 
Manteca USD Measure G $159 million bond November 2014 
Evergreen SD Measure M $100 million bond November 2014 

Madison ESD (Arizona) No. 38 $95 million bond November 2014 
Eureka CUSD Measure S $49.75 million bond November 2014 

Golden Plaines USD Measure G $13 million bond November 2014 
Evergreen SD Measure H $100/parcel tax June 2014 
Merced CSD Measure M $60 million bond June 2014 

Caruthers USD Measure M $12 million bond November 2012 
Chaffey Joint UHSD Measure P $848 million bond November 2012 
Kings Canyon USD Measure K $40 million bond November 2012 

Perris UHSD Measure T $153.42 million 
bond November 2012 

San Bernardino USD Measure N $250 million bond November 2012 
San Diego USD Proposi�on Z $2.8 billion bond November 2012 

San Dieguito UHSD Proposi�on AA $449 million bond November 2012 
Sanger USD Measure S $50 million bond November 2012 

Santa Paula USD Measure M Reorganiza�on November 2012 
Spreckels USD Measure B $7 million bond November 2012 
St. Helena USD Measure C $30 million bond November 2012 

Clovis USD Measure A $298 million bond June 2012 
Arcadia USD Measure A $228/parcel tax March 2012 

San Francisco USD Proposi�on A $531 million bond November 2011 
Tahoe-Truckee USD Measure A $135/parcel tax March 2011 

Duarte USD Measure E $62 million bond November 2010 
Fresno USD Measure Q $280 million bond November 2010 

San Marcos USD Measure K $287 million bond November 2010 
Sonoma Valley USD Measure H $40 million bond November 2010 

Coalinga-Huron Joint USD Measure E $16.1 million bond November 2010 
Milpitas USD Measure B $84/parcel tax June 2010 

Beaumont USD Measure Z $125 million bond November 2008 



 

 Page 23 

District Measure Amount Elec�on 
Ceres USD Measure U $60 million bond November 2008 
Colton USD Measure G $225 million bond November 2008 

Evergreen SD Measure T $90/parcel tax November 2008 
Franklin-McKinley SD Measure U $72/parcel tax November 2008 

Helendale SD Measure X $20 million bond November 2008 
Long Beach USD Measure K $1.2 billion bond November 2008 
Los Angeles USD Measure Q $7 billion bond November 2008 

Manhatan Beach USD Measure BB $67.48 million bond November 2008 
San Diego USD Proposi�on S $2.1 billion bond November 2008 

Victor ESD Measure E $150 million bond November 2008 
Victor Valley UHSD Measure V $500 million bond November 2008 

Westminster SD Measure O $130 million bond November 2008 
Hayward USD Measure I $205 million bond June 2008 

East Side UHSD Measure E $349 million bond February 2008 
Los Banos USD Measure K $44 million bond February 2008 

Walnut USD Measure S $64.6 million bond November 2007 
Walnut USD Measure Y $15.2 million bond November 2007 
Alisal USD Measure A $90 million bond November 2006 

Arcadia USD Measure I $218 million bond November 2006 
Corona-Norco USD Measure U $250 million bond November 2006 

Madera USD Measure U $32.5 million bond November 2006 
Paramount USD Measure AA $100 million bond November 2006 

Perris ESD Measure S $25 million bond November 2006 
San Jacinto USD Measure V $150 million bond November 2006 

Sweetwater UHSD Proposi�on O $644 million bond November 2006 
Fontana USD Measure C $275 million bond June 2006 

Grant Joint UHSD Measure G $230 million bond June 2006 
Los Angeles USD Measure Y $3.985 billion bond November 2005 
Alum Rock UESD Measure R $100/parcel tax November 2004 

Hanford Joint UHSD Measure K $196 million bond November 2004 
Fowler USD Measure L $21 million bond November 2004 
Albany USD Measure A $13 million bond November 2004 
Clovis USD Measure A $168 million bond March 2004 

Saddleback Valley USD Measure B $180 million bond March 2004 
San Bernardino City USD Measure T $140 million bond March 2004 
Hun�ngton Beach UHSD Measure C $238 million bond March 2004 

Los Angeles USD Measure R $3.87 billion bond March 2004 
Compton USD Measure I $80 million bond November 2002 

Healdsburg USD  Measure G  $3.9 million bond November 2002 
Healdsburg USD  Measure H $18.8 million bond November 2002 
Los Angeles USD Measure K $3.3 billion bond November 2002 

Norwalk La Mirada USD Measure S $165 million bond November 2002 
Salinas UHSD Measure M $37 million bond November 2002 

Fairfield-Suisun USD Measure C $100 million bond March 2002 
Hemet USD Measure E $60 million bond March 2002 



 

 Page 24 

District Measure Amount Elec�on 
Placen�a Yorba Linda USD Measure Y $102 million bond March 2002 

Salinas UHSD Measure F $52 million bond March 2002 
Vista USD Measure O $140 million bond March 2002 

West Contra Costa USD Measure D $300 million bond March 2002 
Modesto CSD Measure T $65 million bond November 2001 
Modesto CSD Measure S $17 million bond November 2001 

Santa Monica-Malibu USD Measure Y $98/parcel tax November 2000 
Capistrano USD Measure A $85 million bond November 1999 
Santa Ana USD Measure C $145 million bond November 1999 
Chula Vista ESD Proposi�on JJ $95 million bond November 1998 

Conejo Valley USD Measure R $88 million bond November 1998 

San Diego USD Proposi�on 
MM $1.5 billion bond November 1998 

Dodge City USD (Kansas) Ques�on 443 $45.5 million bond May 1998 
Corona-Norco USD Measure C $65 million bond April 1998 

Elk Grove USD Measure A $205 million bond March 1998 
Burbank USD Measure B-97 $112 million bond April 1997 

Los Angeles USD Proposi�on BB $2.4 billion bond April 1997 
South Bay USD Proposi�on B $8.5 million bond March 1997 
Culver City USD Measure T $40 million bond November 1996 
Jefferson UHSD Measure G $30 million bond November 1995 

Scots Valley USD Measure H $22.7 million bond November 1994 
Fresno USD Measure A $215 million bond March 1995 

Berkeley USD Measure B Parcel tax November 1994 
Oakland USD Measure C $170 million bond November 1994 

Santa Monica-Malibu USD Measure K $68/parcel tax November 1994 
Berkeley USD Measure A $158 million bond November 1992 

Palm Springs USD Measure P $70 million bond November 1992 
Washoe County USD 

(Nevada) Proposi�on ES $75 million bond November 1990 

Miami-Dade County Public 
Schools (Florida) - $980 million bond November 1988 

Santa Monica-Malibu USD Measure TT $58/parcel tax November 1988 
 

  



 

 Page 25 

TEAMCIVX 

Figure 6: TeamCivX Partners’ K-12 Bond Measures Since 2018 

• Alvord Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $248 million, 56.5%, Pass 
• Campbell Elementary School District, November 8, 2022, $96 million, 69.1%, Pass 
• Downey Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $504 million, 58.0%, Pass 
• Eastside School District, November 8, 2022, $23 million, 64.3%, Pass 
• Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $249 million, 55.0%, Pass 
• Las Virgenes Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $340 million, 64.2%, Pass 
• Long Beach Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $1.7 billion, 60.7%, Pass 
• Martinez Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $90 million, 52.6%, Fail 
• Modesto High School District, November 8, 2022, $198 million, 56.4%, Pass 
• Pasadena Community College District, November 8, 2022, $565 million, 70.6%, Pass 
• Redwood City School District, November 8, 2022, $298 million, 60.4%, Pass 
• Santa Monica Community College District, November 8, 2022, $375 million, 57.7%, Pass 
• Santa Rosa Elementary School District, November 8, 2022, $125 million, 71.6%, Pass 
• Santa Rosa High School District, November 8, 2022, $398 million, 66.7%, Pass 
• Sequoia Union High School District, November 8, 2022, $591 million, 63.0%, Pass 
• South San Francisco Unified School District, November 8, 2022, $436 million, 63.6%, Pass 
• Walnut Creek School District, November 8, 2022, $134 million, 62.7%, Pass 
• Alameda Unified School District, June 7, 2022, $298 million, 56.3%, Pass 
• Hillsborough School District, June 7, 2022, $140 million, 61.4%, Pass 
• Mill Valley School District, June 7, 2022, $194 million, 68.4%, Pass 
• Millbrae School District, June 7, 2022, $90 million, 53.6%, Fail 
• San Rafael Elementary School District, June 7, 2022, $152 million, 67.0%, Pass 
• San Rafael High School District, June 7, 2022, $216 million, 67.8%, Pass 
• Clovis Unified School District, November 3, 2020, $335 million, 60.3%, Pass 
• Dublin Unified School District, November 3, 2020, $290 million, 57.8%, Pass 
• La Mesa-Spring Valley School District, November 3, 2020, $136 million, 63.3%, Pass 
• Manteca Unified School District, November 3, 2020, $260 million, 57.7%, Pass  
• Monterey Peninsula Community College District, November 3, 2020, $230 million, 62.6%, Pass 
• Romoland School District, November 3, 2020, $39 million, 53.6%, Fail 
• San Mateo-Foster City School District, November 3, 2020, $409 million, 64.1%, Pass 
• Berryessa Union School District, March 3, 2020, $98 million, 58.3%, Pass 
• Brea Olinda Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $123 million, 46.0%, Fail 
• Burlingame School District, March 3, 2020, $97 million, 60.2%, Pass 
• Capistrano Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $300 million, 45.8%, Fail 
• Capistrano Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $120 million, 44.2 %, Fail 
• Clovis Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $408 million, 49.6%, Fail 
• El Dorado Union High School District, March 3, 2020, $120 million, 38.6%, Fail 
• Jurupa Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $192 million, 46.0%, Fail 
• Manteca Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $260 million, 50.4%, Fail 



 

 Page 26 

• Merced Community College District, March 3, 2020, $247 million, 47.0%, Fail 
• Moorpark Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $96 million, 45.6%, Fail 
• Mountain View-Whisman School District, March 3, 2020, $259 million, 69.5%, Pass 
• Pleasanton Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $323 million, 52.4%, Fail 
• Poway Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $448 million, 50.4%, Fail 
• Rancho Santiago Community College District, March 3, 2020, $496 million, 51.8%, Fail 
• Riverside Community College District, March 3, 2020, $715 million, 46.6%, Fail 
• Saddleback Valley Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $495 million, 37.5%, Fail 
• San Marino Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $200 million, 41.2%, Fail 
• San Mateo Union High School District, March 3, 2020, $385 million, 57.5%, Pass  
• Ukiah Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $75 million, 55.2%, Pass 
• Val Verde Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $192 million, 61.6%, Pass 
• Victor Elementary School District, March 3, 2020, $48 million, 49.9%, Fail 
• Washington Unified School District, March 3, 2020, $46 million, 53.7%, Pass 
• Amador County Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $78 million, 52.4%, Fail 
• Baldwin Park Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $69 million, 78.9%, Pass 
• Bonsall Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $38 million, 42.5%, Fail  
• Carlsbad Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $265 million, 62.5%, Pass 
• Chaffey Community College District, November 6, 2018, $700 million, 59.0%, Pass 
• Davis Joint Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $150.9 million, 74.5%, Pass 
• Hayward Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $381.7 million, 72.9%, Pass 
• Los Alamitos Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $97 million, 58.7%, Pass 
• Lowell Joint Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $48 million, 63.6%, Pass 
• Madera Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $120 million, 63.5%, Pass 
• Malibu School Facility Improvement District, November 6, 2018, $195 million, 71.0%, Pass 
• Milpitas Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $284 million, 71.4%, Pass 
• Modesto City Elementary School District, November 6, 2018, $74 million, 72.4%, Pass 
• Modesto City Elementary School District, November 6, 2018, $57 million, 69.6%, Pass  
• Mt. Diablo Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $150 million, 70.3%, Pass 
• Orinda Union School District, $50 million, November 6, 2018, 69.9%, Pass 
• Orinda Union School District, $55 million, November 6, 2018, 66.4%, Pass 
• Palo Alto Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $460 million, 69.4%, Pass 
• Paradise Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $61 million, 61.4%, Pass  
• Perris Union High School District, November 6, 2018, $148 million, 55.4%, Pass  
• Placer Union High School District, November 6, 2018, $42.1 million, 60.7%, Pass  
• Placer Union High School District, November 6, 2018, $40.3 million, 56.1%, Pass 
• San Bernardino Community College District, November 6, 2018, $470 million, 63.0%, Pass 
• Santa Ana Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $232 million, 70.7%, Pass 
• Santa Monica-Malibu Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $485 million, 72.1%, Pass  
• Vista Unified School District, November 6, 2018, $247 million, 64.2%, Pass 
• Cabrillo Unified School District, June 5, 2018, $99 million, 55.1%, Pass  
• Lompoc Unified School District, June 5, 2018, $79 million, 50.9%, Fail 
• Monterey Peninsula Unified School District, June 5, 2018, $213 million, 70.2%, Pass 



 

 Page 27 

• Mountain View-Los Altos High School District, June 5, 2018, $295 million, 68.0%, Pass 
• Pacifica School District, $55 million, June 5, 2018, 62.6%, Pass 

 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.417 
Board Consideration of Approval of 
Resolution No. 3; Authorized Signatories for 
the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

Effective September 21, 2023, Board approval is recommended for the following authorized 
signatories for financial and contractual obligations of the District: 
 

1. Lois Yount, Superintendent 
2. Alejandra Garibay, Chief Business Officer 
3. Brenda Bachmann, Fiscal Services Supervisor 

 
 Fiscal Impact: none 

 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



GALT JOINT UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION #3 
 

Authorized Signatories for the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 

 
BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED by the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union 
Elementary School District, that Lois Yount, Alejandra Garibay, and Brenda Bachmann, 
employees of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School District, whose signatures are appended to 
this Resolution, shall be hereby authorized and empowered to sign orders for the legally 
authorized expenses of the District on the funds of the Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District; effective September 21, 2023; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED AND ORDERED that all such orders shall be on forms 
prescribed by the Sacramento County Superintendent of Schools; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all previous Resolutions made by the Galt Joint Union 
Elementary School District Board of Education, authorizing employees of said District to sign 
orders for the legally authorized expenses of the District, are hereby rescinded. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we, the members of the Governing Board of the Galt Joint Union 
Elementary School District of Sacramento County, California, hereunto set our hands this 20th 
day of  September 2023. 
 
Signatures of Authorized Employees 
 
_____________________       ________________________      ____________________ 
Lois Yount           Alejandra Garibay                        Brenda Bachmann   
District Superintendent            Chief Business Officer                 Fiscal Services Supervisor             
             
  
AYES: 

NOES:        

ABSTAIN:       

ABSENT:            

        

 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 Casey Raboy, Clerk 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.418 
Board Consideration of Approval of Side 
Letter of Agreement Between GJUESD and 
the Galt Elementary Faculty Association 
(GEFA) Regarding Acceleration Blocks for 
the 2023-24 School Year 
 

Presenter: Lois Yount Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

The District and GEFA have a Side Letter of Agreement for the 2023-24 school year for a model 
of small group targeted instruction after school. Bargaining unit members shall be paid an 
hourly rate of $80.  
 
Specifics are outlined in the attached Side Letter of Agreement.  
 
Funding source: Learning Loss Funds  

 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 









 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.419 
Board Consideration of Approval of GJUESD 
Actuarial Study of Retiree Health Liabilities 
Under GASB 74/75 For Fiscal Year-End June 
30, 2023 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

The District's most recent actuarial study was conducted in September 2022. Under the 
Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB) 74/75 framework, the actuarial study full evaluation 
is conducted every two years. Therefore, the forthcoming report is a continuation of the previous 
year's full valuation, presenting comparable data. 
 
Accounting principles provide that the cost of retiree benefits should be “accrued” over 
employees’ working lifetime. For this reason, GASB issued in June of 2015 Accounting Standards 
74 and 75 for retiree health benefits. These standards apply to all public employers that pay any 
part of the cost of retiree health benefits for current or future retirees. 

 
This actuarial study provided by Total Compensation Systems for Galt Joint Union Elementary 
School District is to determine the liabilities associated with its current retiree health program as 
of June 30, 2023. 

 
Facts regarding the District’s retiree health benefits: 
• Our benefits are “capped,” meaning that we provide a defined dollar amount to 

our employees/retirees to pay for benefits. 
• Our benefits have a limited eligibility period. 
• As of 1992, GJUESD limited “lifetime” health benefits. We no longer have 

active employees that are eligible for this benefit. 
• We invite the participation of a retiree representative on the District Heath Benefits 

Committee to monitor and assist in our approach to health care benefits. 
• Our “pay as you go” for this year is budgeted at $176,479. 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Actuarial Study of 

Retiree Health Liabilities Under GASB 74/75 

Roll-forward Valuation 

Valuation Date: June 30, 2022 

Measurement Date: June 30, 2023 

For Fiscal Year-End: June 30, 2023 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 

 

Date: July 10, 2023 

 

 

 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

PART I: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................ 1 

A.  INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................................................ 1 
B.  KEY RESULTS .............................................................................................................................................................................. 1 
C.  SUMMARY OF GASB 75 ACCOUNTING RESULTS ........................................................................................................................ 2 

1.  Changes in Net OPEB Liability.............................................................................................................................................. 2 
2.  Deferred Inflows and Outflows .............................................................................................................................................. 3 
3.  OPEB Expense ........................................................................................................................................................................ 3 
4.  Adjustments ............................................................................................................................................................................. 3 
5.  Trend and Interest Rate Sensitivities ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

D.  DESCRIPTION OF RETIREE BENEFITS ........................................................................................................................................... 4 
E.  SUMMARY OF VALUATION DATA ................................................................................................................................................ 4 
F.  CERTIFICATION ............................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

PART II:  LIABILITIES AND COSTS FOR RETIREE BENEFITS ..................................................... 7 

A.  INTRODUCTION. ........................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
B.  LIABILITY FOR RETIREE BENEFITS. ............................................................................................................................................. 7 
C.  ACTUARIAL ACCRUAL ................................................................................................................................................................. 8 
D.  ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 
E.  TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY ............................................................................................................................................................. 9 
F.  VALUATION RESULTS ................................................................................................................................................................ 10 

1.  Actuarial Present Value of Projected Benefit Payments (APVPBP) .................................................................................. 10 
2.  Service Cost .......................................................................................................................................................................... 10 
3.  Total OPEB Liability and Net OPEB Liability .................................................................................................................... 11 
4. “Pay As You Go" Projection of Retiree Benefit Payments ................................................................................................... 11 

G.  ADDITIONAL RECONCILIATION OF GASB 75 RESULTS ............................................................................................................ 12 
H.  PROCEDURES FOR FUTURE VALUATIONS .................................................................................................................................. 13 

PART III:  ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS .............................................................. 14 

A.  ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS: .............................................................................................................. 14 
B.  ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS: ............................................................................................................................................... 15 
C.  NON-ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS: ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

PART IV:  APPENDICES ........................................................................................................................... 17 

APPENDIX A:  DEMOGRAPHIC DATA BY AGE .................................................................................................................... 17 
APPENDIX B:  ADMINISTRATIVE BEST PRACTICES ......................................................................................................... 18 
APPENDIX C:  GASB 74/75 ACCOUNTING ENTRIES AND DISCLOSURES ..................................................................... 19 
APPENDIX D:  DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES .................. 23 
APPENDIX E:  GLOSSARY OF RETIREE HEALTH VALUATION TERMS ........................................................................ 26 

 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

1 

 Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Actuarial Study of Retiree Health Liabilities 

PART I: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

A.  Introduction 

 

 This report was produced by Total Compensation Systems, Inc. for Galt Joint Union Elementary School 

District to determine the liabilities associated with its current retiree health program as of a June 30, 2023 

measurement date and to provide the necessary information to determine accounting entries for the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2023. This report may not be suitable for other purposes such as determining employer contributions 

or assessing the potential impact of changes in plan design. 

 

 Different users of this report will likely be interested in different sections of information contained within. 

We anticipate that the following portions may be of most interest depending on the reader: 

 

➢ A high level comparison of key results from the current year to the prior year is shown on this page. 

➢ The values we anticipate will be disclosed in the June 30, 2023 year-end financials are shown on 

pages 2 and 3. 

➢ Additional accounting information is shown on page 12 and Appendices C and D. 

➢ Description and details of measured valuation liabilities can be found beginning on page 10. 

➢ Guidance regarding the next actuarial valuation for the June 30, 2024 measurement date is provided 

on page 13. 

B.  Key Results 

 

 Galt Joint Union ESD uses an Actuarial Measurement Date that is the same as its Fiscal Year-End. This 

means that these actuarial results measured as of June 30, 2023 will be used directly for the June 30, 2023 Fiscal 

Year-End. 

 

Key Results Current Year 
June 30, 2023 Measurement Date 

for June 30, 2023 Fiscal Year-End 

Prior Year 
June 30, 2022 Measurement Date 

for June 30, 2022 Fiscal Year-End 

Total OPEB Liability (TOL) $5,553,064 $5,312,891 

Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) $0 $0 

Net OPEB Liability (NOL) 

 

$5,553,064 $5,312,891 

Service Cost (for year following) $271,400 $269,646 

Estimated Pay-as-you-go Cost (for year following) $176,479 $169,250 

GASB 75 OPEB Expense (for year ending) $388,653 $375,502 

  

 Refer to results section beginning on page 10 or the glossary on page 26 for descriptions of the above items. 
 

Key Assumptions Current Year 
June 30, 2023 Measurement Date 

for June 30, 2023 Fiscal Year-End 

Prior Year 
June 30, 2022 Measurement Date 

for June 30, 2022 Fiscal Year-End 

Valuation Interest Rate 3.65% 3.54% 

Expected Rate of Return on Assets N/A N/A 

Long-Term Medical Trend Rate 4.00% 4.00% 

Projected Payroll Growth 2.75% 2.75% 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

2 

The following table shows the “pay as you go” projection of annual payments for the employer share of 

retiree health costs. Although actual payments are certain to vary from those shown below, these projections can be 

useful for planning purposes. See page 11 for amounts below broken out by employee classification, if applicable. 

 

Year Beginning 

July 1 

Projected Benefit 

Payments 

2022 $169,250 

2023 $176,479 

2024 $180,297 

2025 $205,415 

2026 $234,941 

2027 $279,752 

2028 $330,696 

2029 $452,172 

2030 $462,655 

2031 $517,631 

 

C.  Summary of GASB 75 Accounting Results 

 

1.  Changes in Net OPEB Liability 

 

The following table shows the reconciliation of the June 30, 2022 Net OPEB Liability (NOL) in the prior 

valuation to the June 30, 2023 NOL. A more detailed version of this table can be found on page 12. 
 

 TOL FNP NOL 

Balance at June 30, 2022 Measurement Date $5,312,891 $0 $5,312,891 

Service Cost $269,646 $0 $269,646 

Interest on TOL / Return on FNP $189,853 $0 $189,853 

Employer Contributions $0 $169,250 ($169,250) 

Benefit Payments ($169,250) ($169,250) $0 

Administrative Expenses $0 $0 $0 

Experience (Gains)/Losses $0 $0 $0 

Changes in Assumptions ($50,076) $0 ($50,076) 

Other $0 $0 $0 

Net Change $240,173 $0 $240,173 

Actual Balance at June 30, 2023 Measurement Date $5,553,064 $0 $5,553,064 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

3 

2.  Deferred Inflows and Outflows 

 

 Changes in the NOL arising from certain sources are recognized on a deferred basis. The following tables 

show the balance of each deferral item as of the measurement date and the scheduled future recognition. A 

reconciliation of these balances can be found on page 12 while the complete deferral history is shown beginning on 

page 23. 
 

Balances at June 30, 2023 Fiscal Year-End Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows  

Differences between expected and actual experience $0 ($657,254) 

Changes in assumptions $461,439 ($537,777) 

Differences between projected and actual return on assets $0 $0 

Total $461,439 ($1,195,031) 
 

To be recognized fiscal year ending June 30: Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 

2024 $51,547 ($122,393) 

2025 $51,547 ($122,393) 

2026 $51,547 ($122,393) 

2027 $51,547 ($122,393) 

2028 $51,547 ($122,393) 

Thereafter $203,704 ($583,066) 

Total $461,439 ($1,195,031) 
 

3.  OPEB Expense 

 

 Under GASB 74 and 75, OPEB expense includes service cost, interest cost, administrative expenses, and 

change in TOL due to plan changes, adjusted for deferred inflows and outflows. OPEB expense can also be derived 

as change in net position, adjusted for employer contributions, which can be found on page 12. 
 

To be recognized fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 Expense Component 

Service Cost $269,646 

Interest Cost $189,853 

Expected Return on Assets $0 

Administrative Expenses $0 

Recognition of Experience (Gain)/Loss Deferrals ($70,576) 

Recognition of Assumption Change Deferrals ($270) 

Recognition of Investment (Gain)/Loss Deferrals $0 

Employee Contributions $0 

Changes in Benefit Terms $0 

Net OPEB Expense for fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 $388,653 
 

4.  Adjustments 

 

We are unaware of any adjustments that need to be made. 

 

5.  Trend and Interest Rate Sensitivities 

 

 The following presents what the Net OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 

assumption or a healthcare trend rate assumption one percent higher or lower than the current assumption. 
 

Net OPEB Liability at June 30, 2023 Measurement Date Discount Rate Healthcare Trend Rate 

1% Decrease in Assumption $5,984,978 $4,976,413 

Current Assumption $5,553,064 $5,553,064 

1% Increase in Assumption $5,157,515 $6,226,782 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

4 

D.  Description of Retiree Benefits 

 

 Following is a description of the current retiree benefit plan: 

 

 
Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

Benefit types provided Medical, dental and 

vision 

Medical, dental and 

vision 

Medical, dental and 

vision 

Medical, dental and 

vision 
Duration of Benefits 5 years but not 

beyond age 65* 

5 years but not 

beyond age 65 

To age 65 5 years but not 

beyond age 65* 
Required Service 20 years 20 years 20 years 20 years 

Minimum Age 55 55 60 55 

Dependent Coverage Yes Yes No Yes 

District Contribution % 100% 100% 100% 100% 

District Cap $8,400 per year $8,400 per year $9,000 per year $8,400 per year 

*Hired before 6/15/92 entitled to lifetime benefits 

 

E.  Summary of Valuation Data 

 

 Because this is a roll-forward valuation, this report is based on census data previously provided to us as of 

May, 2022 for the June 30, 2022 full valuation. Distributions of participants by age and service can be found on page 

17. For non-lifetime benefits, the active count below excludes employees for whom it was not possible to receive 

retiree benefits (e.g. employees who were already older than the maximum age to which benefits are payable or who 

will not accrue the required service prior to reaching the maximum age).  

 

 Valuation Year 
June 30, 2022 Valuation Date 

June 30, 2023 Measurement Date 

Active Employees eligible for future benefits  

    Count 357 

    Average Age 44.9 

    Average Years of Service 13.3 

  

Retirees currently receiving benefits  

    Count 33 

    Average Age 65.8 

 

 We were not provided with information about any terminated, vested employees. 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

5 

F.  Certification 

 

The actuarial information in this report is intended solely to assist Galt Joint Union ESD in complying with 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Accounting Statement 74 and 75 and, unless otherwise stated, fully and 

fairly discloses actuarial information required for compliance. Nothing in this report should be construed as an 

accounting opinion, accounting advice or legal advice. TCS recommends that third parties retain their own actuary 

or other qualified professionals when reviewing this report. TCS’s work is prepared solely for the use and benefit of 

Galt Joint Union ESD. Release of this report may be subject to provisions of the Agreement between Galt Joint 

Union ESD and TCS. No third party recipient of this report product should rely on the report for any purpose other 

than accounting compliance. Any other use of this report is unauthorized without first consulting with TCS. 

This report is for fiscal year July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023, using a measurement date of June 30, 2023. The 

calculations in this report have been made based on our understanding of plan provisions and actual practice at the 

time we were provided the required information. We relied on information provided by Galt Joint Union ESD. Much 

or all of this information was unaudited at the time of our evaluation. We reviewed the information provided for 

reasonableness, but this review should not be viewed as fulfilling any audit requirements. We relied on the following 

materials to complete this study: 

     ➢ We used paper reports and digital files containing participant demographic data from the 

District personnel records. 

     ➢ We used relevant sections of collective bargaining agreements provided by the District. 

All costs, liabilities, and other estimates are based on actuarial assumptions and methods that comply with 

all applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice (ASOPs). Each assumption is deemed to be reasonable by itself, taking 

into account plan experience and reasonable future expectations and in combination represent our estimate of 

anticipated experience of the Plan. 

This report contains estimates of the Plan's financial condition and future results only as of a single date. 

Future results can vary dramatically and the accuracy of estimates contained in this report depends on the actuarial 

assumptions used. This valuation cannot predict the Plan's future condition nor guarantee its future financial 

soundness. Actuarial valuations do not affect the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of Plan contributions. 

While the valuation is based on individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may also be reasonable 

and valuation results based on those assumptions would be different. Determining results using alternative 

assumptions (except for the alternate discount and trend rates shown in this report) is outside the scope of our 

engagement. 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from those presented in this report due to factors 

such as, but not limited to, the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or 

demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; increases or decreases expected as 

part of the natural operation of the measurement methodology (such as the end of an amortization period or 

additional cost or contribution requirements based on the plan’s funded status); and changes in plan provisions or 

applicable law. We were not asked to perform analyses to estimate the potential range of such future measurements. 

The signing actuary is independent of Galt Joint Union ESD and any plan sponsor. TCS does not intend to 

benefit from and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this report. TCS is not aware of any 

relationship that would impair the objectivity of the opinion.  

On the basis of the foregoing, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this report is 

complete and has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles and practices and all 

applicable Actuarial Standards of Practice. I meet the Qualifications Standards of the American Academy of 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

6 

Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 

 

Luis Murillo, ASA, MAAA 

Actuary 

Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 

(805) 496-1700 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

7 

 PART II:  LIABILITIES AND COSTS FOR RETIREE BENEFITS 

A.  Introduction. 

 

 We calculated the actuarial present value of projected benefit payments (APVPBP) separately for each 

participant. We determined eligibility for retiree benefits based on information supplied by Galt Joint Union ESD. 

We then selected assumptions that, based on plan provisions and our training and experience, represent our best 

prediction of future plan experience. For each participant, we applied the appropriate assumption factors based on 

the participant's age, sex, length of service, and employee classification. 

 

 The actuarial assumptions used for this study are summarized beginning on page 14. 

 

B.  Liability for Retiree Benefits. 

 

 For each participant, we projected future premium costs using an assumed trend rate (see Appendix C). We 

multiplied each year's benefit payments by the probability that benefits will be paid; i.e. based on the probability that 

the participant is living, has not terminated employment, has retired and remains eligible. The probability that benefit 

will be paid is zero if the participant is not eligible. The participant is not eligible if s/he has not met minimum 

service, minimum age or, if applicable, maximum age requirements. 

 

 The product of each year's benefit payments and the probability the benefit will be paid equals the expected 

cost for that year. We multiplied the above expected cost figures by the probability that the retiree would elect 

coverage. A retiree may not elect to be covered if retiree health coverage is available less expensively from another 

source (e.g. Medicare risk contract) or the retiree is covered under a spouse's plan. Finally, we discounted the 

expected cost for each year to the measurement date June 30, 2023 at 3.65% interest.  

 

 For any current retirees, the approach used was similar. The major difference is that the probability of 

payment for current retirees depends only on mortality and age restrictions (i.e. for retired employees the probability 

of being retired and of not being terminated are always both 100%). 

 The value generated from the process described above is called the actuarial present value of projected 

benefit payments (APVPBP). We added APVPBP for each participant to get the total APVPBP for all participants 

which is the estimated present value of all future retiree health benefits for all current participants. The APVPBP is 

the amount on June 30, 2023 that, if all actuarial assumptions are exactly right, would be sufficient to expense all 

promised benefits until the last participant dies or reaches the maximum eligibility age. However, for most actuarial 

and accounting purposes, the APVPBP is not used directly but is instead apportioned over the lifetime of each 

participant as described in the following sections. 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

8 

C.  Actuarial Accrual 

 

 Accounting principles provide that the cost of retiree benefits should be “accrued” over employees' working 

lifetime. For this reason, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued in June of 2015 Accounting 

Standards 74 and 75 for retiree health benefits. These standards apply to all public employers that pay any part of the 

cost of retiree health benefits for current or future retirees (including early retirees), whether they pay directly or 

indirectly (via an “implicit rate subsidy”). 

 

 To actuarially accrue retiree health benefits requires determining the amount to expense each year so that the 

liability accumulated at retirement is, on average, sufficient (with interest) to cover all retiree health expenditures 

without the need for additional expenses. There are many different ways to determine the annual accrual amount. 

The calculation method used is called an “actuarial cost method” and uses the APVPBP to develop expense and 

liability figures. Furthermore, the APVPBP should be accrued over the working lifetime of employees. 

 

 In order to accrue the APVPBP over the working lifetime of employees, actuarial cost methods apportion 

the APVPBP into two parts: the portions attributable to service rendered prior to the measurement date (the past 

service liability or Total OPEB Liability (TOL) under GASB 74 and 75) and to service after the measurement date 

but prior to retirement (the future service liability or present value of future service costs). Of the future service 

liability, the portion attributable to the single year immediately following the measurement date is known as the 

normal cost or Service Cost under GASB 74 and 75.  

 

 The service cost can be thought of as the value of the benefit earned each year if benefits are accrued during 

the working lifetime of employees. The actuarial cost method mandated by GASB 75 is the “entry age actuarial cost 

method”. Under the entry age actuarial cost method, the actuary determines the service cost as the annual amount 

needing to be expensed from hire until retirement to fully accrue the cost of retiree health benefits. Under GASB 75, 

the service cost is calculated to be a level percentage of each employee’s projected pay. 

 

D.  Actuarial Assumptions 

 

 The APVPBP and service cost are determined using several key assumptions: 

 

 ➢ The current cost of retiree health benefits (often varying by age, Medicare status and/or dependent 

coverage). The higher the current cost of retiree benefits, the higher the service cost. 

 

 ➢ The “trend” rate at which retiree health benefits are expected to increase over time. A higher trend 

rate increases the service cost. A “cap” on District contributions can reduce trend to zero once the 

cap is reached thereby dramatically reducing service costs. 

 

 ➢ Mortality rates varying by age and sex (and sometimes retirement or disability status). If employees 

die prior to retirement, past contributions are available to fund benefits for employees who live to 

retirement. After retirement, death results in benefit termination or reduction. Although higher 

mortality rates reduce service costs, the mortality assumption is not likely to vary from employer to 

employer. 

 

 ➢ Employment termination rates have the same effect as mortality inasmuch as higher termination 

rates reduce service costs. Employment termination can vary considerably between public agencies. 

 

 ➢ The service requirement reflects years of service required to earn full or partial retiree benefits. 

While a longer service requirement reduces costs, cost reductions are not usually substantial unless 

the service period exceeds 20 years of service. 

 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

9 

 ➢ Retirement rates determine what proportion of employees retire at each age (assuming employees 

reach the requisite length of service). Retirement rates often vary by employee classification and 

implicitly reflect the minimum retirement age required for eligibility. Retirement rates also depend 

on the amount of pension benefits available. Higher retirement rates increase service costs but, 

except for differences in minimum retirement age, retirement rates tend to be consistent between 

public agencies for each employee type. 

 

 ➢ Participation rates indicate what proportion of retirees are expected to elect retiree health benefits if 

a significant retiree contribution is required. Higher participation rates increase costs. 

 

 ➢ The discount rate estimates investment earnings for assets earmarked to cover retiree health benefit 

liabilities. The discount rate depends on the nature of underlying assets for funded plans. The rate 

used for a funded plan is the real rate of return expected for plan assets plus the long term inflation 

assumption. For an unfunded plan, the discount rate is based on an index of 20 year General 

Obligation municipal bonds rated AA or higher. For partially funded plans, the discount rate is a 

blend of the funded and unfunded rates. 

 

E.  Total OPEB Liability 

  

 The assumptions listed above are not exhaustive, but are the most common assumptions used in actuarial 

cost calculations. If all actuarial assumptions are exactly met and an employer expensed the service cost every year 

for all past and current employees and retirees, a sizeable liability would have accumulated (after adding interest and 

subtracting retiree benefit costs). The liability that would have accumulated is called the Total OPEB Liability 

(TOL). The excess of TOL over the value of plan assets is called the Net OPEB Liability (NOL). Under GASB 74 

and 75, in order for assets to count toward offsetting the TOL, the assets have to be held in an irrevocable trust that is 

safe from creditors and can only be used to provide OPEB benefits to eligible participants. 

 

 Changes in the TOL can arise in several ways - e.g., as a result of plan changes or changes in actuarial 

assumptions. Change in the TOL can also arise from actuarial gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses result 

from differences between actuarial assumptions and actual plan experience. GASB 75 allows certain changes in the 

TOL to be deferred (i.e. deferred inflows and outflows of resources). 

 

 Under GASB 74 and 75, a portion of actuarial gains and losses can be deferred as follows: 

 

➢ Investment gains and losses are deferred five years. 

 

➢ Experience gains and losses are deferred over the Expected Average Remaining Service Lives 

(EARSL) of plan participants. In calculating the EARSL, terminated employees (primarily retirees) 

are considered to have a working lifetime of zero. This often makes the EARSL quite short. 

 

➢ Liability changes resulting from changes in economic and demographic assumptions are also 

deferred based on the EARSL. 

 

➢ Liability changes resulting from plan changes, for example, cannot be deferred. 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

10 

F.  Valuation Results 

 

 This section details the measured values of the concepts described on the previous pages. Because this is a 

roll-forward valuation, the results shown in this section do not match the overall results as of the measurement date. 

 

1.  Actuarial Present Value of Projected Benefit Payments (APVPBP) 

 

Actuarial Present Value of Projected Benefit Payments as of June 30, 2022 Valuation Date 

 Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

Active: Pre-65 Benefit $7,579,628 $257,491 $4,527,284 $2,582,145 $212,708 

Post-65 Benefit $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Subtotal $7,579,628 $257,491 $4,527,284 $2,582,145 $212,708 

      

Retiree: Pre-65 Benefit $256,105 $20,858 $135,696 $44,489 $55,062 

Post-65 Benefit $660,329 $230,542 $0 $0 $429,787 

Subtotal $916,434 $251,400 $135,696 $44,489 $484,849 

      

Grand Total $8,496,062 $508,891 $4,662,980 $2,626,634 $697,557 

      

Subtotal Pre-65 Benefit $7,835,733 $278,349 $4,662,980 $2,626,634 $267,770 

Subtotal Post-65 Benefit $660,329 $230,542 $0 $0 $429,787 

 

 2.  Service Cost 

 

 The service cost represents the value of the benefit earned during a single year of employment. It is the 

APVPBP spread over the expected working lifetime of the employee and divided into annual segments. We applied 

an "entry age" actuarial cost method to determine funding rates for active employees. The table below summarizes 

the calculated service cost. 

 

Service Cost Valuation Year Beginning July 1, 2022 

 Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

# of Eligible Employees 357 13 194 137 13 

First Year Service Cost      

Pre-65 Benefit $264,136 $8,905 $145,694 $101,243 $8,294 

Post-65 Benefit $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Total $264,136 $8,905 $145,694 $101,243 $8,294 

 

 Accruing retiree health benefit costs using service costs levels out the cost of retiree health benefits over 

time and more fairly reflects the value of benefits "earned" each year by employees. While the service cost for each 

employee is targeted to remain level as a percentage of covered payroll, the service cost as a dollar amount would 

increase each year based on covered payroll. Additionally, the overall service cost may grow or shrink based on 

changes in the demographic makeup of the employees from year to year. 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

11 

 3.  Total OPEB Liability and Net OPEB Liability 

 

 If actuarial assumptions are borne out by experience, the District will fully accrue retiree benefits by 

expensing an amount each year that equals the service cost. If no accruals had taken place in the past, there would be 

a shortfall of many years' accruals, accumulated interest and forfeitures for terminated or deceased employees. This 

shortfall is called the Total OPEB Liability. We calculated the Total OPEB Liability (TOL) as the APVPBP minus 

the present value of future service costs. To the extent that benefits are funded through a GASB 74 qualifying trust, 

the trust’s Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) is subtracted to get the NOL. The FNP is the value of assets adjusted for any 

applicable payables and receivables as shown in the table on page 15. 

 

Total OPEB Liability and Net OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2022 Valuation Date 

 Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

Active: Pre-65 Benefit 4,351,891 $178,095 $2,545,533 $1,508,887 $119,376 

Active: Post-65 Benefit $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Subtotal $4,351,891 $178,095 $2,545,533 $1,508,887 $119,376 

      

Retiree: Pre-65 Benefit $256,105 $20,858 $135,696 $44,489 $55,062 

Retiree: Post-65 Benefit $660,329 $230,542 $0 $0 $429,787 

Subtotal $916,434 $251,400 $135,696 $44,489 $484,849 

      

Subtotal: Pre-65 Benefit $4,607,996 $198,953 $2,681,229 $1,553,376 $174,438 

Subtotal: Post-65 Benefit $660,329 $230,542 $0 $0 $429,787 

      

Total OPEB Liability 

(TOL) $5,268,325 $429,495 $2,681,229 $1,553,376 $604,225 

Fiduciary Net Position as of 

June 30, 2022 $0     

Net OPEB Liability (NOL) $5,268,325     

 

4. “Pay As You Go" Projection of Retiree Benefit Payments 

 

 We used the actuarial assumptions shown in Appendix C to project the District’s ten year retiree benefit 

outlay, including any implicit rate subsidy. Because these cost estimates reflect average assumptions applied to a 

relatively small number of participants, estimates for individual years are certain to be inaccurate. However, these 

estimates show the size of cash outflow. 

 

 The following table shows a projection of annual amounts needed to pay the District’s share of retiree health 

costs, including any implicit rate subsidy. 

 

Year Beginning 

July 1 Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

2022 $169,250 $22,080 $61,002 $27,728 $58,440 

2023 $176,479 $27,744 $59,910 $37,407 $51,418 

2024 $180,297 $27,212 $52,802 $47,981 $52,302 

2025 $205,415 $24,550 $78,340 $66,070 $36,455 

2026 $234,941 $26,964 $96,500 $74,402 $37,075 

2027 $279,752 $34,614 $132,939 $74,859 $37,340 

2028 $330,696 $45,194 $159,847 $95,841 $29,814 

2029 $452,172 $43,670 $213,217 $155,463 $39,822 

2030 $462,655 $40,674 $221,953 $159,039 $40,989 

2031 $517,631 $45,361 $266,974 $166,246 $39,050 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

12 

G.  Additional Reconciliation of GASB 75 Results 

  

 The following table shows the reconciliation of the June 30, 2022 Net OPEB Liability (NOL) in the prior 

valuation to the June 30, 2023 NOL. For some plans, it will provide additional detail and transparency beyond that 

shown in the table on Page 2. 
 

 TOL FNP NOL 

Balance at June 30, 2022 $5,312,891 $0 $5,312,891 

Service Cost $269,646 $0 $269,646 

Interest on Total OPEB Liability $189,853 $0 $189,853 

Expected Investment Income $0 $0 $0 

Administrative Expenses $0 $0 $0 

Employee Contributions $0 $0 $0 

Employer Contributions to Trust $0 $0 $0 

Employer Contributions as Benefit Payments $0 $169,250 ($169,250) 

Benefit Payments from Trust $0 $0 $0 

Expected Benefit Payments from Employer ($169,250) ($169,250) $0 

Expected Balance at June 30, 2023 $5,603,140 $0 $5,603,140 

Experience (Gains)/Losses $0 $0 $0 

Changes in Assumptions ($50,076) $0 ($50,076) 

Changes in Benefit Terms $0 $0 $0 

Investment Gains/(Losses) $0 $0 $0 

Other $0 $0 $0 

Net Change during 2023 $240,173 $0 $240,173 

Actual Balance at June 30, 2023* $5,553,064 $0 $5,553,064 

* May include a slight rounding error. 

 

 Changes in the NOL arising from certain sources are recognized on a deferred basis. The deferral history for 

Galt Joint Union ESD is shown beginning on page 23. The following table summarizes the beginning and ending 

balances for each deferral item. The current year expense reflects the change in deferral balances for the 

measurement year. 

 

Deferred Inflow/Outflow Balances Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 

 Beginning Balance 

Change Due to 

New Deferrals 

Change Due to 

Recognition Ending Balance 

Experience (Gains)/Losses ($727,830) $0 $70,576 ($657,254) 

Assumption Changes ($26,532) ($50,076) $270 ($76,338) 

Investment (Gains)/Losses $0 $0 $0 $0 

Deferred Balances ($754,362) ($50,076) $70,846 ($733,592) 

 

 The following table shows the reconciliation of Net Position (NOL less the balance of any deferred inflows 

or outflows). When adjusted for contributions, the change in Net Position is equal to the OPEB expense shown 

previously on page 3. 
 

OPEB Expense Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 

 Beginning Net Position Ending Net Position Change 

Net OPEB Liability (NOL) $5,312,891 $5,553,064 $240,173 

Deferred Balances ($754,362) ($733,592) $20,770 

Net Position $6,067,253 $6,286,656 $219,403 

Adjust Out Employer Contributions   $169,250 

OPEB Expense   $388,653 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

13 

H.  Procedures for Future Valuations 

 

 GASB 74/75 require annual measurements of liability with a full actuarial valuation required every two 

years. This means that for the measurement date one year following a full actuarial valuation, a streamlined “roll-

forward” valuation may be performed in place of a full valuation. The following outlines the key differences 

between full and roll-forward valuations. 

  
 Full Actuarial Valuation Roll-Forward Valuation 

Collect New Census Data Yes No 

Reflect Updates to Plan Design Yes No 

Update Actuarial Assumptions Yes Typically Not 

Update Valuation Interest Rate Yes Yes 

Actual Assets as of Measurement Date Yes Yes 

Timing 4-6 weeks after information is received 1-2 weeks after information is received 

Fees Full Reduced 

Information Needed from Employer Moderate Minimal 

Required Frequency At least every two years Each year, unless a full valuation is performed 

  

 The majority of employers use an alternating cycle of a full valuation one year followed by a roll-forward 

valuation the next year. However, a full valuation may be required or preferred under certain circumstances. 

Following are examples of actions that could cause the employer to consider a full valuation instead of a roll-

forward valuation. 

 

  ➢ The employer adds or terminates a group of participants that constitutes a significant part of 

the covered group. 

 

  ➢ The employer considers or implements changes to retiree benefit provisions or eligibility 

requirements. 

 

  ➢ The employer considers or puts in place an early retirement incentive program. 

 

  ➢ The employer desires the measured liability to incorporate more recent census data or 

assumptions. 

 

 We anticipate that the next valuation we perform for Galt Joint Union ESD will be a full valuation with a 

measurement date of June 30, 2024 which will be used for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. 

 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

14 

PART III:  ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

 

 Following is a summary of actuarial assumptions and methods used in this study. The District should 

carefully review these assumptions and methods to make sure they reflect the District's assessment of its underlying 

experience. It is important for Galt Joint Union ESD to understand that the appropriateness of all selected actuarial 

assumptions and methods are Galt Joint Union ESD’s responsibility. Unless otherwise disclosed in this report, TCS 

believes that all methods and assumptions are within a reasonable range based on the provisions of GASB 74 and 

75, applicable actuarial standards of practice, Galt Joint Union ESD’s actual historical experience, and TCS’s 

judgment based on experience and training. 

 

A.  ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS: 

 

ACTUARIAL COST METHOD: GASB 74 and 75 require use of the entry age actuarial cost method.  
 

Entry age is based on the age at hire for eligible employees. The attribution period is determined as the 

difference between the expected retirement age and the age at hire. The APVPBP and present value of 

future service costs are determined on a participant by participant basis and then aggregated. 
 

SUBSTANTIVE PLAN: As required under GASB 74 and 75, we based the valuation on the substantive plan. 

The formulation of the substantive plan was based on a review of written plan documents as well as 

historical information provided by Galt Joint Union ESD regarding practices with respect to employer and 

employee contributions and other relevant factors. 
 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

15 

B.  ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS: 

Economic assumptions are set under the guidance of Actuarial Standard of Practice 27 (ASOP 27). Among other 

things, ASOP 27 provides that economic assumptions should reflect a consistent underlying rate of general inflation. 

For that reason, we show our assumed long-term inflation rate below. 

 

INFLATION:  We assumed 2.50% per year used for pension purposes. Actuarial standards require using the 

same rate for OPEB that is used for pension. 

 

INVESTMENT RETURN / DISCOUNT RATE: We assumed 3.65% per year net of expenses. This is based 

on the Bond Buyer 20 Bond Index. 

 

TREND:  We assumed 4.00% per year. Our long-term trend assumption is based on the conclusion that, 

while medical trend will continue to be cyclical, the average increase over time cannot continue to outstrip 

general inflation by a wide margin. Trend increases in excess of general inflation result in dramatic 

increases in unemployment, the number of uninsured and the number of underinsured. These effects are 

nearing a tipping point which will inevitably result in fundamental changes in health care finance and/or 

delivery which will bring increases in health care costs more closely in line with general inflation. We do 

not believe it is reasonable to project historical trend vs. inflation differences several decades into the future. 

 

PAYROLL INCREASE:  We assumed 2.75% per year. Since benefits do not depend on salary (as they do for 

pensions), this assumption is only used to determine the accrual pattern of the Actuarial Present Value of 

Projected Benefit Payments. 

 

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION (FNP):  The following table shows the beginning and ending FNP numbers 

that were provided by Galt Joint Union ESD. 

 

Fiduciary Net Position as of June 30, 2023 

 06/30/2022  06/30/2023 

Cash and Equivalents $0  $0 

Contributions Receivable $0  $0 

Total Investments $0  $0 

Capital Assets  $0  $0 

Total Assets $0  $0 

    

Benefits Payable $0  $0 

 Fiduciary Net Position $0  $0 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

16 

C.  NON-ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS: 

Economic assumptions are set under the guidance of Actuarial Standard of Practice 35 (ASOP 35). See Appendix C, 

Paragraph 52 for more information. 
 

MORTALITY 

Participant Type Mortality Tables 

Certificated 2020 CalSTRS Mortality 

Classified 2017 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools Employees 
 

RETIREMENT RATES 

Employee Type Retirement Rate Tables 

Certificated Management Hired 2012 and earlier: 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@60 Rates 

 Hired 2013 and later: 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@62 Rates 

Certificated Hired 2012 and earlier: 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@60 Rates 

 Hired 2013 and later: 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@62 Rates 

Classified Hired 2012 and earlier: 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@55 Rates for Schools Employees 

 Hired 2013 and later: 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@62 Rates for Schools Employees 

Classified Management Hired 2012 and earlier: 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@55 Rates for Schools Employees 

 Hired 2013 and later: 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@62 Rates for Schools Employees 
 

COSTS FOR RETIREE COVERAGE 

 Actuarial Standard of Practice 6 (ASOP 6) Section 3.7.7(c)(3) provides that unadjusted premium may be used as the 

basis for retiree liabilities if retiree premium rates are not subsidized by active premium rates. We evaluated active and 

retiree rates and determined that there is not likely to be a subsidy between active and retiree rates. Therefore, retiree 

liabilities are based on actual employer contributions. Liabilities for active participants are based on the first year costs 

shown below. Subsequent years’ costs are based on first year costs adjusted for trend and limited by any District 

contribution caps. 
 

Participant Type Future Retirees Pre-65 Future Retirees Post-65 

Certificated $8,400  

Certificated Management $8,400  

Classified $9,000  

Classified Management $8,400  
 

PARTICIPATION RATES 

Employee Type <65 Non-Medicare Participation % 65+ Medicare Participation % 

Certificated 100%  

Classified 100%  
 

TURNOVER 

Employee Type Turnover Rate Tables 

Certificated 2020 CalSTRS Termination Rates 

Classified 2017 CalPERS Termination Rates for School Employees 
 

SPOUSE PREVALENCE 

To the extent not provided and when needed to calculate benefit liabilities, 80% of retirees assumed to be married at 

retirement. After retirement, the percentage married is adjusted to reflect mortality. 
 

SPOUSE AGES 

To the extent spouse dates of birth are not provided and when needed to calculate benefit liabilities, female spouse 

assumed to be three years younger than male. 
 

AGING FACTORS 

We used aging factors from "Health Care Costs - From Birth to Death" prepared by Dale Yamamoto and published in 

2013 by the  Society of Actuaries as part of the Health Care Cost Institute's Independent Report Series - Report 2013-1. 
 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

17 

PART IV:  APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX A:  DEMOGRAPHIC DATA BY AGE 

 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVE EMPLOYEES BY AGE AND EMPLOYEE CLASS 

Age Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

Under 25 11 0 5 5 1 

25 – 29 27 0 18 7 2 

30 – 34 31 0 18 12 1 

35 – 39 39 0 23 15 1 

40 – 44 49 3 27 18 1 

45 – 49 72 3 42 24 3 

50 – 54 61 3 31 25 2 

55 – 59 42 2 22 16 2 

60 – 64 25 2 8 15 0 

65 and older 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 357 13 194 137 13 

 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVE EMPLOYEES BY AGE AND SERVICE 

 Total 

Under 5 

Years of 

Service 

5 – 9 

Years of 

Service 

10 – 14 

Years of 

Service 

15 –19 

Years of 

Service 

20 – 24 

Years of 

Service 

25 – 29 

Years of 

Service 

30 – 34 

Years of 

Service 

Over 34 

Years of 

Service 

Under 25 11 11        

25 – 29 27 20 7       

30 – 34 31 18 13       

35 – 39 39 17 14 5 3     

40 – 44 49 13 20 1 12 3    

45 – 49 72 11 17 14 10 19 1   

50 – 54 61  3 8 12 27 11   

55 – 59 42   3 16 11 6 4 2 

60 – 64 25    10 6 6 2 1 

65 and older 0         

Total 357 90 74 31 63 66 24 6 3 

 

ELIGIBLE RETIREES BY AGE AND EMPLOYEE CLASS 

Age Total 

Certificated 

Management Certificated Classified 

Classified 

Management 

Under 50 0 0 0 0 0 

50 – 54 0 0 0 0 0 

55 – 59 3 0 3 0 0 

60 – 64 22 2 11 6 3 

65 – 69 3 0 0 0 3 

70 – 74 1 0 0 0 1 

75 – 79 2 2 0 0 0 

80 – 84 1 1 0 0 0 

85 – 89 1 0 0 0 1 

90 and older 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 33 5 14 6 8 

 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

18 

APPENDIX B:  ADMINISTRATIVE BEST PRACTICES 

 

 It is outside the scope of this report to make specific recommendations of actions Galt Joint Union ESD 

should take to manage the liability created by the current retiree health program. The following items are intended 

only to allow the District to get more information from this and future studies. Because we have not conducted a 

comprehensive administrative audit of Galt Joint Union ESD’s practices, it is possible that Galt Joint Union ESD is 

already complying with some or all of these suggestions. 

 

 ➢ We suggest that Galt Joint Union ESD maintain an inventory of all benefits and services provided 

to retirees – whether contractually or not and whether retiree-paid or not. For each, Galt Joint Union 

ESD should determine whether the benefit is material and subject to GASB 74 and/or 75. 

 ➢ Under GASB 75, it is important to isolate the cost of retiree health benefits. Galt Joint 

Union ESD should have all premiums, claims and expenses for retirees separated from 

active employee premiums, claims, expenses, etc. To the extent any retiree benefits are 

made available to retirees over the age of 65 – even on a retiree-pay-all basis – all 

premiums, claims and expenses for post-65 retiree coverage should be segregated from 

those for pre-65 coverage. Furthermore, Galt Joint Union ESD should arrange for the rates 

or prices of all retiree benefits to be set on what is expected to be a self-sustaining basis. 

➢ Galt Joint Union ESD should establish a way of designating employees as eligible or ineligible for 

future OPEB benefits. Ineligible employees can include those in ineligible job classes; those hired 

after a designated date restricting eligibility; those who, due to their age at hire cannot qualify for 

District-paid OPEB benefits; employees who exceed the termination age for OPEB benefits, etc. 

 ➢ Several assumptions were made in estimating costs and liabilities under Galt Joint Union 

ESD's retiree health program. Further studies may be desired to validate any assumptions 

where there is any doubt that the assumption is appropriate. (See Part III of this report for a 

summary of assumptions.) For example, Galt Joint Union ESD should maintain a retiree 

database that includes – in addition to date of birth, gender and employee classification – 

retirement date and (if applicable) dependent date of birth, relationship and gender. It will 

also be helpful for Galt Joint Union ESD to maintain employment termination information 

– namely, the number of OPEB-eligible employees in each employee class that terminate 

employment each year for reasons other than death, disability or retirement. 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

19 

APPENDIX C:  GASB 74/75 ACCOUNTING ENTRIES AND DISCLOSURES 

 

 This report does not necessarily include the entire accounting values. As mentioned earlier, there are certain 

deferred items that are employer-specific. The District should consult with its auditor if there are any questions about 

what, if any, adjustments may be appropriate. 

 

 GASB 74/75 include a large number of items that should be included in the Note Disclosures and Required 

Supplementary Information (RSI) Schedules. Many of these items are outside the scope of the actuarial valuation. 

However, following is information to assist the District in complying with GASB 74/75 disclosure requirements: 

 

Paragraph 50:  Information about the OPEB Plan 

 

Most of the information about the OPEB plan should be supplied by Galt Joint Union ESD. 

Following is information to help fulfill Paragraph 50 reporting requirements. 

 

50.c: Following is a table of plan participants 

 Number of 

Participants 

Inactive Employees Currently Receiving Benefit Payments 33 

Inactive Employees Entitled to But Not Yet Receiving Benefit 

Payments* 

0 

Participating Active Employees 357 

Total Number of participants 390 

*We were not provided with information about any terminated, vested employees 

 

Paragraph 51:  Significant Assumptions and Other Inputs 

 

Shown in Part III. 

 

Paragraph 52: Information Related to Assumptions and Other Inputs 

 

The following information is intended to assist Galt Joint Union ESD in complying with 

the requirements of Paragraph 52. 

 

52.b: Mortality Assumptions Following are the tables the mortality assumptions are based 

upon. Inasmuch as these tables are based on appropriate populations, and that these tables 

are used for pension purposes, we believe these tables to be the most appropriate for the 

valuation. 

 

Mortality Table 2017 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools 

Employees 

Disclosure The mortality assumptions are based on the 2017 CalPERS 

Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools Employees table 

created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies mortality 

for participating agencies and establishes mortality tables that 

are modified versions of commonly used tables. This table 

incorporates mortality projection as deemed appropriate based 

on CalPERS analysis.  

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

20 

Mortality Table 2017 CalPERS Retiree Mortality for Miscellaneous and 

Schools Employees 

Disclosure The mortality assumptions are based on the 2017 CalPERS 

Retiree Mortality for Miscellaneous and Schools Employees 

table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies 

mortality for participating agencies and establishes mortality 

tables that are modified versions of commonly used tables. This 

table incorporates mortality projection as deemed appropriate 

based on CalPERS analysis.  

 

Mortality Table 2020 CalSTRS Mortality 

Disclosure The mortality assumptions are based on the 2020 CalSTRS 

Mortality table created by CalSTRS. CalSTRS periodically 

studies mortality for participating agencies and establishes 

mortality tables that are modified versions of commonly used 

tables. This table incorporates mortality projection as deemed 

appropriate based on CalSTRS analysis.  

 

52.c: Experience Studies Following are the tables the retirement and turnover assumptions 

are based upon. Inasmuch as these tables are based on appropriate populations, and that 

these tables are used for pension purposes, we believe these tables to be the most 

appropriate for the valuation. 

 

Retirement Tables 

Retirement Table 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@55 Rates for Schools Employees 

Disclosure The retirement assumptions are based on the 2017 CalPERS 

2.0%@55 Rates for Schools Employees table created by 

CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies the experience for 

participating agencies and establishes tables that are appropriate 

for each pool. 

 

Retirement Table 2017 CalPERS 2.0%@62 Rates for Schools Employees 

Disclosure The retirement assumptions are based on the 2017 CalPERS 

2.0%@62 Rates for Schools Employees table created by 

CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies the experience for 

participating agencies and establishes tables that are appropriate 

for each pool. 

 

Retirement Table 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@60 Rates 

Disclosure The retirement assumptions are based on the 2020 CalSTRS 

2.0%@60 Rates table created by CalSTRS. CalSTRS 

periodically studies the experience for participating agencies 

and establishes tables that are appropriate for each pool. 

 

Retirement Table 2020 CalSTRS 2.0%@62 Rates 

Disclosure The retirement assumptions are based on the 2020 CalSTRS 

2.0%@62 Rates table created by CalSTRS. CalSTRS 

periodically studies the experience for participating agencies 

and establishes tables that are appropriate for each pool. 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

21 

Turnover Tables 

Turnover Table 2017 CalPERS Termination Rates for School Employees 

Disclosure The turnover assumptions are based on the 2017 CalPERS 

Termination Rates for School Employees table created by 

CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies the experience for 

participating agencies and establishes tables that are appropriate 

for each pool. 

 

Turnover Table 2020 CalSTRS Termination Rates 

Disclosure The turnover assumptions are based on the 2020 CalSTRS 

Termination Rates table created by CalSTRS. CalSTRS 

periodically studies the experience for participating agencies 

and establishes tables that are appropriate for each pool. 

 

For other assumptions, we use actual plan provisions and plan data. 

 

52.d: The alternative measurement method was not used in this valuation. 

 

52.e: NOL using alternative trend assumptions The following table shows the Net OPEB 

Liability with a healthcare cost trend rate 1% higher and 1% lower than assumed in 

the valuation. 

 

 Trend 1% Lower  Valuation Trend Trend 1% Higher 

Net OPEB Liability $4,976,413 $5,553,064 $6,226,782 

 

Paragraph 53: Discount Rate 

 

The following information is intended to assist Galt Joint Union ESD to comply with 

Paragraph 53 requirements. 

 

53.a: A discount rate of 3.65% was used in the valuation. The interest rate used in the prior 

valuation was 3.54%. 

 

53.b: We assumed that all contributions are from the employer. 

 

53.c: There are no plan assets. 

  

53.d: The interest assumption reflects a municipal bond rate. We used the Bond Buyer 20 

Index at June 30, 2023 resulting in a rate of 3.65%. 

 

53.e: Not applicable. 

 

53.f: There are no plan assets. 

 

53.g: The following table shows the Net OPEB liability with a discount rate 1% higher and 

1% lower than assumed in the valuation. 

 

 Discount Rate 

1% Lower  

Valuation 

Discount Rate 

Discount Rate 

1% Higher 

Net OPEB Liability $5,984,978 $5,553,064 $5,157,515 

 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

22 

Paragraph 55: Changes in the Net OPEB Liability 

 

Please see reconciliation on pages 2 or 12. 

 

Paragraph 56: Additional Net OPEB Liability Information 

 

The following information is intended to assist Galt Joint Union ESD to comply with 

Paragraph 56 requirements. 

 

56.a: The valuation date is June 30, 2022. 

The measurement date is June 30, 2023. 

56.b: We are not aware of a special funding arrangement. 

56.c: The interest assumption changed from 3.54% to 3.65%. 

56.d: There were no changes in benefit terms since the prior measurement date. 

56.e: Not applicable 

56.f: To be determined by the employer 

56.g: To be determined by the employer 

56.h: Other than contributions after the measurement, all deferred inflow and outflow 

balances are shown on page 12 and in Appendix D 

56.i: Future recognition of deferred inflows and outflows is shown in Appendix D 

 

Paragraph 57: Required Supplementary Information 

 

57.a: Please see reconciliation on pages 2 or 12. Please see the notes for Paragraph 244 

below for more information. 

57.b: These items are provided on pages 2 and 12 for the current valuation, except for 

covered payroll, which should be determined based on appropriate methods. 

57.c: We have not been asked to calculate an actuarially determined contribution amount. 

We assume the District contributes on an ad hoc basis, but in an amount sufficient to 

fully fund the obligation over a period not to exceed 20 years. 

57.d: We are not aware that there are any statutorily or contractually established 

contribution requirements. 

 

Paragraph 58: Actuarially Determined Contributions 

 

We have not been asked to calculate an actuarially determined contribution amount. We 

assume the District contributes on an ad hoc basis, but in an amount sufficient to fully fund 

the obligation over a period not to exceed 20 years. 

 

Paragraph 244: Transition Option 

 

Prior periods were not restated due to the fact that prior valuations were not rerun in 

accordance with GASB 75. It was determined that the time and expense necessary to rerun 

prior valuations and to restate prior financial statements was not justified. 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

23 

APPENDIX D:  DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 

 

EXPERIENCE GAINS AND LOSSES 
 

  

 Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense Arising from the Recognition of Effects of 

Experience Gains and Losses 

(Measurement Periods) 

Measurement 
Period 

Experience 
(Gain)/Loss 

Original 
Recognition 

Period 
(Years) 

Amounts 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

through 2022 2023 

Amounts to be 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

after 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 
2019-20 ($760,539) 13.1 ($174,171) ($58,057) ($528,311) ($58,057) ($58,057) ($58,057) ($58,057) ($58,057) ($238,026) 

2021-22 ($153,981) 12.3 ($12,519) ($12,519) ($128,943) ($12,519) ($12,519) ($12,519) ($12,519) ($12,519) ($66,348) 

2022-23 $0 0 $0 $0 $0       

            

            

Net Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense ($186,690) ($70,576) ($657,254) ($70,576) ($70,576) ($70,576) ($70,576) ($70,576) ($304,374) 

 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

24 

CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS 
 

  

 Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense Arising from the Recognition of Effects of 

Changes of Assumptions 

(Measurement Periods) 

Measurement 
Period 

Changes of 
Assumptions 

Original 
Recognition 

Period 
(Years) 

Amounts 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

through 2022 2023 

Amounts to be 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

after 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 
2018-19 $133,384 13.2 $40,420 $10,105 $82,859 $10,105 $10,105 $10,105 $10,105 $10,105 $32,334 

2019-20 $523,627 13.1 $119,916 $39,972 $363,739 $39,972 $39,972 $39,972 $39,972 $39,972 $163,879 

2020-21 $19,251 13.1 $2,940 $1,470 $14,841 $1,470 $1,470 $1,470 $1,470 $1,470 $7,491 

2021-22 ($587,263) 12.3 ($47,745) ($47,745) ($491,773) ($47,745) ($47,745) ($47,745) ($47,745) ($47,745) ($253,048) 

2022-23 ($50,076) 12.3 $0 ($4,072) ($46,004) ($4,072) ($4,072) ($4,072) ($4,072) ($4,072) ($25,644) 

Net Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense $115,531 ($270) ($76,338) ($270) ($270) ($270) ($270) ($270) ($74,988) 

 

 

  



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

25 

INVESTMENT GAINS AND LOSSES 
 

  

 Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense Arising from the Recognition of Effects of 

Investment Gains and Losses 

(Measurement Periods) 

Measurement 
Period 

Investment 
(Gain)/Loss 

Original 
Recognition 

Period 
(Years) 

Amounts 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

through 2022 2023 

Amounts to be 

Recognized in 

OPEB Expense 

after 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter 
2022-23 $0 0 $0 $0 $0       

            

            

            

            

Net Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Expense $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

 

 

 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

26 

APPENDIX E:  GLOSSARY OF RETIREE HEALTH VALUATION TERMS 

 

 

Note: The following definitions are intended to help a non-actuary understand concepts related to retiree health 

valuations. Therefore, the definitions may not be actuarially accurate. 

 

Actuarial Cost Method: A mathematical model for allocating OPEB costs by year of service. The only 

actuarial cost method allowed under GASB 74/75 is the entry age actuarial cost 

method. 

 

Actuarial Present Value of 

Projected Benefit Payments: The projected amount of all OPEB benefits to be paid to current and future retirees 

discounted back to the valuation or measurement date. 

 

Deferred Inflows/Outflows 

of Resources:  A portion of certain items that can be deferred to future periods or that weren’t 

reflected in the valuation. The former includes investment gains/losses, actuarial 

gains/losses, and gains/losses due to changes in actuarial assumptions or methods. 

The latter includes contributions made to a trust subsequent to the measurement 

date but before the statement date. 

 

Discount Rate: Assumed investment return net of all investment expenses. Generally, a higher 

assumed interest rate leads to lower service costs and total OPEB liability. 

 

Fiduciary Net Position: Net assets (liability) of a qualifying OPEB “plan” (i.e. qualifying irrevocable trust 

or equivalent arrangement). 

 

Implicit Rate Subsidy: The estimated amount by which retiree rates are understated in situations where, 

for rating purposes, retirees are combined with active employees and the employer 

is expected, in the long run, to pay the underlying cost of retiree benefits. 

 

Measurement Date: The date at which assets and liabilities are determined in order to estimate TOL and 

NOL. 

 

Mortality Rate:  Assumed proportion of people who die each year. Mortality rates always vary by 

age and often by sex. A mortality table should always be selected that is based on a 

similar “population” to the one being studied. 

 

Net OPEB Liability (NOL): The Total OPEB Liability minus the Fiduciary Net Position. 

 

OPEB Benefits: Other Post Employment Benefits. Generally, medical, dental, prescription drug, 

life, long-term care or other postemployment benefits that are not pension benefits. 

 

OPEB Expense: This is the amount employers must recognize as an expense each year. The annual 

OPEB expense is equal to the Service Cost plus interest on the Total OPEB 

Liability (TOL) plus change in TOL due to plan changes minus projected 

investment income; all adjusted to reflect deferred inflows and outflows of 

resources. 

 

Participation Rate: The proportion of retirees who elect to receive retiree benefits. A lower 

participation rate results in lower service cost and a TOL. The participation rate 

often is related to retiree contributions. 



Total Compensation Systems, Inc. 
 

 

27 

 

Pay As You Go Cost: The projected benefit payments to retirees in a given year as estimated by the 

actuarial valuation. Actual benefit payments are likely to differ from these 

estimated amounts. For OPEB plans that do not pre-fund through an irrevocable 

trust, the Pay As You Go Cost serves as an estimated amount to budget for annual 

OPEB payments. 

 

Retirement Rate: The proportion of active employees who retire each year. Retirement rates are 

usually based on age and/or length of service. (Retirement rates can be used in 

conjunction with the service requirement to reflect both age and length of service). 

The more likely employees are to retire early, the higher service costs and actuarial 

accrued liability will be. 

 

Service Cost:  The annual dollar value of the “earned” portion of retiree health benefits if retiree 

health benefits are to be fully accrued at retirement. 

 

Service Requirement: The proportion of retiree benefits payable under the OPEB plan, based on length of 

service and, sometimes, age. A shorter service requirement increases service costs 

and TOL. 

 

Total OPEB Liability (TOL): The amount of the actuarial present value of projected benefit payments 

attributable to participants’ past service based on the actuarial cost method used. 

 

Trend Rate:  The rate at which the employer’s share of the cost of retiree benefits is expected to 

increase over time. The trend rate usually varies by type of benefit (e.g. medical, 

dental, vision, etc.) and may vary over time. A higher trend rate results in higher 

service costs and TOL. 

 

Turnover Rate:  The rate at which employees cease employment due to reasons other than death, 

disability or retirement. Turnover rates usually vary based on length of service and 

may vary by other factors. Higher turnover rates reduce service costs and TOL. 

 

Valuation Date:  The date as of which the OPEB obligation is determined by means of an actuarial 

valuation. Under GASB 74 and 75, the valuation date does not have to coincide 

with the statement date, but can’t be more than 30 months prior. 

 

 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.420 
Board Consideration of Approval of 2022-23 
Unaudited Actuals 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

The GJUESD 2021-22 Unaudited Actuals financial report is included for the Board’s review.  
 
The year ended with a total Unrestricted Reserve of 22.26%. 
 
 
Board approval is recommended. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



2022-23 UNAUDITED 
ACTUALS

SEPTEMBER 2023
Alejandra Garibay, Chief Business Official



Formative Budget Process

 Unaudited Actuals 2022-23: 
Unaudited Actuals is the annual 

statement reporting period of actual 
expenditures as of June 30, 2023.
 First Interim
 Second Interim
 June Adopted Budget 



UNAUDITED ACTUALS SUMMARY 2022-23

➢ COLA 6.56% in 22-23
➢ STRS increase of 2.18% in 22-23
➢ PERS increase of 2.46% in 22-23
➢ LCFF revenue increased in all 3 years, although in declining enrollment, 

due to COLA and proposal on allowing ADA to be funded on a 3-year 
average

➢ $100,000 James B. McClatchy in 22-23-Dual Language Immersion Program 
Fairsite

➢ Special Education One-Time funding $200,000
➢ Final Enrollment Certification decreased to 3,313 in 22-23
➢ Unduplicated Pupil Percentage decreased to 60.98% in 22-23



Unrestricted  vs Restricted Funds

➢ Unrestricted revenues (general fund) are funds that are not 
subject to specific constraints and that are used for any purposes 
not prohibited by Education Code.

➢ Restricted revenues are those funds received for a specific 
purpose. They are restricted to that purpose allowed by grant, 
award, and/or donor e.g., Restricted Lottery, Title I, and Special 
Education.

➢ Fund Balance, are referred to as Reserves, are the unspent funds 
at the end of year and will fall into Unrestricted, Restricted, 
Non-Spendable, Committed, Assigned, and Unassigned. 



Components of LCFF Revenues

3,333.55

Supplemental & 
Concentration

Base Grant

Grade Span Adjustment

Supplemental Grant 

Concentration Grant*

Adjusted Base 
Grant

Add-ons

Transitional Kindergarten (TK) Add-on

Targeted Instructional Improvement Block Grant
12-13 Award 

Level

Unduplicated Pupil Count
English Learners
Low Income
Foster Youth

Average Daily 
Attendance

61%

61%

$510,278 

$5,213,087 

$32,413,652 

Total LCFF Funding:

*Unduplicated Pupil Percentage must be above 55% to receive Concentration Grant funding

$38,137,017 

Home-to-School Transportation



Projected Revenues –
Unrestricted/Restricted

Total District Revenues $62,141,956; that includes one-time learning loss and ESSER funds



Projected Expenditures –
Unrestricted/Restricted

Total Salaries and Benefits  $44,608,018; This is about 82% of districts budget and included one-time funds.



Cost Of Living Adjustment  (COLA)

Year Increase

2022-2023 6.56%

2023-2024 8.22%

2024-2025 3.94%

~ It is important to note, that the COLA is designed simply to account for increased or inflated costs, and 
does not provide an increase in real spending capacity.



Unrestricted Reserve Levels
(combined total of Committed/Assigned/Unassigned)

Year Reserve
2021-2022 17.59%
2022-2023 22.81%

Unrestricted Reserves balance includes committed board approved items that were not expensed in the fiscal year 2022-23



District Enrollment/Funded ADA

As of 9-14-2023 enrollment is at 3,393 for GJUESD. We will be monitoring this trend and provide an update by First Interim.



Final Synopsis of Unaudited Actuals 
2022-23

➢ Galt Joint Union Elementary School District has met all of its 
financial obligations with the support of one-time federal funds, 
state funds and the increase of COLA for 2022-23.

➢ The district continues to monitor enrollment and ADA. We will be 
working closely with the Educational Services Department on tools to 
help increase our attendance.

➢ Ensuring safe and secure learning environments continue to be 
priority for our schools. This involves investments in Math Curriculum 
Adoption, security measures, facility maintenance and upgrades to 
ensure students and staff can learn and work in a safe and 
supportive environment.





































































































































































































































































 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.421 
Board Consideration of Approval of 
Resolution No. 4; Resolution of the 
Governing Board to Commit Fund Balance 
for 2023-24 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

As a result of the balance in the State’s Public School System Stabilization Account for the statutory 
limitation on school district reserves has been triggered for the 2023-24 budget period, pursuant 
to Education Code (EC) Section 42127.01(e). 
 
The District reserve cap requires that a school district adopt or revise the budget pursuant 
to EC Section 42127, shall not contain a combined assigned or unassigned ending general fund 
balance of more than 10 percent of those funds. 
 
The fund balance of the District may be committed for a specific purpose by formal action of the 
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees may also redirect the committed fund balance to other 
purposes. Any amendments or modification to the use of committed funds requires approval by 
formal action of the Board of Trustees. 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
Resolution No. 4 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BOARD TO COMMIT FUND BALANCE 

 
WHEREAS, the balance in the State's Public School System Stabilization Account has triggered a statutory 

limitation on school district reserves for the 2023-24 budget period, pursuant to Education Code (EC) 
section 42127.01(e); and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Education Code (EC) section 42127.01, the District reserve shall not 

contain a combined assigned and unassigned ending general fund balance of more than 10 
percent of those funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, Galt Joint Union Elementary School District is required to comply with Education 

Code (EC) section 42127; and 
 

WHEREAS, fund balance measures the net financial resources available to finance expenditures in future 
periods and will be maintained to provide the District with sufficient working capital to address future 
spending needs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District is committed to being fiscally prudent and dedicated to preparing for economic 

uncertainties; and 
 

WHEREAS, the fund balance of the District may be committed for a specific purpose by formal action of the 
Board of Trustees. 

 
WHEREAS, on June 21, 2023, the Governing Board of Galt Join Union Elementary School District Adopted 

Resolution No.14 committing portions of its general fund ending balances, which is hereby rescinded;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees hereby makes the following 
commitment of funds in accordance with Education Code (EC) section 42127.01 for the 2023-24 fiscal 
year: 

  
Purpose Justification Estimated Amount 

Textbook Adoptions Standards-aligned of instructional 
materials and adoptions 

$2,200,000 

Technology  Upgrades/Replacements $1,100,000 

Lottery Site Lottery Reserve $793,795 

LCAP  S&C Carryover 22-23 $473,607 

Facilities  Deferred maintenance and facility projects $3,000,000 
 

 
A commitment of unassigned General Fund balance for future technology upgrades, textbook 
adoptions, and facilities, in the amount adjusted as needed, to adhere to the requirement in 
Education Code (EC) section 42127.01. 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the committed fund balance may be redirected by the Board of 

Trustees to other purposes. Any amendments or modifications to the use of committed funds require 
approval by formal action of the Board of Trustees. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 20th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 

___________________________________   _____________________________________ 
Lois Yount,                      Wesley Cagle, President, 
Superintendent                     Board of Trustees 
 



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.422 
Board Consideration of Approval of 
Resolution No. 5; GANN LIMIT 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

The Gann Limit is intended to constrain state and local government spending growth by 
linking year-to-year changes in expenditures to inflation (represented by per capita personal 
income) and population (represented by average daily attendance for schools). 
 
Attached is Resolution No. 5 GANN Limit and supporting information. The routine 
resolution declares that the appropriations in the 2023-24 budget do not exceed the 
limitations imposed by Proposition 4 and that the GANN Limit recalculation for the 2022-
23 fiscal year and the GANN Limit calculations for 2023-24 are made in accordance with 
applicable constitutional and statutory law. 
 
 
Attached: Resolution and Form GANN 
 
Board approval is recommended. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  5 
      GANN LIMIT 
 
 
WHEREAS, in November of 1979, the California electorate did adopt Proposition 4, commonly called 
the Gann Amendment, which added Article XIIIB to the California Constitution; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Article XIIIB establish maximum appropriation limitations, commonly 
called "Gann Limits," for public agencies, including school districts; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the District must establish a revised Gann Limit for the 2022-2023 fiscal year and a 
projected Gann limit for the 2023-2024 fiscal year in accordance with the provisions of Article XIIIB and 
applicable statutory law; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that this Board does provide public notice that the attached 
calculations and documentation of the Gann limits for the 2022-2023 and the 2023-2024 fiscal years 
are made in accord with applicable constitutional and statutory law; 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this board does hereby declare that the appropriations in the 
Budget for the 2022-2023 and 2023-2024 fiscal years do not exceed the limitations imposed by 
Proposition 4; 

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Superintendent provides copies of this resolution along 
with appropriate attachments to interested citizens of this district. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we the Members of the Governing Board of Galt Joint Union Elementary 
School District of Sacramento County, California, have hereunto set our hand this 20th day of 
September 2023. 

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 20th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023. 

 
AYES:_________ 

 
NOES:_________ 

 
ABSENT:_______ 

 
ABSTAIN:______ 

 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
 
      __________________________________Wesley Cagle, President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 

 



California Dept of Education
SACS Financial Reporting Software - SACS V6.1
File: GANN_District, Version 3 Page 1 Printed: 9/5/2023 4:28 PM

Unaudited Actuals 34 67348 0000000
Galt Joint Union Elementary Fiscal Year 2022-23 Form GANN
Sacramento County School District Appropriations Limit Calculations D8AN18C7B1(2022-23)

2022-23
Calculations

2023-24
Calculations

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

A. PRIOR YEAR DATA 2021-22 Actual 2022-23 Actual

2021-22 Actual Appropriations Limit and Gann ADA are f rom district's prior y ear Gann data reported to the CDE)

1. FINAL PRIOR YEAR APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT

(Preload/Line D11, PY column) 24,517,857.54 0.00 24,517,857.54 27,959,003.82

2. PRIOR YEAR GANN ADA (Preload/Line B3, PY column) 2,918.93 0.00 2,918.93 3,094.80

ADJUSTMENTS TO PRIOR YEAR LIMIT Adjustments to 2021-22 Adjustments to 2022-23

3. District Lapses, Reorganizations and Other Transf ers 0.00

4. Temporary  Voter Approv ed Increases 0.00

5. Less: Lapses of  Voter Approv ed Increases 0.00

6. TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS TO PRIOR YEAR LIMIT

(Lines A3 plus A4 minus A5) 0.00 0.00

7. ADJUSTMENTS TO PRIOR YEAR ADA

(Only  f or district lapses, reorganizations and other transf ers, and only  if  adjustments to the appropriations limit are entered
in Line A3 abov e) 0.00

B. CURRENT YEAR GANN ADA 2022-23 P2 Report 2023-24 P2 Estimate

2022-23 data should tie to Principal Apportionment Data Collection attendance reports and include ADA f or charter schools reporting
with the district)

1. Total K-12 ADA (Form A, Line A6) 3,094.80 3,094.80 3,062.34 3,062.34

2. Total Charter Schools ADA (Form A, Line C9) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

3. TOTAL CURRENT YEAR P2 ADA (Line B1 plus B2) 3,094.80 3,062.34

C. CURRENT YEAR LOCAL PROCEEDS OF TAXES/STATE 2022-23 Actual 2023-24 Budget

AID RECEIVED

TAXES AND SUBVENTIONS (Funds 01, 09, and 62)

1. Homeowners' Exemption (Object 8021) 32,507.41 32,507.41 31,097.00 31,097.00

2. Timber Y ield Tax (Object 8022) .45 .45 0.00 0.00

3. Other Subv entions/In-Lieu Taxes (Object 8029) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

4. Secured Roll Taxes (Object 8041) 4,195,482.75 4,195,482.75 4,197,125.00 4,197,125.00

5. Unsecured Roll Taxes (Object 8042) 147,138.76 147,138.76 134,343.00 134,343.00

6. Prior Years' Taxes (Object 8043) 87,682.60 87,682.60 24,311.00 24,311.00

7. Supplemental Taxes (Object 8044) 331,495.87 331,495.87 391,330.00 391,330.00

8. Ed. Rev . Augmentation Fund (ERAF) (Object 8045) 2,802,149.14 2,802,149.14 1,993,767.00 1,993,767.00

9. Penalties and Int. f rom Delinquent Taxes (Object 8048) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

10. Other In-Lieu Taxes (Object 8082) 2,516.96 2,516.96 0.00 0.00

11. Comm. Redev elopment Funds (objects 8047 & 8625) 637,956.42 637,956.42 536,810.00 536,810.00

12. Parcel Taxes (Object 8621) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

13. Other Non-Ad Valorem Taxes (Object 8622) (Taxes only ) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

14. Penalties and Int. f rom Delinquent Non-LCFF

Taxes (Object 8629) (Only  those f or the abov e taxes) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

15. Transf ers to Charter Schools in Lieu of  Property  Taxes (Object 8096)

16. TOTAL TAXES AND SUBVENTIONS

(Lines C1 through C15) 8,236,930.36 0.00 8,236,930.36 7,308,783.00 0.00 7,308,783.00

OTHER LOCAL REVENUES (Funds 01, 09, and 62)

17. To General Fund f rom Bond Interest and Redemption

Fund (Excess debt serv ice taxes) (Object 8914) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

18. TOTAL LOCAL PROCEEDS OF TAXES

(Lines C16 plus C17) 8,236,930.36 0.00 8,236,930.36 7,308,783.00 0.00 7,308,783.00

EXCLUDED APPROPRIATIONS

19a. Medicare (Enter f ederally  mandated amounts only  f rom objs. 3301 & 3302; do not include negotiated amounts) 622,411.70 646,363.00

19b. Qualif ied Capital Outlay  Projects

19c. Routine Restricted Maintenance Account (Fund 01, Resource 8150, Objects 8900-8999) 1,668,762.26 1,668,762.26 1,485,146.00 1,485,146.00

OTHER EXCLUSIONS

20. Americans with Disabilities Act

21. Unreimbursed Court Mandated Desegregation Costs

22. Other Unf unded Court-ordered or Federal Mandates

23. TOTAL EXCLUSIONS (Lines C19 through C22) 1,668,762.26 0.00 2,291,173.96 1,485,146.00 0.00 2,131,509.00

STATE AID RECEIVED (Funds 01, 09, and 62)

24. LCFF - CY (objects 8011 and 8012) 30,834,239.00 30,834,239.00 32,431,639.00 32,431,639.00

25. LCFF/Rev enue Limit State Aid - Prior Years (Object 8019) 143,801.00 143,801.00 0.00 0.00

26. TOTAL STATE AID RECEIVED

(Lines C24 plus C25) 30,978,040.00 0.00 30,978,040.00 32,431,639.00 0.00 32,431,639.00



California Dept of Education
SACS Financial Reporting Software - SACS V6.1
File: GANN_District, Version 3 Page 2 Printed: 9/5/2023 4:28 PM

Unaudited Actuals 34 67348 0000000
Galt Joint Union Elementary Fiscal Year 2022-23 Form GANN
Sacramento County School District Appropriations Limit Calculations D8AN18C7B1(2022-23)

2022-23
Calculations

2023-24
Calculations

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

DATA FOR INTEREST CALCULATION

27. Total Rev enues (Funds 01, 09 & 62; objects 8000-8799) 62,141,956.64 62,141,956.64 52,475,242.00 52,475,242.00

28. Total Interest and Return on Inv estments

(Funds 01, 09, and 62; objects 8660 and 8662) 416,635.05 416,635.05 100,000.00 100,000.00

D. APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT CALCULATIONS 2022-23 Actual 2023-24 Budget

PRELIMINARY APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT

1. Rev ised Prior Year Program Limit (Lines A1 plus A6) 24,517,857.54 27,959,003.82

2. Inf lation Adjustment 1.0755 1.0444

3. Program Population Adjustment (Lines B3 div ided

by  [A2 plus A7]) (Round to f our decimal places) 1.0603 0.9895

4. PRELIMINARY APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT

(Lines D1 times D2 times D3) 27,959,003.82 28,893,779.56

APPROPRIATIONS SUBJECT TO THE LIMIT

5. Local Rev enues Excluding Interest (Line C18) 8,236,930.36 7,308,783.00

6. Preliminary  State Aid Calculation

a. Minimum State Aid in Local Limit (Greater of  $120 times Line B3 or $2,400; but not greater
than Line C26 or less than zero) 371,376.00 367,480.80

b. Maximum State Aid in Local Limit (Lesser of  Line C26 or Lines D4 minus D5 plus C23; but
not less than zero) 22,013,247.42 23,716,505.56

c. Preliminary  State Aid in Local Limit (Greater of  Lines D6a or D6b) 22,013,247.42 23,716,505.56

7. Local Rev enues in Proceeds of  Taxes

a. Interest Counting in Local Limit (Line C28 div ided by  [Lines C27 minus C28] times [Lines D5
plus D6c]) 204,183.37 59,236.55

b. Total Local Proceeds of  Taxes (Lines D5 plus D7a) 8,441,113.73 7,368,019.55

8. State Aid in Proceeds of  Taxes (Greater of  Line D6a, or Lines D4 minus D7b plus C23; but not greater than Line C26 or
less than zero) 21,809,064.05 23,657,269.01

9. Total Appropriations Subject to the Limit

a. Local Rev enues (Line D7b) 8,441,113.73

b. State Subv entions (Line D8) 21,809,064.05

c. Less: Excluded Appropriations (Line C23) 2,291,173.96

d. TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS SUBJECT TO THE LIMIT

(Lines D9a plus D9b minus D9c) 27,959,003.82

10. Adjustments to the Limit Per

Government Code Section 7902.1

(Line D9d minus D4) 0.00

SUMMARY 2022-23 Actual 2023-24 Budget

11. Adjusted Appropriations Limit

(Lines D4 plus D10) 27,959,003.82 28,893,779.56

12. Appropriations Subject to the Limit

(Line D9d) 27,959,003.82

"* Please prov ide below an explanation f or each entry  in the adjustments column."

Alejandra Garibay 209-744-4545



California Dept of Education
SACS Financial Reporting Software - SACS V6.1
File: GANN_District, Version 3 Page 3 Printed: 9/5/2023 4:28 PM

Unaudited Actuals 34 67348 0000000
Galt Joint Union Elementary Fiscal Year 2022-23 Form GANN
Sacramento County School District Appropriations Limit Calculations D8AN18C7B1(2022-23)

2022-23
Calculations

2023-24
Calculations

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

Extracted
Data Adjustments*

Entered
Data/
Totals

Gann Contact Person Contact Phone Number



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023   Agenda Item: 232.423 
Board Consideration of Approval of Substitute 
Teacher Rate Increase 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
Information Item: 

 
 

In an effort to attract and retain highly qualified substitute teachers, the GJUESD has researched 
teacher substitute pay rates in the surrounding districts. Based on that research, the following daily 
rates have been adjusted for your review: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New rates effective 10/01/2023. 

Board approval is recommended. 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 

 Recommendation Current Rates 

Daily $220 $210 

Multiple Day (15+ days) $240 $230 

Long Term (long-term vacancy or leave of 
absence or 15 or more consecutive days) 

$300 $270 

GJUESD Retirees $240 $230 

 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District
Substitute Teacher 

2023-2024 

Daily Rate $220 Per Day 

Multiple Day (15+ days) $240 Per Day 

Long Term (long term vacancy or leave of absence of 15 or 
more consecutive days) 

$300 Per Day 

GJUESD Retiree – Daily Rate $240 Per Day 

Pending Board Approval 

Effective 10/01/2023



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.424 
First Reading and Board Consideration of 
Approval of Board Policy 3314.2 Revolving 
Funds 
 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

Board Policy 3314.2 Revolving Funds is updated to allow the District to authorize a 
revolving fund set for electronic payments. The revolving account for electronic payments 
shall be used for donations and fundraisers. 
 
Customarily, CSBA recommends that school districts place board policies and 
administrative regulations on the board meeting agenda as an information item with the 
opportunity for public comment and then as an action item for approval at a subsequent 
board meeting. However, a second reading is generally not required by law and may be 
waived by the board as specified in CSBA sample Board Bylaw 9310 – Board Policies.  
 
This first reading and adoption will allow the District to immediately accept donations and 
fundraisers via electronic payment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Policy 3314.2: Revolving FundsPolicy 3314.2: Revolving Funds Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008

The Governing Board has a fiduciary responsibility to effectively manage and safeguard the district's assets and
resources.  All revolving cash funds shall be subject to the internal control procedures established by the district to
prevent and detect fraud, financial impropriety, or irregularity and shall be maintained in accordance with law and the
California School Accounting Manual.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide regular reports to the Board regarding the use of revolving funds and
the results of any audits conducted on the funds.

Standard Revolving Cash Fund

Pursuant to Education Code 42800, the Board has adopted a resolution establishing a revolving cash fund for use by
the chief accounting officer.  The fund shall be used only for the purposes specified in the Board's resolution which
may include, but are not limited to, payment for services or supplies for which there is an urgent deadline or to
reduce the need for issuing numerous small warrants.

The chief accounting officer shall be covered by an individual bond or insurance in the amounts specified in law. 
He/she shall ensure that payments from the fund are for services or materials that are a legal charge against the
district and that a receipt is obtained setting forth the date, payee, purpose of the expenditure, and amount
expended.  (Education Code 41021, 42801, 42801.5, 42804)

The Board may at any time reduce or discontinue the revolving cash fund.  (Education Code 42805)

Pre-Payment Revolving Cash Fund

Pursuant to Education Code 42820, the Board has adopted a resolution establishing a pre-payment revolving cash
fund for use by the individual so designated in the Board's resolution.

The fund shall be established in a bank or other institution whose deposits are federally insured and shall be within
the maximum limit specified in law. (Education Code 42820)

The designated individual shall be authorized to make payments from the fund for purchases in the amount of
$1,000 or less, including freight or tax.  He/she shall submit a monthly list of the payments to the Board for
approval.  (Education Code 42821)

Any person who issues a check drawn on the fund shall be personally liable for the amount of the check if the
expenditure is in violation of the district's rules and regulations with respect to the fund.  (Education Code 42821)

Alternative Revolving Cash Fund

Pursuant to Education Code 42810, the Board has adopted a resolution establishing a revolving cash fund for use by
school principals and other administrative staff.  The fund shall be used for services or materials related to classroom
instruction or to correct an error in a classified employee's salary pursuant to Education Code 45167, as specified in
the Board's resolution.

The Board shall authorize a revolving fund set for electronic payments. The revolving account for electronic
payments shall be used for e.g., donations and fundraisers.

The revolving cash fund for supplies shall be subject to the bonding provisions of Education Code 42801.

The principal or administrative staff member in whose name the revolving cash fund is created shall be responsible
for all fund expenditures, subject to Board regulation.  (Education Code 42810)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 
 

Meeting Date: September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.425 
Board Consideration of Approval to Open 
Venmo Account for Galt Joint Union 
Elementary School District 

Presenter: Alejandra Garibay Action Item: XX 
  Information Item: 
 
 

The Galt Joint Union Elementary School District will use the Venmo account to receive 
electronic payments, e.g., donations and fundraisers. 

 

 
 
 

Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 | www.galt.k12.ca.us

MISSION STATEMENT 
The school district’s mission is to promote growth and achievement through innovative educational programs that integrate 

personal strengths, social-emotional and academic learning for all children. 

Superintendent: Lois Yount | Chief Business Official: Alejandra Garibay 
Curriculum Director: Claudia Del Toro-Anguiano | Educational Services Director: Kuljeet Nijjar 

Board of Trustees: Wesley Cagle, Traci Skinner, Casey Raboy, Annette Kunze, Katherine Harper 

September 21, 2023 

Re: Approval to Open Venmo Account 

To whom it may concern:  

Please accept this letter as authorization to open Venmo account to accept electronic payments 
for e.g donations and fundraisers. Galt JUESD schools are authorized under our Tax ID 94-
6002510, as the district is the parent company. While Galt Joint Union Elementary School 
District is a public entity, the bank accounts are not considered public funds but are considered 
non-profit organizations. 

Authorized signatories: 

Lois Yount, Superintendent 
Alejandra Garibay, Chief Business Official 
Brenda Bachmann, Fiscal Services Supervisor 

Sincerely, 

Alejandra Garibay 

Chief Business Official 



Galt Joint Union Elementary School District 
1018 C Street, Suite 210, Galt, CA 95632 

209-744 4545 * 209-744-4553 fax 
 
 
  

Board Meeting Agenda Item Information 

 

Meeting Date:      September 20, 2023 Agenda Item: 232.426 
Board Consideration of Approval of the Following 
Board Policies (BP), Administrative Regulations (AR) 
and Bylaw (BB): 
 

Superintendent 
1. BP 1113 - District and School Websites 

AR 1113 - District and School Websites 
2. BP 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units 
3. BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials 
Curriculum 
4. BP 4112.2 – Certification 

AR 4112.2 – Certification 
5. BP 6174 - Education for English Learners 

AR 6174 - Education for English Learners 
Educational Services 
6. BP 5141.5 - Mental Health 
7. BP 5148 - Child Care and Development 

AR 5148 - Child Care and Development 
8. DELETE: BP 6146.4 - Differential Graduation and 

Competency Standards for Students with Disabilities  
9. BP 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and 

Agency Services for Special Education 
AR 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and 
Agency Services for Special Education 
 

Presenter:            Cabinet Action Item: XX 
 Information Item:  

 
A first reading of the Board Policies (BP), Administrative Regulations (Ars), and Bylaw (BB) above 
was held on August 16, 2023. 
 
Board approval is recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



CSBA June 2023 POLICY GUIDE 
First Reading: August 16, 2023 
Adoption: September 20, 2023

SUPERINTENDENT 

1. Board Policy 1113 - District and School Websites
Policy updated to incorporate concepts from NEW LAW (AB 2273, 2022) which, although not
necessarily applicable to districts, requires a business that provides an online service, product,
or feature likely to be accessed by children to comply with specified requirements and provides
good guidance for districts seeking to create a safe online space for students.

Administrative Regulation 1113 – District and School Websites
Regulation last updated by GJUESD on 2/27/08. CSBA updated on 10/1/17.

2. Board Policy 4140/4240/4340 - Bargaining Units
Policy updated to align the definition of "management employee" with code language and to
reference NEW LAW (SB 931, 2022) which provides that any district found by the Public
Employment Relations Board to be in violation of the prohibition against deterring or
discouraging district employees or job applicants from becoming or remaining members of an
employee organization, authorizing representation by an employee organization, or
authorizing dues or fee deductions to an employee organization, may be subject to civil
penalties of $1,000 for each affected employee, up to a maximum of $100,000 in total, and may 
be ordered to pay attorney's fees and costs to the employee organization. Policy also updated
to specify that the Superintendent or designee may communicate with district employees
regarding their rights to join and/or support an officially recognized employee organization or
to refrain from joining or supporting an officially recognized employee organization, add
applicable number of days for compulsory interest arbitration related to access to new
employee orientation, expand the material regarding district requirements for new employee
orientations that are applicable until June 30, 2025, reference NEW LAW (SB 1131, 2022) which
extends the Safe at Home address confidentiality program to employees who face threats of
violence, or violence or harassment from the public because of the employee's work for the
district, and clarify language regarding information that should not be disclosed when an
employee submits a written request to keep specified information private.

3. Board Bylaw 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials
Bylaw updated to move material regarding public comments to be with content related
language, amend language to be more closely aligned with code language, add material
regarding the means for in-person and remote public comments, and reflect NEW LAW (AB
2449, 2022), which requires boards to maintain and implement a procedure for receiving and
swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation to board meetings for individuals
with disabilities. Bylaw also updated to provide that each agenda for a regular meeting is
required to list the address designated by the Superintendent or designee for public inspection
of documents related to records of a statement threatening litigation against the district to be
discussed in closed session, in addition to documents related to open session, when such
documents have been distributed to the Governing Board less than 72 hours before a Board
meeting, clarify that the Board president and Superintendent decide when an item is placed on



the agenda, include that public records under the Public Records Act and which relate to an 
agenda item which contain a claim or written threat of litigation which will be discussed in 
closed session are required to be made available to the public, in addition to documents which 
relate to an agenda item scheduled for the open session of a regular meeting, and NEW LAW 
(AB 2647, 2022) which clarifies how districts can, without opening their offices after normal 
business hours, comply with the portion of the Brown Act that requires writings or documents 
distributed to a majority of a local legislative body less than 72 hours before a meeting to also 
be distributed to the public. 

CURRICULUM 

4. Board Policy 4112.2 – Certification
Policy updated to reference that the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) has adopted
regulations to implement statutory changes to the subject matter competence requirements,
add, to the first philosophical paragraph, demonstration of competency in the subject matter
to be taught to the attributes of certificated staff, provide that the Governing Board is required
to adopt an annual resolution that it has made reasonable efforts to recruit a fully prepared
teacher before hiring, in accordance with a specified hiring hierarchy, a candidate who is not
fully credentialed, clarify that the Board's obligation to take action to approve a notice of intent
to employ a provisional internship permit does not require that the item be an action item, and
add that the Declaration of Need specify each subject to be listed on the General Education
Limited Assignment Single Subject Teaching Permits and the target language on Emergency
Bilingual Permits.

Administrative Regulation 4112.2 – Certification 
Regulation updated to clarify that the district may charge a fee to persons being tested to cover 
the cost of developing, administering, and grading the district proficiency test, include 
administrative leave related to dismissal and suspension proceedings and military leave as 
types of leaves for which the Superintendent or designee may request the Commission on 
Teacher Credentialing (CTC) to issue a Teaching Permit for Statutory Leave, and add a new 
section "Early Childhood Education Emergency Specialist Permit/Emergency Transitional 
Kindergarten Permit" (ETK) which reflects NEW LAW (AB 210, 2022) authorizing the district to 
request a one-year early childhood education emergency specialist permit which allows the 
teaching of all subjects in a self-contained transitional kindergarten general education 
classroom. Regulation also updated to reference NEW LAW (SB 1397, 2022) which requires 
CTC, until July 1, 2024, to waive the basic skills proficiency requirement for the issuance of an 
emergency 30-day substitute permit and NEW LAW (AB 1876, 2022) which requires CTC to 
accept an alternative verification of substitute teaching as part of the requirements for initial 
issuance of an emergency career substitute teaching permit. 

5. Board Policy 6174 - Education for English Learners
Policy updated to remove outdated material and reflect NEW LAW (SB 941, 2022) which permits
a district to enter into an instruction collaboration agreement with another school district,
county office of education, or charter school to offer the same or similar courses and
coursework to students who have been impacted by teacher shortages, disruptions, or
cancellations to science, technology, engineering, and mathematics classes, or dual language
immersion programs.



Administrative Regulation 6174 - Education for English Learners 
Regulation updated to remove outdated material and reflect updated information from the 
California Department of Education's (CDE) English Learner Federal Program Monitoring 2022-
23 Instrument, CDE's Reclassification Criteria website, and letters from CDE which provide 
updated reclassification guidance regarding the criteria used to determine whether an English 
learner should be reclassified, including a review of the student's curriculum mastery and 
academic performance, the provision of an interpreter for parents/guardians, when necessary, 
as part of the parent/guardian involvement, comparison of student performance on an 
objective assessment of basic skills in English against an empirically established range of 
performance in basic skills, based on the performance of English proficient students of the same 
age, which demonstrates whether the student is sufficiently proficient in English to participate 
effectively in a curriculum designed for students of the same age whose native language is 
English. Regulation also updated to include that the four years of post-reclassification 
monitoring should be utilized to ensure that students have not prematurely exited, any 
academic deficit incurred through participation in the English learner program has been 
remedied, and the students are meaningfully participating in the standard instructional 
program compared to students who had never participated in an English learner program. 
Additionally, regulation updated to clarify that the LCAP advisory committee provides input 
regarding exiting language acquisition programs and the possible establishment of other 
programs. 

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES 

6. Board Policy 5141.5 - Mental Health
Policy updated to expand the first philosophical paragraph and reflect the U.S. Surgeon
General's NEW GUIDANCE regarding the importance of social connection and the impact of
social media on health and well-being. Policy also updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 14, 2021)
which requires the California Department of Education (CDE) to recommend best practices and
identify training programs to address student behavioral and mental health, including common
psychiatric conditions and substance use disorders, safely deescalating crisis situations
involving students with a behavioral health disorder, linking students with referrals, and
providing instruction on how to maintain student privacy and confidentiality. Policy also
updated to reflect that districts are required to notify students and parents/guardians twice a
year about how to access mental health services, NEW LAW (AB 748, 2022) which requires each 
school site serving students in any of grades 6-12 to create a mental health poster, and NEW
LAW (AB 167, 2021) which requires CDE to develop guidelines for the use of telehealth
technology in schools.

7. Board Policy 5148 - Child Care and Development
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 210, 2022) which (1) provides grant funding until June
30, 2027 for the purpose of increasing access to inclusive early care and education programs,
(2) extends the date by which the California Department of Education and the California
Department of Social Services (CDSS) are required to adopt implementing regulations related
to early childhood development, and (3) specifies as one of the indicators for the
implementation of quality child care and development programs that staff have the
appropriate and required training, or any combination of qualifications, experience, or training.
Policy also updated to delete material specific to COVID-19 and reflect a district's obligation to
provide distance learning when a child care program is physically closed by a local or state public 



health order, reference that the Commission on Teacher Credentialing has adopted regulations 
pertaining to the prekindergarten-grade 3 early childhood education specialist credential that 
include requirements, and accelerated pathways to meet the requirements, in an effort to 
increase the number of early childhood education teachers, and reference NEW LAW (AB 2827, 
2022) which requires CDSS to revise its regulations to permit children with disabilities to use 
outdoor play spaces simultaneously with children who do not have disabilities without having 
to first seek a regulatory waiver and to specify any health and safety requirements that are 
required to be met when simultaneous play occurs. 

Administrative Regulation 5148 - Child Care and Development 
Regulation updated to reference NEW LAW (AB 2131, 2022) which authorizes the California 
Department of Social Services (CDSS) to implement and administer the creation of a single child 
care center license through all-county or similar written instruction until regulations are 
adopted and to reflect NEW LAW (AB 210, 2022) which (1) specifies as one of the indicators for 
the implementation of quality child care and development program activities that meet the 
needs of dual language learners, and (2) provides that when eligibility for child care and 
development services are based on an adjusted monthly family income at or below 85 percent 
of the state median income, adjusted for family size, that calculation does not include foster care 
payments made on behalf of a child or guaranteed income payments. Regulation also updated 
to delete outdated material regarding the requirement to test for lead contamination in 
drinking water for buildings constructed before January 1, 2010, reference NEW LAW (AB 185, 
2022) which requires CDSS to adopt regulations regarding the exclusion from family income of 
foster care payments made on behalf of a child or income guaranteed income payments, as 
described above, and reflect NEW LAW (SB 1047, 2022) which (1) extends eligibility for child 
care and development programs to families in which a member of the family has been certified 
as eligible to receive benefits from specified means tested government programs and that 
priority for enrollment must be based on the income declared on the application of the 
government program, and (2) provides that upon establishing initial eligibility or ongoing ability 
for child care and development services, a family is considered to meet eligibility and need 
requirements for services for not less than 24 months before having eligibility or need 
recertified, unless an exceptions exists. In addition, regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 
321, 2022) which provides that in the second priority category for enrollment, when there are 
two or more families with the same income ranking, children who reside in homes in which the 
primary language is not English are required to be admitted first, add material regarding a family 
establishing eligibility for child care and development services on the basis of receiving services 
under a CalWORKs Stage 1,2, or 3 program since this differs from the 24 month eligibility period 
as described above, delete material applicable only to the 2021-22 school year, add that 
licensed child care centers are required to post their rates, and discounts or scholarship policies, 
if any, in a prominent location adjacent to the license at the child care facility, add a new section 
entitled "Expulsion/Unenrollment and Suspension Based on Behavior" which reflects NEW LAW 
(AB 2806, 2022) establishing requirements for expulsion, unenrollment, or suspension of a child 
from a child care and development program and reflects a joint statement by the U.S. 
Department of Education and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services in regard to 
ensuring that children with disabilities are not suspended or expelled because of disability-
related behaviors. Additionally, regulation updated to more closely align with law the order of 
disenrollment when necessary due to a reduction in state reimbursements, delete material 
related to the personal belief exemption as this exemption no longer exists, clarify that medical 
exemptions are required to specify how long the exemption is expected to be needed and that 



it may not extend beyond the current grade span, reflect NEW LAW (AB 1797, 2022) which 
requires child care centers to disclose specified immunization information to local health 
departments operating countywide or regional immunization information and reminder 
systems and the California Department of Public Health, clarify that verification of an excused 
absence be signed by the district's authorized representative if verification is made by 
telephone, include procedures districts are required to follow when a child has been absent 
and the family has not been in communication with the district's child care and development 
services program coordinator or site supervisor for seven consecutive calendar days, specify 
that any appeal from a hearing requested by a parent/guardian regarding a Notice of Action be 
appealed to the Child Development Division, and add a new section entitled "Coordinating 
Transitions" which includes material regarding the district's obligations when a child in the 
district's child care and development program transfers to a local public school and reflects 
NEW LAW (SB 188, 2022) which requires districts to designate a main point of contact for 
coordinating and completing the transition of a child and family from Part C of the Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), infant/toddler programs, to Part B of IDEA, preschool. 

8. Board Policy 6146.4 - Differential Graduation and Competency Standards for Students with
Disabilities
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) requires districts to exempt
an eligible student with a disability from all coursework and other requirements adopted by the
Board that are in addition to the statewide course requirements and award such student a
high school diploma, and (2) provides that any such exempted student is eligible to participate
in any graduation ceremony and school activity in which a student of similar age without a
disability would be eligible to participate.

9. Board Policy 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for Special
Education
Policy updated to reflect a December 2022 Davis Joint Unified School District Resolution
Agreement with the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, regarding the use of
seclusion and restraint as it relates to a free appropriate public education for students with
disabilities placed in nonpublic schools.

Administrative Regulation 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for
Special Education
Regulation last updated by GJUESD on 2/27/08. CSBA updated on 7/1/20.



Policy 1113: District And School WebsitesPolicy 1113: District And School Websites Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008

To enhance communication with students, parents/guardians, staff, and community members, the Governing Board
encourages the Superintendent or designee to develop and maintain district and school websites. The use of district
and school websites shall support the district's vision and goals and shall be coordinated with other district
communications strategies.

Design Standards

The Superintendent or designee shall establish design standards for district and school websites in order to maintain
a consistent identity, professional appearance, and ease of use.

District design standards shall require an evaluation of products, features, and content accessible to students on
district and school websites to prevent access to harmful or potentially harmful material.

The district's design standards shall address the accessibility of district and school websites to individuals with
disabilities, including compatibility with commonly used assistive technologies.

Website Content

The Superintendent or designee shall develop content guidelines for district and school websites and assign staff to
review and approve content prior to posting.

Board policy pertaining to advertising in district and school publications, as specified in BP 1325 - Advertising and
Promotion, shall also apply to advertising on district and school websites.

Privacy Rights

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the privacy rights of students, parents/guardians, staff, Board
members, and other individuals are protected on district and school websites.

Telephone numbers and home and email addresses of students and/or their parents/guardians shall not be published
on district or school websites.

The district regards photographs as a category of directory information that would not generally be considered
harmful or an invasion of privacy if disclosed. Therefore, a student's photograph, together with the student's name,
may be published on district or school websites unless the student's parent/guardian has notified the district in
writing to not release the student's photograph without prior written consent, in accordance with BP/AR 5125.1 -
Release of Directory Information.

If students' names are not included, photographs of individual students or groups of students, such as at a school
event, may be published on school or district websites.

Employees' home addresses, personal telephone numbers, and personal email addresses shall not be posted on
district or school websites.

The home address or telephone number of any elected or appointed official including, but not limited to, a Board
member or public safety official, shall not be posted on district or school websites without the prior written
permission of that individual.  (Government Code 3307.5, 7928.205, 7920.535)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

1



No public safety official shall be required to consent to the posting on the Internet of the public safety official's
photograph or identity as a public safety officer for any purpose if that officer reasonably believes that the disclosure
may result in a threat, harassment, intimidation, or harm to the officer or the officer's family.  (Government Code
3307.5)



Regulation 1113: District And School WebsitesRegulation 1113: District And School Websites Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008

Design Standards

The Superintendent or designee shall develop design standards for district and school websites that include, but are
not limited to, guidelines to ensure the clear organization of the material, readability of the font type and size, and
simplicity of the navigation structure linking the content on the website. Such standards shall take into consideration
the ease of use on a wide range of devices.

In accordance with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the federal
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, district and school websites shall contain features that ensure accessibility for individuals
with disabilities, which may include, but are not limited to, captions for videos and multimedia presentations, text
alternatives to images, provision of sufficient time to use the content, avoidance of flashing images, adequate
contrast in visual presentations, and/or other features that meet applicable standards for website accessibility. The
Superintendent or designee shall regularly review district and school websites and modify them as needed to ensure
legal compliance with accessibility standards.

Website Content

As applicable, district and school websites shall provide current information regarding the district's mission and goals,
district/school programs and operations, district/school news, agendas and minutes of Governing Board meetings,
School Accountability Report Cards, school calendars, links to educational resources.

With approval of the principal, individual teachers may create web pages linked to the district or school website to
provide information pertaining to class assignments, expectations, and activities.

Student work may be published on district or school websites provided that both the student and the student's
parent/guardian provide written permission or the work is part of an existing publication such as a school
newspaper.

Any copyrighted material to be posted on a district or school website shall be submitted to the Superintendent or
designee together with the permission of the copyright owner to reprint the material. Any copyrighted material
submitted without the copyright owner's permission shall only be posted on a district or school website if the
Superintendent or designee determines that the material is in the public domain or that the intended use meets the
criteria for fair use or another exception pursuant to 17 USC 107-122. When any copyrighted material is posted, the
website shall include a notice crediting the copyright owner and, as necessary, shall note that permission to reprint
the material was granted.

Whenever a district or school website includes links to external websites, it shall include a disclaimer that the district
is not responsible for the content of external websites.

Roles and Responsibilities

Any employee assigned as a district or school webmaster shall be responsible for the uploading of material to the
website(s) upon approval of the Superintendent or designee.  The employee shall review district and school websites
to ensure consistency with district standards, regularly check links for accuracy and appropriateness, keep the web
server free of outdated or unused files, and provide technical assistance as needed.

The Superintendent or designee may assign additional staff members to conduct editorial reviews of all materials
submitted for publication on district or school websites and to make corrections as needed in spelling, grammar, or
accuracy of content.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide staff development opportunities related to district content guidelines,
design standards, and accessibility laws and standards to district communications and technology staff, district and

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



school webmasters, and/or other appropriate staff.

Security

The Superintendent or designee shall establish security procedures for the district's computer network to prevent
unauthorized access and changes to district and school websites. To the extent possible, the host computer(s) shall
be in a lockable room with restricted access.



Status:Status: DRAFT

The Governing Board recognizes the right of district employees to form a bargaining unit and to select an employee
organization as the exclusive representative to represent the employees in the employees' employment relationship
with the district. The Board is committed to negotiating in good faith with recognized employee organizations and
respecting the rights of employees and employee organizations.

The district shall not dominate or interfere with the formation or administration of any employee organization or
contribute financial or other support to it.  (Government Code 3543.5)

Employees shall not be prohibited from wearing union buttons or other items that favor or oppose the formation of a
bargaining unit or any matter that is the subject of negotiations.

Formation of Bargaining Units

Certificated and classified employees shall not be included in the same bargaining unit.  (Government Code 3545)

A bargaining unit of supervisory employees may be recognized if the bargaining unit includes all supervisory
employees and is not represented by an employee organization that represents district employees who are
supervised by the supervisory employees.  (Government Code 3545)

For this purpose, supervisory employee means any employee, regardless of job description, having authority, in the
interest of the district, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other
employees, or the responsibility to assign work to, direct, or adjust grievance of other employees, or effectively
recommend that action, when the exercise of that authority is not of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires
the use of independent judgment.  (Government Code 3540.1)

Employees serving in management, senior management, or confidential positions shall not be represented by an
exclusive representative. In the employment relationship with the district, such employees may represent
themselves or be represented by an employee organization whose membership is composed entirely of employees
designated as holding those positions. An employee organization representing management or confidential
employees shall not be permitted to meet and negotiate with the district on behalf of the employees.  (Government
Code 3543.4)

Management employee means an employee in a position having significant responsibilities for formulating district
policies or administering district programs. Management positions shall be designated by the Board which may be
subject to review by the Public Employment Relations Board.  (Government Code 3540.1)

Confidential employee means any employee who is required to develop or present management positions with
respect to employer-employee relations or whose duties normally require access to confidential information that is
used to contribute significantly to the development of management positions.  (Government Code 3540.1)

Membership

The district shall not deter or discourage employees or job applicants from becoming or remaining members of an
employee organization, authorizing representation by an employee organization, or authorizing dues or fee
deductions to an employee organization. In addition, the district shall not impose or threaten to impose reprisals on
employees, discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, or otherwise interfere with, restrain, or
coerce employees because of their membership or nonmembership in an employee organization.  (Government Code
3543.5, 3550, 3551.5)

The Superintendent or designee may communicate with district employees regarding their rights to join and/or
support an officially recognized employee organization or to refrain from joining or supporting an officially

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

Policy 4140/4240/4340: Bargaining Units
Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008 | Last Revised Date: 11/28/20222



recognized employee organization. Such communications shall be factual and accurate, and may not promise a
benefit, threaten a reprisal, or in any way deter or discourage employees from joining an employee organization or
paying dues.

However, before disseminating to multiple employees any mass communication concerning employees' rights under
the law, such as a written document or script for oral or recorded presentation or message, the Superintendent or
designee shall meet and confer with the employees' exclusive representative regarding the content of the
communication. If the district and exclusive representative do not come to agreement on the content of the mass
communication, the Superintendent or designee may disseminate the district's mass communication, provided that at
the same time, copies of the exclusive representative's communication, which shall be of reasonable length, are also
distributed.  (Government Code 3553)

Access to New Employee Orientations

The district shall permit employee organizations access to new employee orientation or onboarding process where
newly hired employees are advised, whether in person, online, or through other means or mediums, of their
employment status, rights, benefits, duties, responsibilities, or any other employment-related matters. The district
shall provide employee organizations at least 10 days' notice in advance of an orientation, except that a shorter
notice may be provided if an unforeseeable, urgent need critical to the district's operation prevents the required 10
days' notice.  (Government Code 3555.5, 3556)

Following a request to negotiate by either party, the structure, time, and manner of access to new employee
orientations shall be determined by mutual agreement of the district and the exclusive representative. If the district
and exclusive representative fail to reach an agreement, matters related to access to the new employee orientation
shall be subject to compulsory interest arbitration. The district and employee organization may mutually agree to
submit any dispute to compulsory interest arbitration at any time. In addition, if any dispute arises during
negotiations and is not resolved within 45 days after the first meeting or within 60 days after the initial request to
negotiate, whichever is earlier, either party may make a demand for compulsory interest arbitration. The arbitrator
selection process shall commence within 14 days of a party's demand for compulsory interest arbitration. When any
such dispute arises during the summer when the district's administrative office is closed, the timeline shall commence
on the first day the administrative office reopens. The decision of the arbitrator shall be issued within 10 days and
shall be final and binding on the parties.  (Government Code 3556, 3557)

The date, time, and place of a new employee orientation shall not be disclosed to anyone other than employees, the
exclusive representative, or a vendor that is contracted to provide a service for purposes of the orientation.
 (Government Code 3556)

Until June 30, 2025, in addition to above provisions regarding new employee orientations, the district shall ensure
the following:  (Government Code 3556)

1. When an inperson new employee orientation has not been conducted within 30 days of hiring any new
employee who is working in person, the Superintendent or designee shall permit the exclusive representative
to schedule an inperson meeting which newly hired employees shall have an opportunity to attend, at the
employee's worksite and during employment hours. Each newly hired employee within the bargaining unit shall
be provided at least 30 minutes of paid time to attend the meeting, during which the exclusive representative
shall be permitted to communicate directly with the newly hired employees.

Within seven days of an exclusive representative's request to schedule such an inperson meeting, the
Superintendent or designee shall provide an appropriate on-site meeting space.

2. When, by reason of a state or local public health order limiting the size of gatherings, the district is prohibited
from organizing a new employee orientation, an exclusive representative may schedule multiple meetings to
ensure that newly hired employees have an opportunity to attend without exceeding the maximum allowable
number of people. If such an order prohibits all gatherings, the exclusive representative may schedule a
meeting(s) once the order is lifted or modified to permit gatherings.

Alternative access to these meetings shall be determined through mutual agreement between the district and
the exclusive representative.

Access to Employee Contact Information



The Superintendent or designee shall provide an exclusive representative with the name, job title, department, work
location, telephone numbers (work, home, and personal cell phone), personal email address(es) on file with the
district, and home address of any newly hired employee within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month
following hire, unless the exclusive representative has agreed to a different interval for the provision of the
information. In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the exclusive representative the same
information in regard to all employees in the bargaining unit at least every 120 days, unless more frequent or
detailed lists are required by agreement with the exclusive representative.  (Government Code 3558, 7928.300)

However, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose:  (Government Code 3558, 6207, 6215, 6215.2,
7928.300)

1. The home address and any phone numbers on file for employees performing law enforcement-related
functions

2. The home address, home telephone or personal cell phone number(s), or personal email address(es) of any
employee who is a participant in the Safe at Home address confidentiality program pursuant to Government
Code 6207

3. The employee's home address, home telephone and personal cell phone numbers, and personal email address
of an employee not performing law enforcement related functions if the employee has submitted a written
request to keep such information private. In such instances, the Superintendent or designee shall also remove
the employee's home address, and home telephone and personal cell phone numbers from any mailing list
maintained by the district unless the list is only used by the district to contact the employee.

Within 20 calendar days after an exclusive representative notifies the Superintendent or designee that a list of
employees provided by the district is inaccurate or incomplete, the Superintendent or designee shall take steps to
correct the list and provide a new list of employees to the exclusive representative.  (Government Code 3558)

To provide accurate information, the Superintendent or designee shall review the list of contact information for
district employees at the beginning of each school year, or more often as appropriate.

Communications with Employees

Employee organizations may have access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work and may use district
facilities at reasonable times for the purpose of meetings. Subject to reasonable regulation, employee organizations
may also use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of communication to communicate with
employees.  (Government Code 3543.1)

Access to district means of communication shall be limited in cases where such access would be disruptive to district
operations.

Membership Dues or Other Payments to an Employee Organization

When drawing an order for the salary or wage payment of a bargaining unit employee of an employee organization,
the district shall deduct any amount which has been requested by the employee in a revocable written authorization
for the purpose of paying dues or other payments for any service, program, or committee provided or sponsored by
the employee organization.  (Education Code 45060, 45168)

An employee organization that certifies that it has and will maintain individual employee authorizations shall handle
and process employee written authorizations for payroll deductions. When an employee organization provides such
a certification to the district, the district shall rely on information from the employee organization regarding the
amounts of such payroll deductions and from which employees. The employee organization shall not be required to
submit to the district a copy of the written authorization in order for the payroll deductions to be effective.
However, when there is a dispute about the existence or terms of the written authorization, a copy of the
employee's written authorization shall be submitted to the district. The employee organization shall indemnify the
district for any employee claims regarding payroll deductions made by the district in reliance on notification from the
employee organization.  (Education Code 45060, 45168)



When an employee organization which has declined to certify that it will handle and process employee written
authorizations makes a request for payroll deductions, the district shall request a copy of the employee's written
authorization before making the payroll deductions.  (Education Code 45060, 45168)

A written authorization shall remain in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee and pursuant to the
terms of the written authorization. Employee requests to cancel or change authorizations for payroll deductions for
employee organizations shall be directed to the employee organization rather than the district. The employee
organization shall be responsible for processing these requests. The district shall rely on the information provided by
the employee organization regarding whether deductions for an employee organization were properly canceled or
changed. The employee organization shall be required to indemnify the district for any claims made by an employee
for deductions made by the district in reliance on information from the employee organization.  (Education Code
45060, 45168)



Bylaw 9322: Agenda/Meeting MaterialsBylaw 9322: Agenda/Meeting Materials Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008 | Last Revised Date:| Last Revised Date: 06/22/2022

Agenda Content

Governing Board meeting agendas shall reflect the district's vision and goals and the Board's focus on student
learning and well-being.

Each agenda shall state the meeting time and location and shall briefly describe each item to be transacted or
discussed, including items to be discussed in closed session.  (Government Code 54954.2)

The agenda shall provide members of the public the opportunity to address the Board on any agenda item before or
during the Board's consideration of the item. The agenda for a regular meeting shall also provide members of the
public an opportunity to address the Board regarding matters within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board
which are not on the agenda.  (Education Code 35145.5; Government Code 54954.3)

The agenda does not need to provide an opportunity for public comment on an item that has previously been
considered at an open meeting by a committee comprised exclusively of Board members, provided that members of
the public were afforded an opportunity to comment on the item, before or during the committee's consideration of
the item, and the item has not been substantially changed since the committee considered it.  (Government Code
54954.3)

The notice and agenda shall describe the means available for the public to access the meeting and provide public
comment in-person and, if a Board member is appearing remotely due to an emergency circumstance or for just
cause pursuant to Government Code 54953, through an internet-based service or call-in option.  (Government Code
54953)

The agenda shall include information regarding how, when, and to whom a request for disability-related
accommodations or modifications, including auxiliary aids and services, may be made by an individual who requires
accommodations or modifications in order to participate in the Board meeting, as well as the procedure for receiving
and resolving such requests as required by law.  (Government Code 54954.2, 54953)

Each agenda for a regular meeting shall list the address designated by the Superintendent or designee for public
inspection of documents related to an open session item, or for records of a statement threatening litigation against
the district to be discussed in closed session, when such documents have been distributed to the Board less than 72
hours before the meeting.  (Government Code 54956.9, 54957.5)

Agenda Preparation

The Board president and the Superintendent, as secretary to the Board, shall work together to develop the agenda
for each regular and special meeting.

Any Board member or member of the public may request that a matter within the jurisdiction of the Board be placed
on the agenda of a regular meeting. The request shall be submitted in writing to the Superintendent or designee with
supporting documents and information.

The Board president and Superintendent shall decide whether a request from a member of the public is within the
subject matter jurisdiction of the Board. Items not within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board may not be
placed on the agenda. In addition, before placing the item on the agenda, the Board president and Superintendent
shall determine if the item is merely a request for information, and if so, respond accordingly.

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

3



If the Board president and Superintendent deny a request from a Board member to place an item on the agenda, the
Board member may request the Board take action during a Board meeting to determine whether the item shall be
placed on the agenda.

The Board president and Superintendent shall also decide whether an agenda item is appropriate for discussion in
open or closed session, whether the item should be an action item subject to Board vote or an information item, and
when the item is placed on the agenda.

In order to promote efficient meetings, the Board may bundle a number of items and act upon them together by a
single vote through the use of a consent agenda. Consent items shall be items of a routine nature and items for
which Board discussion is not anticipated and for which the Superintendent recommends approval. When any Board
member requests the removal of an item from the consent agenda, the item shall be removed and given individual
consideration for action as a separate agenda item.

The agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to comment on any consent agenda item unless
such item has been previously considered at an open meeting of a committee comprised exclusively of Board
members.  (Government Code 54954.3)

Any Board action that involves borrowing $100,000 or more shall be discussed, considered, and deliberated upon as
a separate item of business on the meeting agenda.  (Government Code 53635.7)

All public communications with the Board are subject to requirements of relevant Board policies and administrative
regulations.

Agenda Dissemination to Board Members

At least 72 hours before each regular meeting, each Board member shall be provided a copy of the agenda and
agenda packet, including the Superintendent or designee's report; minutes to be approved; copies of
communications; reports from committees, staff, and others; and other available supporting documents pertinent to
the meeting.

When special meetings are called, Board members shall receive, at least 24 hours prior to the meeting, notice of the
business to be transacted.  (Government Code 54956)

Board members shall review agenda materials before each meeting. Individual members may confer directly with the
Superintendent or designee to ask questions and/or request additional information on agenda items. However, a
majority of Board members shall not, outside of a noticed meeting, directly or through intermediaries or electronic
means discuss, deliberate, or take action on any matter within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board.

Agenda Dissemination to Members of the Public

Agenda and related materials distributed to the Board shall be made available to the public upon request without
delay. However, only those documents which are disclosable public records under the Public Records Act (PRA) and
which relate to an agenda item scheduled for the open session portion of a regular meeting or which contain a claim
or written threat of litigation which will be discussed in closed session shall be made available to the public.
 (Government Code 54956.9, 54957.5)

At least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, the agenda shall be posted at one or more locations freely accessible to
members of the public.  (Government Code 54954.2)

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall post the agenda on the homepage of the district website. The
posted agenda shall be accessible through a prominent direct link to the current agenda or to the district's agenda
management platform in accordance with Government Code 54954.2. When the district utilizes an integrated
agenda management platform, the link to that platform shall take the user directly to the website with the district's
agendas, and the current agenda shall be the first available.  (Government Code 54954.2)

If a writing which relates to an open session agenda item or which contains a claim or written threat of litigation



which will be discussed in closed session during a regular Board meeting is distributed to the Board less than 72
hours prior to a meeting, the Superintendent or designee shall make the writing available for public inspection at a
designated location at the same time the document is distributed to all or a majority of the Board. However, if the
writing is distributed to at least a majority of the Board at a time when the designated location is closed to the public,
this requirement may be satisfied by posting the writing on the district website if the following conditions are met:
 (Government Code 54957.5)

1. An initial staff report or similar document containing an executive summary and any staff recommendations
related to the agenda item is made available for public inspection at the designated location at least 72 hours
before the meeting

2. The writing is immediately posted on the district's website in a position and manner that makes it clear that the
writing relates to an agenda item for the upcoming meeting

3. The district lists the website address where such writings may be accessed on all Board meeting agendas

4. A physical copy of the document is made available for public inspection at the designated location at the
beginning of the next regular business hours, but not less than 24 hours before the relevant Board meeting

The Superintendent or designee shall mail a copy of the agenda or a copy of all the documents constituting the
agenda packet to any person who requests the items. The materials shall be mailed at the time the agenda is posted
or upon distribution of the agenda to a majority of the Board, whichever occurs first.  (Government Code 54954.1)

The Superintendent or designee shall email a copy of, or a website link to, the agenda or a copy of all the documents
constituting the agenda packet to any person who requests such items to be delivered by email. If the
Superintendent or designee determines that it is technologically infeasible to do so, a copy of the agenda or a
website link to the agenda and a copy of all other documents constituting the agenda packet shall be sent to the
person who has made the request in accordance with mailing requirements specified in law.  (Government Code
54954.1)

Any request for mailed copies of agendas or agenda packets shall be in writing and shall be valid for the calendar year
in which it is filed. Written requests must be renewed following January 1 of each year.  (Government Code 54954.1)

Persons requesting mailing of the agenda or agenda packet shall pay an annual fee, as determined by the
Superintendent or designee, not to exceed the cost of providing the service.

Any document prepared by the district or Board and distributed during a public meeting shall be made available for
public inspection at the meeting. Any document prepared by another person shall be made available for public
inspection after the meeting. These requirements shall not apply to a document that is exempt from public disclosure
under the PRA.  (Government Code 54957.5)

Upon request, the Superintendent or designee shall make the agenda, agenda packet, and/or any writings distributed
at the meeting available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by the Americans
with Disabilities Act.  (Government Code 54954.1)



Policy 4112.2: CertificationPolicy 4112.2: Certification Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008 | Last Revised Date:| Last Revised Date: 10/19/2022

The Governing Board recognizes that the district's ability to provide a high-quality educational program is dependent
upon the employment of certificated staff who are adequately prepared and have demonstrated proficiency in basic
skills and competency in the subject matter to be taught. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that persons
employed to fill positions requiring certification qualifications possess the appropriate credential, permit, or other
certification document from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) and fulfill any additional state, federal,
or district requirements for the position.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide assistance and support to teachers holding preliminary credentials to
enable them to meet the qualifications required for the clear credential.

Priorities for Hiring Based on Unavailability of Credentialed Teacher

The Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to recruit a fully prepared teacher who is authorized in
the subject or setting for each assignment or, when necessary, a fully prepared teacher serving on a local assignment
option. Whenever a teacher with a clear or preliminary credential is not available, and the Board adopts a resolution
that it has made reasonable efforts to recruit a fully prepared teacher for the assignment, the Superintendent or
designee shall make reasonable efforts to recruit an individual for the assignment in the following order:  (Education
Code 44225.7)

1. A candidate who enrolls in an approved internship program in the region of the district and possesses an intern
credential

2. A candidate who is scheduled to complete preliminary credential requirements within six months and who is
granted a provisional internship permit (PIP) or short-term staff permit issued by CTC

The Board shall take action to approve, at an open Board meeting, a notice of its intent to employ a PIP
applicant for a specific position.  (5 CCR 80021.1)

3. An individual who has been granted a credential waiver by CTC

Annually, the Board shall, prior to requesting that CTC issue an emergency permit or limited assignment permit,
approve a Declaration of Need for Fully Qualified Educators. The Declaration of Need shall be approved by the
Board as an action item at a regularly scheduled open Board meeting, with the entire Declaration of Need being
included in the Board agenda  (Education Code 44225, 44225.7; 5 CCR 80023.2, 80026, 80027, 80027.1)

The Declaration of Need shall certify that there is an insufficient number of certificated persons who meet the
district's specified employment criteria for the position(s) and that the district has made reasonable efforts to recruit
individuals who meet the qualifications specified in Items #1-2 above. The Declaration of Need shall also indicate the
number and type of emergency permits and limited assigned permits that the district estimates it will need during the
valid period of the Declaration of Need, based on the previous year's actual needs and projections of enrollment. It
shall also specify each subject to be listed on the General Education Limited Assignment Single Subject Teaching
Permits and the target language on Emergency Bilingual Permits. Whenever the actual number of permits needed
exceeds the estimate by 10 percent, the Board shall revise and resubmit the Declaration of Need.  (5 CCR 80026)

Whenever it is necessary to employ noncredentialed teachers to fill a position requiring certification qualifications,
the Superintendent or designee shall provide support and guidance in accordance with law to ensure the quality of
the instructional program.

National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certification

The Superintendent or designee shall promote a career continuum that includes participation of district teachers in
professional learning that supports their completion of advanced certification awarded by the National Board for

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

4



Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS). The Superintendent or designee may coordinate a cohort of teachers
through school or district programs or other available networks.

With Board approval and funding, and consistent with the collective bargaining agreement and applicable law, the
Superintendent may provide an incentive program for teacher participation in NBPTS certification, which may
include:

1. Defraying, subsidizing, or reimbursing the registration, certification, or maintenance fees for NBPTS
certification

2. Providing bonuses, step increases, or differential pay for teachers who maintain their certification and continue
to teach in the district, with priority given to teachers at Title I schools and schools serving a majority of low-
income students

3. Providing substitute teachers to provide release time for participating teachers

4. Providing stipends for teacher participation that match other professional development stipends

5. Compensating mentor teachers who support other teachers' professional learning aligned to NBPTS standards

Parental Notifications

At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the parents/guardians of each
student attending a school receiving Title I funds that they may request information regarding the professional
qualifications of their child's classroom teacher including, but not limited to, whether the teacher:  (20 USC 6312)

1. Has met state qualification and licensing criteria for the grade levels and subject areas in which the teacher
provides instruction

2. Is teaching under emergency or other provisional status through which state qualification or licensing criteria
have been waived

3. Is teaching in the field of discipline of the teacher's certification

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians in a timely manner whenever their child
has been assigned, or has been taught for four or more consecutive weeks by, a teacher who does not meet
applicable state certification or licensure requirements at the grade level and subject area to which the teacher has
been assigned.  (20 USC 6312)



Regulation 4112.2: CertificationRegulation 4112.2: Certification Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008 | Last Revised Date:| Last Revised Date: 10/19/2022

Verification of Credentials

The Superintendent or designee shall verify that each employee in a position requiring certification qualifications
possesses a valid certification document issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC). Such verification
shall occur not later than 60 days after the commencement of employment or the renewal of a credential.
 (Education Code 44857)

The Superintendent or designee shall verify that any person who is employed by the district while CTC is processing
the application for certification possesses a temporary certificate based on a demonstration of basic skills and
completion of a criminal background check.  (Education Code 44332, 44332.5, 44332.6)

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of the appropriate certification of all employees serving in
certificated positions.

Basic Skills Proficiency

The district shall not initially hire a person in a position requiring certification, on a permanent, temporary, or
substitute basis, unless that person has demonstrated basic skills proficiency in reading, writing, and mathematics or
is specifically exempted from the requirement by law.  (Education Code 44252, 44252.6, 44830)

A person may demonstrate basic skills proficiency in reading, writing, and mathematics by:

1. Passage of the California Basic Educational Skills Test (CBEST)  (Education Code 44252.5)

2. Passage of the California Subject Examinations for Teachers: Multiple Subjects plus Writing Skills Examination

3. Passage of the California State University (CSU) Early Assessment Program or the CSU Placement
Examinations  (Education Code 44252)

4. Achieving a qualifying score on the Scholastic Aptitude Test or the American College Test (Education Code
44252)

5. Achieving a qualifying score on College Board Advanced Placement Examinations

6. Passage of a basic skills examination from another state

7. Qualifying coursework  (Education Code 44252)

8. Qualifying coursework and exams  (Education Code 44252)

The district may hire a certificated employee who has not taken a test of basic skills proficiency if the employee has
not yet been afforded the opportunity to take the test, provided that the employee takes the test at the earliest
opportunity. The employee may remain employed by the district pending the receipt of the test results.  (Education
Code 44830)

An out-of-state prepared teacher shall meet the basic skills requirement within one year of being issued a California
preliminary credential by CTC unless the teacher has completed a basic skills proficiency test in another state, passed
a basic skills proficiency test developed and administered by the district, by cooperating districts or by the county
office of education (COE), or is otherwise exempted by law. The district shall develop a basic skills proficiency test,
which shall be at least equivalent to the district test required for high school graduation, for purposes of assessing
out-of-state prepared teachers pending completion of the basic skills requirement.  (Education Code 44252,
44274.2; 5 CCR 80071.4, 80413.3)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



Any person holding or applying for a "designated subjects special subjects" credential which does not require
possession of a bachelor's degree shall pass a district proficiency test in lieu of meeting the state basic skills
proficiency requirement.  (Education Code 44252, 44830)

The district may charge a fee to persons being tested to cover the costs of developing, administering, and grading the
district proficiency test.  (Education Code 44252, 44830)

Short-Term Staff Permit

The district may request that CTC issue a short-term staff permit (STSP) to a qualified applicant whenever there is a
need to immediately fill a classroom based on unforeseen circumstances, including, but not limited to:  (5 CCR
80021)

1. Enrollment adjustments requiring the addition of another teacher

2. Inability of the teacher of record to finish the school year due to approved leave or illness

3. The applicant's need for additional time to complete preservice requirements for enrollment into an approved
internship program

4. Inability of the applicant to enroll in an approved internship program due to timelines or lack of space in the
program

5. Unavailability of a third-year extension of an internship program or the applicant's withdrawal from an
internship program

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the applicant possesses a bachelor's or higher degree from a
regionally accredited college or university, has met the basic skills proficiency requirement unless exempted by state
law or regulations, and has satisfied the coursework/experience requirements specified in 5 CCR 80021 for the
multiple subject, single subject, or education specialist STSP as appropriate.  (5 CCR 80021)

When requesting issuance of an STSP, the Superintendent or designee shall submit to CTC:  (5 CCR 80021)

1. Verification that the district has conducted a local recruitment for the permit being requested

2. Verification that the district has provided the permit holder with orientation to the curriculum and to
instruction and classroom management techniques and has assigned a mentor teacher for the term of the
permit

3. Written justification for the permit signed by the Superintendent or designee

The holder of an STSP may be assigned to provide the same service as a holder of a multiple subject, single subject,
or education specialist credential in accordance with the authorizations specified on the permit.  (5 CCR 80021)

Provisional Internship Permit

Before requesting that CTC issue a provisional internship permit (PIP), the district shall conduct a diligent search for a
suitable credentialed teacher or intern, including, but not limited to, distributing job announcements, contacting
college and university placement centers, and advertising in print or electronic media.  (5 CCR 80021.1)

Whenever a suitable credentialed teacher cannot be found after a diligent search, the Superintendent or designee
may request that CTC issue a PIP to an applicant who possesses a bachelor's or higher degree from a regionally
accredited college or university, has met the basic skills proficiency requirement unless exempted by state law or
regulations, and has satisfied the coursework/experience requirements specified in 5 CCR 80021.1 for the multiple
subject, single subject, or education specialist PIP as appropriate.  (5 CCR 80021.1)

When submitting the request for a PIP, the district shall provide verification of all of the following:  (5 CCR 80021.1,
80026.5)



1. A diligent search has been conducted for a suitable credentialed teacher or suitable qualified intern as
evidenced by documentation of the search.

2. Orientation, guidance, and assistance will be provided to the permit holder as specified in 5 CCR 80026.5.The
orientation shall include, but not be limited to, an overview of the curriculum the permit holder is expected to
teach and effective instruction and classroom management techniques at the permit holder's assigned level.
The permit holder also shall receive guidance and assistance from an experienced educator who is a
certificated district employee or a certificated retiree from a California district or COE and who has completed
at least three years of full-time classroom teaching experience.

3. The district will assist the permit holder in developing a personalized plan through a district-selected
assessment that would lead to subject-matter competence related to the permit.

4. The district will assist the permit holder to seek and enroll in subject-matter training, such as workshops or
seminars and site-based courses, along with training in test-taking strategies, and shall assist the permit holder
in meeting the credential subject-matter competence requirement related to the permit.

5. A notice of intent to employ the applicant in the identified position has been made public.The district shall
submit a copy of the agenda item presented at an open Governing Board meeting which states the name of
the applicant, the assignment in which the applicant will be employed including the name of the school,
subject(s), and grade(s) that the applicant will be teaching, and that the applicant will be employed on the basis
of a PIP. The district also shall submit a signed statement from the Superintendent or designee that the agenda
item was acted upon favorably.

6. The candidate has been apprised of steps to earn a credential and enroll in an internship program.

The holder of a PIP may be assigned to provide the same service as a holder of a multiple subject, single subject, or
education specialist credential in accordance with the authorizations specified on the permit.  (5 CCR 80021.1)

Teaching Permit for Statutory Leave

Whenever there is an anticipated need for the district to temporarily fill the teaching assignment of a teacher of
record who will be on sick leave, differential sick leave, industrial accident or illness leave, pregnancy disability leave,
administrative leave related to dismissal and suspension proceedings, military leave, or family care and medical leave
under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act or California Family Rights Act, the Superintendent or designee may
request that CTC issue a Teaching Permit for Statutory Leave (TPSL) to a qualified individual who will be serving as
the interim teacher of record. Prior to submitting an application to CTC, the district shall provide the applicant with
45 hours of preparation in the content areas listed in 5 CCR 80022.  (5 CCR 80022)

A request for the TPSL shall only be submitted if the district has made reasonable efforts to hire a substitute with a
full teaching credential that matches the setting and/or subject for the statutory leave position and no such
candidate is available.  (5 CCR 80022)

The district shall verify to CTC that it will provide the interim teacher:  (5 CCR 80022)

1. An orientation to the assignment before or during the first month of service in the statutory leave assignment

2. An average of two hours of mentoring, support, and/or coaching per week through a system of support
coordinated and/or provided by a mentor who possesses a valid life or clear credential that would also
authorize service in the statutory leave assignment

3. Lesson plans for the first four weeks of the assignment as well as continued assistance in the development of
curriculum, lesson planning, and individualized education programs

The holder of the TPSL may serve as the interim teacher of record for up to the full length of the leave(s) during the
school year.  (5 CCR 80022)

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain documentation on the assignment in accordance with 5 CCR 80022
and annually report data on the use of the TPSL to the County Superintendent of Schools for assignment monitoring



pursuant to Education Code 44258.9.  (5 CCR 80022)

The Superintendent or designee may annually request renewal of the TPSL, provided that no substitute with a full
teaching credential is available for the assignment. The application for each reissuance shall include verification that
the interim teacher has completed an additional 45 hours of preparation and the district is continuing to provide
mentoring in accordance with Items #2-3 above.  (5 CCR 80022)

Long-Term Emergency Permits

As necessary, the Superintendent or designee may request that CTC issue an emergency resource specialist permit,
emergency teacher librarian services permit, emergency crosscultural language and academic development permit
(CLAD), or emergency bilingual authorization permit.  (5 CCR 80024.3.1, 80024.6, 80024.7, 80024.8)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide any first-time recipient of an emergency teaching permit with an
orientation which, to the extent reasonably feasible, shall occur before beginning a teaching assignment. The
Superintendent or designee may vary the nature, content, and duration of the orientation to match the amount of
training and experience previously completed by the emergency permit teacher. The orientation shall include, but
not be limited to, the curriculum the teacher is expected to teach and effective techniques of classroom instruction
and classroom management at the assigned grade-level span. The emergency permit holder also shall receive
guidance and assistance from an experienced educator who is a certificated district employee or a certificated retiree
from a California district or COE and who has completed at least three years of full-time classroom teaching
experience.  (5 CCR 80026.5)

Early Childhood Education Emergency Specialist Permit/Emergency Transitional Kindergarten Permit (ETK)

If, after conducting a diligent search, the district has been unable to recruit a sufficient number of certificated
teachers, including teacher candidates pursuing full certification through internship, district internship, or other
alternative routes established by CTC, the Superintendent or designee may request CTC to issue a one-year early
childhood education (ECE) emergency specialist permit that authorizes the teacher to teach all subjects in a self-
contained transitional kindergarten (TK) general education classroom.  (Education Code 44300)

The request to CTC shall include the following justifications for the need for the ECE emergency specialist permit:
 (Education Code 44300)

1. Annual documentation that the district has adopted in policy and practice a process for conducting a diligent
search as defined in Education Code 44300

2. A Declaration of Need for Fully Qualified Educators based on the documentation set forth in Item #1, and
adopted by the Board at a regularly scheduled Board meeting

3. Verification that the district will provide the required orientation, mentoring, and support

4. The Board's receipt, at a regularly scheduled Board meeting, of a report on the orientation, mentoring, and
support described in Item #3

The district may request CTC to renew the ECE emergency specialist permit for one additional year provided the
following occurs:  (Education Code 44300)

1. The applicant verifies current enrollment in a commission-approved teacher preparation program that will
result in a credential authorizing teaching TK

2. The district submits a Declaration of Need for Fully Qualified Educators in the same manner as described in
Item #2, above

3. The district verifies that the applicant continues to successfully serve in the assignment on the basis of the ECE
emergency specialist permit

4. The district verifies continued orientation, mentoring, and support, with reporting to the Board in the same
manner as described in Item #3, above



Substitute Teaching Permits

The district may employ a person whose credential or permit authorizes substitute teaching services, provided that:

1. A person holding an emergency 30-day substitute teaching permit, STSP, PIP, TPSL, or any valid teaching or
services credential that requires at least a bachelor's degree and completion of the CBEST, shall not serve as a
substitute for more than 30 days for any one teacher during the school year or as a substitute in a special
education classroom for more than 20 days for any one teacher during the school year.  (5 CCR 80025,
80025.3, 80025.4)

2. A person with an emergency career substitute teaching permit shall not serve as a substitute for more than 60
days for any one teacher during the school year.  (5 CCR 80025.1)

3. A person with an emergency substitute teaching permit for prospective teachers shall not serve as a substitute
for more than 30 days for any one teacher during the school year and not more than 90 days total during the
school year.  (5 CCR 80025.2)

4. A person with an emergency designated subjects 30-day substitute teaching permit for career technical
education shall teach only in a program of technical, trade, or vocational education and shall not serve as a
substitute for more than 30 days for any one teacher during the school year.  (5 CCR 80025.5)

Before employing a person with an emergency substitute permit pursuant to Item #1 or 4 above, the Superintendent
or designee shall prepare and keep on file a signed Statement of Need for the school year. The Statement of Need
shall describe the situation or circumstances that necessitate the use of a 30-day substitute permit holder and state
either that a credentialed person is not available or that the available credentialed person does not meet the district's
specified employment criteria.  (5 CCR 80025, 80025.5)



Policy 6174: Education For English LearnersPolicy 6174: Education For English Learners Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 09/22/2021

The Governing Board intends to provide English learners with challenging curriculum and instruction that maximize
the attainment of high levels of proficiency in English, advance multilingual capabilities, and facilitate student
achievement in the district's regular course of study.

English learners shall be provided differentiated English language development instruction which is targeted to their
English proficiency level. Such instruction shall be based on sound instructional theory, be aligned with state content
standards, emphasize inquiry-based learning and critical thinking skills, and be integrated across all subject areas.

No middle or high school student who is an English learner shall be denied enrollment in any of the following:
(Education Code 60811.8)

1. Courses in the core curriculum areas of reading/language arts, mathematics, science, and history/social
science, courses required to meet state and local high school graduation requirements, or courses required for
middle school grade promotion

However, an English learner who has been enrolled in a school in the United States for less than 12 months or
is enrolled in a program designed to develop the basic English skills of newly arrived immigrant students may
be denied participation in any such course, if the course of study provided to the student is designed to
remedy academic deficits incurred during participation and reasonably calculated to enable the student to
attain parity of participation in the standard instructional program within a reasonable length of time after the
student enters the school system.

2. A full course load of courses specified in Item #1 above

3. Other courses that meet the "A-G" course requirements for college admission or are advanced courses such as
honors or Advanced Placement courses, on the sole basis of the student's classification as an English learner

The district shall identify in its local control and accountability plan (LCAP) goals and specific actions and services to
enhance student engagement, academic achievement, and other outcomes for English learners.

The Superintendent or designee shall encourage parent/guardian and community involvement in the development
and evaluation of programs for English learners. The Superintendent or designee may also provide an English
development literacy training program for parents/guardians and community members so that they may better
support students' English language development.

Staff Qualifications and Training

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all staff employed to teach English learners possess the appropriate
authorization from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing.

The district shall provide effective professional development to teachers (including teachers in classroom settings
that are not the settings of language instruction educational programs), administrators, and other school or
community-based organization personnel to improve the instruction and assessment of English learners and enhance
staff's ability to understand and use curricula, assessment, and instructional strategies for English learners. Such
professional development shall be of sufficient intensity and duration to produce a positive and lasting impact on
teachers' performance in the classroom. (20 USC 6825)

Staff development shall also address the sociocultural needs of English learners and provide opportunities for
teachers to engage in supportive, collaborative learning communities.

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

5



Identification and Assessment

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain procedures for the early identification of English learners and an
assessment of their proficiency using the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC). To
oversee test administration, the Superintendent or designee shall annually designate a district ELPAC coordinator
and a site coordinator for each test site in accordance with 5 CCR 11518.40-11518.45.

Once identified as an English learner, a student shall be annually assessed for language proficiency until the student
is reclassified based on criteria specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.

In addition, English learners' academic achievement in English language arts, mathematics, science, and any additional
subject required by law shall be assessed using the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress. As
necessary, the test shall be administered with testing variations in accordance with 5 CCR 853. English learners who
are in their first 12 months of attending a school in the United States shall be exempted from taking the English
language arts assessment to the extent allowed by federal law.  (Education Code 60603, 60640; 5 CCR 853)

Formative assessments may be utilized to analyze student performance and appropriately adapt teaching
methodologies and instructions.

Language Acquisition Programs

The district shall offer research-based language acquisition programs that are designed to ensure English acquisition
as rapidly and as effectively as possible and that provide instruction to students on the state-adopted academic
content standards, including the English language development standards. (Education Code 306; 5 CCR 11300)

At a minimum, the district shall offer a structured English immersion program which includes designated and
integrated English language development. In the structured English immersion program, nearly all of the classroom
instruction shall be provided in English, but with the curriculum and presentation designed for students who are
learning English.  (Education Code 305-306; 5 CCR 11309)

For the purpose of determining the amount of instruction to be conducted in English in the structured English
immersion program, "nearly all" means that all classroom instruction shall be conducted in English except for
clarification, explanation, and support as needed.

In addition, language acquisition programs offered by the district may include, but are not limited to, the following:
(Education Code 305-306)

1. A dual-language immersion program that provides integrated language learning and academic instruction for
native speakers of English and native speakers of another language, with the goals of high academic
achievement, first and second language proficiency, and cross-cultural understanding

2. A transitional or developmental program for English learners that provides literacy and academic instruction in
English and a student's native language and that enables an English learner to achieve English proficiency and
academic mastery of subject matter content and higher order thinking skills, including critical thinking, in order
to meet state academic content standards

The district's language acquisition programs for grades K-3 shall comply with class size requirements specified in
Education Code 42238.02.  (Education Code 310)

In establishing the district's language acquisition programs, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with
parents/guardians and the community during the LCAP development process. The Superintendent or designee shall
also consult with administrators, teachers, and other personnel with appropriate authorizations and experience in
establishing a language acquisition program. (Education Code 305)



At the beginning of each school year or upon a student's enrollment, parents/guardians shall be provided information
on the types of language acquisition programs available to students enrolled in the district, including, but not limited
to, a description of each program, the process to be followed in making a program selection, identification of any
language to be taught in addition to English when the program includes instruction in another language, and the
process to request establishment of a language acquisition program.  (Education Code 310; 5 CCR 11310)

Whenever a student is identified as an English learner based on the results of the ELPAC, the student's
parents/guardians may choose a language acquisition program that best suits their child. To the extent possible, any
language acquisition program requested by the parents/guardians of 30 or more students at the school or by the
parents/guardians of 20 or more students at any grade level shall be offered by the school. (Education Code 310; 5
CCR 11311)

Until July 1, 2029, the Superintendent or designee may, with Board approval, and as specified in BP 5117 -
Interdistrict Attendance, enter into an instruction collaboration agreement (ICA) with another school district, county
office of education, or charter school to offer the same or similar courses and coursework to students who have
been impacted by teacher shortages, disruptions, or cancellations, or teacher shortages to dual language immersion
programs.  (Education Code 48345)

Reclassification

When an English learner is determined based on state and district reclassification criteria to have acquired a
reasonable level of English proficiency pursuant to Education Code 313 and 52164.6, or upon request by the
student's parent/guardian, the student shall be transferred from a language acquisition program into an English
language mainstream classroom.

Program Evaluation

To evaluate the effectiveness of the district's educational program for English learners, the Superintendent or
designee shall report to the Board, at least annually, regarding:

1. Progress of English learners towards proficiency in English

2. The number and percentage of English learners reclassified as fluent English proficient

3. The number and percentage of English learners who are or are at risk of being classified as long-term English
learners in accordance with Education Code 313.1

4. The achievement of English learners on standards-based tests in core curricular areas

5. For any language acquisition program that includes instruction in a language other than English, student
achievement in the non-English language in accordance with 5 CCR 11309

6. Progress toward any other goals for English learners identified in the district's LCAP

7. A comparison of current data with data from at least the previous year in regard to Items #1-6 above

8. A comparison of data between the different language acquisition programs offered by the district

The Superintendent or designee shall also provide the Board with regular reports from any district or schoolwide
English learner advisory committees.



Regulation 6174: Education For English LearnersRegulation 6174: Education For English Learners Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 09/22/2021

Definitions

English learner means a student who is age 3-21 years, who is enrolled or is preparing to enroll in an elementary or
secondary school, and whose difficulties in speaking, reading, writing, or understanding the English language may be
sufficient to deny the student the ability to meet state academic standards, the ability to successfully achieve in
classrooms where the language of instruction is English, or the opportunity to participate fully in society. An English
learner may include a student who was not born in the United States or whose native language is a language other
than English; a student who is Native American or Alaska Native, or a native resident of the outlying areas, who
comes from an environment where a language other than English has had a significant impact on the individual's level
of English language proficiency; or a student who is migratory, whose native language is a language other than
English, and who comes from an environment where a language other than English is dominant.  (Education Code
306; 20 USC 7801)

Designated English language development means instruction provided during a time set aside in the regular school day
for focused instruction on the state-adopted English language development standards to assist English learners to
develop critical English language skills necessary for academic content learning in English.  (5 CCR 11300)

Integrated English language development means instruction in which the state-adopted English language development
standards are used in tandem with the state-adopted academic content standards. Integrated English language
development includes specially designed academic instruction in English.  (5 CCR 11300)

Native speaker of English means a student who has learned and used English at home from early childhood and English
has been the primary means of concept formation and communication.  (Education Code 306)

Identification and Assessments

Upon enrollment in the district, each student's primary language shall be determined through the use of a home
language survey.  (Education Code 52164.1; 5 CCR 11307, 11518.5)

Any student who is identified as having a primary language other than English as determined by the home language
survey, and who has not previously been identified as an English learner by a California public school or for whom
there is no record of results from an administration of an English language proficiency test, shall be initially assessed
for English proficiency using the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC). Prior to
administering the ELPAC, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student's parent/guardian in writing that
the student will be administered the initial ELPAC.  (Education Code 313, 52164.1; 5 CCR 11518.5)

Administration of the ELPAC, including the use of variations and accommodations in test administration when
authorized, shall be conducted in accordance with test publisher instructions and 5 CCR 11518.5-11518.37.

Based on the initial assessment, the student shall be classified either as initially fluent in English proficient or as an
English learner. The Superintendent or designee shall notify the student's parent/guardian, in writing, of the results
of the ELPAC initial assessment within 30 calendar days after the student's date of initial enrollment, or, if
administered prior to the student's initial date of enrollment, up to 60 calendar days prior to such enrollment, but not
before July 1 of the school year of the student's initial enrollment. The notice shall indicate whether the student met
the ELPAC initial assessment criterion for proficiency and include the district's contact information for use if the
parent/guardian has questions or concerns regarding the student's classification.  (5 CCR 11518.5)

Each year after a student is identified as an English learner and until the student is redesignated as English proficient,
the summative assessment of the ELPAC shall be administered to the student during a four-month period after
January 1 as determined by the California Department of Education.  (Education Code 313)

The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians of their child's results on the summative assessment
of the ELPAC within 30 calendar days following receipt of the results from the test contractor or, if the results are

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



received from the test contractor after the last day of instruction for the school year, within 15 working days of the
start of the next school year.  (Education Code 52164.1; 5 CCR 11518.15)

The parent/guardian of a student participating in, or identified for participation in, a language instruction program
supported by federal Title I or Title III funds shall receive notification of the assessment of the student's English
proficiency. Such notice shall be provided no later than 30 calendar days after the beginning of the school year or, if
the student is identified for program participation during the school year, within two weeks of the student's
placement in the program. The notice shall include all of the following:  (Education Code 313.2, 440; 20 USC 6312)

1. The reason for the identification of the student as an English learner and the need for placement in a language
acquisition program

2. The level of English proficiency, how the level was assessed, and the status of the student's academic
achievement

3. A description of the language acquisition program in which the student is, or will be, participating, including a
description of all of the following:

a. The methods of instruction used in the program and in other available programs, including how such
programs differ in content, instructional goals, and the use of English and a native language in instruction

b. The manner in which the program will meet the educational strengths and needs of the student

c. The manner in which the program will help the student develop English proficiency and meet age-
appropriate academic standards for grade promotion and graduation

d. The specific exit requirements for the program, the expected rate of transition from the program into
classes not tailored for English learners, and the expected rate of graduation from secondary school if
applicable

e. When the student has been identified for special education, the manner in which the program meets the
requirements of the student's IEP

4. As applicable, the identification of a student as a long-term English learner or at risk of becoming a long-term
English learner, as defined in Education Code 313.1, and the manner in which the program for English language
development instruction will meet the educational strengths and needs of such students and help such
students develop English proficiency and meet age-appropriate academic standards

5. Information about the parent/guardian's right to have the student immediately removed from a program upon
the parent/guardian's request

6. Information regarding a parent/guardian's option to decline to enroll the student in the program or to choose
another program or method of instruction, if available

7. Information designed to assist a parent/guardian in selecting among available programs, if more than one
program or method is offered

Language Acquisition Programs

Whenever parents/guardians of enrolled students, and those enrolled for attendance in the next school year, request
that the district establish a specific language acquisition program in accordance with Education Code 310, such
requests shall be addressed through the following process:  (5 CCR 11311)

1. The school shall make a written record of each request, including any request submitted verbally, that includes
the date of the request, the names of the parent/guardian and student making the request, a general
description of the request, and the student's grade level on the date of the request. As needed, the school shall
assist the parent/guardian in clarifying the request. All requests shall be maintained for at least three years
from the date of the request.

2. The school shall monitor requests on a regular basis and notify the Superintendent or designee when the



parents/guardians of at least 30 students enrolled in the school, or at least 20 students in the same grade level,
request the same or a substantially similar type of language acquisition program. If the requests are for a
multilingual program model, the district shall consider requests from parents/guardians of students enrolled in
the school who are native English speakers in determining whether this threshold is reached.

3. If the number of parents/guardians described in Item #2 is attained, the Superintendent or designee shall:

a. Within 10 days of reaching the threshold, notify the parents/guardians of students attending the school,
the school's teachers, administrators, and the district's English learner parent advisory committee and
parent advisory committee, in writing, of the requests for a language acquisition program

b. Identify costs and resources necessary to implement any new language acquisition program, including,
but not limited to, certificated teachers with the appropriate authorizations, necessary instructional
materials, pertinent professional development for the proposed program, and opportunities for
parent/guardian and community engagement to support the proposed program goals

c. Within 60 calendar days of reaching the threshold number of parents/guardians described in Item #2
above, determine whether it is possible to implement the requested language acquisition program and
provide written notice of the determination to parents/guardians of students attending the school, the
school's teachers, and administrators

d. If a determination is made to implement the language acquisition program, create and publish a
reasonable timeline of actions necessary to implement the program. If a determination is made that it is
not possible to implement the program, provide a written explanation of the reason(s) the program
cannot be provided.

The district shall notify parents/guardians at the beginning of each school year or upon the student's enrollment
regarding the process to request a language acquisition program, including a dual-language immersion program, for
their child. The notice shall also include the following:  (5 CCR 11309, 11310)

1. A description of the programs provided, including structured English immersion

2. Identification of any language to be taught in addition to English when the program includes instruction in a
language other than English

3. The manner in which the program is designed using evidence-based research and includes both designated and
integrated English language development

4. The manner in which the district has allocated sufficient resources to effectively implement the program,
including, but not limited to, certificated teachers with the appropriate authorizations, necessary instructional
materials, pertinent professional development, and opportunities for parent/guardian and community
engagement to support the program goals

5. The manner in which the program will, within a reasonable period of time, lead to language proficiency and
achievement of the state-adopted content standards in English and, when the program includes instruction in
another language, in that other language

6. The process to request establishment of a language acquisition program not offered at the school

7. For any dual-language immersion program offered, the specific languages to be taught. The notice also may
include the program goals, methodology used, and evidence of the proposed program's effectiveness.

The district shall provide additional and appropriate educational services to English learners for the purposes of
overcoming language barriers and academic deficits in other areas of the core curriculum.  (5 CCR 11302)

Reclassification/Redesignation

English learners shall be reclassified as fluent English proficient when they are able to comprehend, speak, read, and
write English well enough to receive instruction in an English language mainstream classroom and make academic
progress at a level substantially equivalent to that of students of the same age or grade whose primary language is
English and who are in the regular course of study.  (Education Code 52164.6)



The criteria for determining whether an English learner shall be reclassified as fluent English proficient shall include,
but not be limited to:  (Education Code 313, 52164.6; 5 CCR 11303)

1. Assessment of English language proficiency using an objective assessment instrument, including, but not
limited to, the ELPAC

2. Evaluation by the student's classroom teacher and any other certificated staff with direct responsibility for
teaching or placement decisions related to the student, including, but not limited to, a review of the student's
curriculum mastery and academic performance

3. Parent/guardian involvement, including:

a. Notice to parents/guardians of language reclassification and placement, including a description of the
reclassification process and the parent/guardian's opportunity to participate

b. Encouragement of parent/guardian participation in the district's reclassification procedure, including
seeking parent/guardian opinion and consultation during the reclassification process

c. Provision of an interpreter for the parent/guardian, when necessary

4. Comparison of student performance on an objective assessment of basic skills in English against an empirically
established range of performance in basic skills, based on the performance of English proficient students of the
same age, which demonstrates whether the student is sufficiently proficient in English to participate
effectively in a curriculum designed for students of the same age whose native language is English

The student's language proficiency assessments, the participants in the reclassification process, and any decisions
regarding reclassification shall be retained in the student's permanent record.  (5 CCR 11305)

The Superintendent or designee shall monitor the progress of reclassified students to ensure their correct
classification and placement.  (5 CCR 11304)

The Superintendent or designee shall monitor students for at least four years following their reclassification to
ensure the students have not prematurely exited, any academic deficit incurred through participation in the English
learner program has been remedied, and the students are meaningfully participating in the standard instructional
program compared to students who had never participated in an English learner program.  (5 CCR 11304; 20 USC
6841)

Advisory Committees

A school-level English Learner Advisory Committee (ELAC) shall be established when there are more than 20 English
learners at the school. Parents/guardians of English learners, elected by parents/guardians of English learners at the
school, shall constitute committee membership in at least the same percentage as English learners represent of the
total number of students in the school. The school may designate for this purpose an existing school-level advisory
committee provided that it meets these criteria for committee membership.  (Education Code 52176; 5 CCR 11308)

The ELAC shall be responsible for assisting in the development of a schoolwide needs assessment, recommending
ways to make parents/guardians aware of the importance of regular school attendance, and advising the principal
and school staff in the development of a detailed master plan for English learners for the individual school and
submitting the plan to the Board for consideration for inclusion in the district master plan.  (Education Code 52176)

When the district has more than 50 English learners, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a District English
Learner Advisory Committee (DELAC), the majority of whose membership shall be composed of parents/guardians of
English learners who are not employed by the district. Alternatively, the district may use a subcommittee of an
existing districtwide advisory committee on which parents/guardians of English learners have membership in at least
the same percentage as English learners represent of the total number of students in the district.  (Education Code
52176)



The DELAC shall advise the Board on at least the following tasks:  (5 CCR 11308)

1. Developing a district master plan for education programs and services for English learners, taking into
consideration the school site plans for English learners

2. Conducting a districtwide needs assessment on a school-by-school basis

3. Establishing a district program, goals, and objectives for programs and services for English learners

4. Developing a plan to ensure compliance with applicable teacher or instructional aide requirements

5. Administering the annual language census

6. Reviewing and commenting on the district's reclassification procedures

7. Reviewing and commenting on the required written parental notifications

In order to assist the advisory committee in carrying out its responsibilities, the Superintendent or designee shall
ensure that DELAC and ELAC committee members receive appropriate training and materials. This training shall be
planned in full consultation with the members.  (5 CCR 11308)

LCAP Advisory Committee

When there are at least 15 percent English learners in the district, with at least 50 students who are English learners,
a district-level English learner parent advisory committee shall be established to review and comment on the
district's local control and accountability plan (LCAP). Such advisory committee shall provide input regarding the
district's existing language acquisition programs and language programs, and, where possible, the establishment of
other such programs, in accordance with BP 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. The committee shall be
composed of a majority of parents/guardians of English learners. If the DELAC acts as the ELAC pursuant to
Education Code 52063 and 52062, the DELAC shall also review and comment on the development or annual update
of the LCAP.  (Education Code 52062, 52063; 5 CCR 11301, 15495)

The DELAC may also serve as the LCAP English learner advisory committee.



Policy 5141.5: Mental HealthPolicy 5141.5: Mental Health Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: Pending

The Governing Board recognizes that students' emotional well-being and mental health are critical to their ability to
perform to their full academic and personal potential. The Superintendent or designee shall develop strategies and
services to reduce the stigma associated with mental illness, facilitate access to mental health services, and help
students build resiliency skills, including digital resilience, increase social connections, and cope with life challenges.

The Superintendent or designee shall consult and collaborate with school-employed mental health professionals, the
county mental health department, psychologists and other health professionals, social workers, and/or community
organizations to strengthen local mental health services and develop and implement an integrated plan to support
student mental health.

To the extent possible, the district shall focus on preventive strategies which increase students' connectedness to
school, create a support network of peers and trusted adults, and provide techniques for conflict resolution. The
district shall investigate and resolve any complaint of bullying, intimidation, harassment, or discrimination in
accordance with law and district policy.

The district shall provide instruction to students that promotes their healthy mental, emotional, and social
development. Health education courses shall be aligned with the state content standards and curriculum framework
and shall include, but not be limited to, instruction related to identifying signs of depression and self-destructive
behaviors, developing coping skills, and identifying resources that may provide assistance.

Information and Training

The Superintendent or designee shall provide school staff with information and training to recognize the early signs
and symptoms of an emerging mental health condition or behavioral health disorder, including common psychiatric
conditions and substance use disorders such as opioid and alcohol abuse, identify risk factors and warning signs of
suicidal intent, respond to students who have been impacted by traumatic stress, safely deescalate crisis situations
involving students with a behavioral health disorder, and link students with effective services, referrals, and supports.
Such training shall also provide instruction on how to maintain student privacy and confidentiality. Behavioral health
information and training may also be provided to parents/guardians, students, and families.  (Education Code
49428.15)

The Superintendent or designee shall develop a protocol for identifying and assessing students who may be suffering
from an anxiety disorder, depression, eating disorder, or other severe or disabling mental illness. The Superintendent
or designee may establish districtwide or school-site crisis intervention team(s) to respond to mental health concerns
in the school setting.

At least twice per school year, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school provides notice
regarding how to initiate access to student mental health services on campus and/or in the community. The
notification shall be in at least two of the following methods:   (Education Code 49428)

1. Distributing the information, electronically or in hardcopy, in a letter to parents/guardians, and in a school
publication or other document to students

2. Including the information, at the beginning of the school year, in the parent handbook for parents/guardians
and in student orientation materials or a student handbook

3. Posting the information on the school's website or social media

Parents/guardians and students shall each receive two notices on how to initiate access to student mental health
services, which may be delivered by different methods.  (Education Code 494280)

Each school site that serves students in any of grades 6-12 shall create an age appropriate and culturally relevant

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

6



poster that identifies approaches and shares resources about student mental health, and that includes the following
information:  (Education Code 49428.5)

1. Identification of common behaviors of those struggling with mental health or who are in a mental health crisis,
including, but not limited to, anxiety, depression, eating disorders, emotional dysregulation, bipolar episodes,
and schizophrenic episodes

2. A list of, and contact information for, school site-specific resources, including, but not limited to, counselors,
wellness centers, and peer counselors

3. A list of, and contact information for, community resources, including, but not limited to, suicide prevention,
substance abuse, child crisis, nonpolice mental health hotlines, public behavioral health services, and
community mental health centers

4. A list of positive coping strategies to use when dealing with mental health, including, but not limited to,
meditation, mindfulness, yoga, breathing exercises, grounding skills, journaling, acceptance, and seeking
therapy

5. A list of negative coping strategies to avoid, including, but not limited to, substance abuse or self-medication,
violence and abuse, self-harm, compulsivity, dissociation, catastrophizing, and isolating

The poster shall be displayed in English and any primary language spoken by 15 percent or more of the students at
the school site and be no smaller than 8.5 by 11 inches and at least 12-point font. The poster shall be prominently
and conspicuously displayed in public areas that are accessible to, and commonly frequented by, students at each
school site such as bathrooms, locker rooms, classrooms, classroom hallways, gymnasiums, auditoriums, cafeterias,
wellness centers, and offices. Additionally, at the beginning of each school year the poster shall be distributed online
to students through social media, websites, portals, and learning platforms.  (Education Code 49428.5)

Mental Health Counseling and Referrals

A school counselor, school psychologist, or school social worker may provide mental health counseling to students in
accordance with the specialization(s) authorized on the individual's credential. As needed, students and their
parents/guardians may be provided referrals to mental health services in the community and/or to mental health
services at or near district schools.

Mental health and behavioral health services for students on campus may be provided by way of telehealth
technology.  (Education Code 49429)

If a student has an emotional or mental illness that limits a major life activity, has a record of such impairment, or is
regarded as having such impairment, or may need special education and related services, the student shall be
referred for an evaluation for purposes of determining whether any educational or related services are required in
accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act or the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, as
applicable.  (Education Code 56301-56302; 29 USC 794; 28 CFR 35.108)

Funding Resources

The Superintendent or designee shall explore potential funding sources for district programs and services that
support student's mental health. In accordance with local plans and priorities, the district may apply to the county for
grants for prevention and early intervention activities that are designed to prevent mental illness from becoming
severe and disabling and to improve timely access for underserved populations.



Policy 5148: Child Care And DevelopmentPolicy 5148: Child Care And Development Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: Pending

The Governing Board desires to provide child care and development services which meet the developmental needs
of children and offer a convenient child care alternative for parents/guardians in the community.

The Board shall enter into a contract with the California Department of Social Services (CDSS) for the provision of
child care and development services by the district.

The district shall work cooperatively with the local child care and development planning council, public and private
agencies, parents/guardians, and other community members to assess child care needs in the community, establish
program priorities, obtain ongoing feedback on program quality, and supply information about child care options.

The Board shall approve for the district's child care and development program a written philosophical statement,
goals, and objectives that reflect the cultural and linguistic characteristics of the families to be served and address
the program components specified in 5 CCR 18272-18281 and the accompanying administrative regulation.  (5 CCR
18271)

When a district child care program is physically closed by local or state public health order, the district shall provide
distance learning when required to do so as a condition of funding or when required by law.

Eligibility and Enrollment

Child care admissions policies and procedures shall be in writing and available to the public. Such policies and
procedures shall include criteria designating those children whose needs can be met by the child care center's
program and services, the ages of children who will be accepted, program activities, any supplementary services
provided, any field trip provisions, any transportation arrangements, food service provisions, and health examination
requirements.  (5 CCR 18105; 22 CCR 101218)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that subsidized child care services are provided to eligible families to
the extent that state and/or federal funding is available and in accordance with enrollment priorities specified in
Welfare and Institutions Code 10271 and 5 CCR 18106.

To the extent that space is available after the enrollment of children who are eligible for subsidized services, priority
for admissions shall be given to district students, children of district students, and children of district employees.

A child's eligibility for transitional kindergarten enrollment shall not impact family eligibility for a childcare or
preschool program.  (Education Code 48000)

Staffing

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that individuals working in child care and development programs have
the necessary qualifications, experience, and training, and have satisfied all legal requirements.

Facilities

Upon recommendation of the Superintendent or designee, the Board may approve any of the following for the
provision of child care and development services:

1. The use of existing district facilities that have capacity

2. Renovation or improvement of district facilities to make them suitable for such services

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

7



3. Purchase of relocatable child care facilities

4. Inclusion of child care facilities in any new construction

5. Agreement with a public agency or community organization for the use of community facilities

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that facilities used for child care services meet all applicable health and
safety standards.  (5 CCR 18020; 22 CCR 101238-101239.2)

Complaints

For a licensed child care center, any complaint alleging health and safety violations shall be referred to CDSS.  (5 CCR
4611)

Any other alleged violation of state or federal laws governing child care and development programs shall be
investigated and resolved using the district's procedures in BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures.

Program Evaluation

The Superintendent or designee shall annually conduct an evaluation of the district's child care and development
services in accordance with state requirements. The results of the evaluation shall be used to develop an action plan
which establishes program goals and objectives for the coming year and addresses any areas identified as needing
improvement.  (5 CCR 18279-18281)



Regulation 5148: Child Care And DevelopmentRegulation 5148: Child Care And Development Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: Pending

Licensing

All district child care and development services shall be licensed by the California Department of Social Services,
unless exempted pursuant to Health and Safety Code 1596.792 or 22 CCR 101158.

The license shall be posted in a prominent, publicly accessible location in the facility.  (Health and Safety Code
1596.8555)

Licensed child care centers shall be subject to the requirements of Health and Safety Code 1596.70-1597.21, 22
CCR 101151-101239.2, and, when applicable, 22 CCR 101451-101539.

Program Components

The district's child care and development program shall include the following components:

1. The use of a developmental profile reflecting each child's physical, cognitive, social, and emotional
development to plan and conduct developmentally and age appropriate activities  (Welfare and Institutions
Code 10209.5; 5 CCR 18272)

Program staff shall complete the developmental profile for each child who is enrolled in the program for at
least 10 hours per week and for any child with disabilities regardless of the number of hours enrolled. The
profile shall be completed within 60 days of enrollment and at least once every six months thereafter for
children of all ages.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10209.5; 5 CCR 18270.5, 18272)

2. An educational program that complies with 5 CCR 18273, including the provision of services that are
developmentally, linguistically, and culturally appropriate and inclusive of children with special needs

3. A staff development program which complies with 5 CCR 18274

4. Parent/guardian involvement and education that comply with 5 CCR 18275 and includes an orientation, at
least two individual conferences per year, meetings with program staff, an advisory committee, participation in
daily activities, and information regarding their child's progress

5. A health and social services component that complies with 5 CCR 18276 and includes referrals to appropriate
community agencies as needed

6. A community involvement component that complies with 5 CCR 18277

7. As applicable, a nutrition component that ensures children in the program are provided nutritious meals,
beverages, and snacks that meet state and federal standards and have access to drinking water throughout the
day, including meal times  (Health and Safety Code 1596.808; 5 CCR 18278; 42 USC 1766)

8. Programs that promote age-appropriate structured and unstructured opportunities for physical activity and
that limit the amount of time spent in sedentary activities to an appropriate level

9. An annual plan for program evaluation which conforms with the state's system and includes a self-evaluation,
parent/guardian survey, and environment rating scale  (5 CCR 18270.5, 18279, 18280, 18281)

Health and Safety

When a child enrolls or reenrolls in a licensed child care program, the center shall provide the child's parent/guardian
with written information on the risks and effects of lead exposure, blood lead testing recommendations and
requirements, and options for obtaining blood lead testing, including any state or federally funded programs that

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



offer free or discounted tests.  (Health and Safety Code 1596.7996)

If a licensed child care center is located in a building that was constructed before January 1, 2010, the center shall
have its drinking water tested for lead contamination levels every five years. The center shall notify the
parents/guardians of enrolled children of the requirement to test a facility's drinking water and of the test results. If
notified of elevated lead levels, the center shall immediately make inoperable and cease using the fountains and
faucets where elevated lead levels may exist and shall obtain a potable source of water for children and staff at that
location.  (Health and Safety Code 1597.16)

Staffing

The district's child care and development program shall maintain at least the minimum adult-child and teacher-child
ratios specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 10275.5 and 5 CCR 18290-18292 based on the ages of the children
served.

All persons employed at a licensed district child care center and all volunteers who provide care and supervision to
children at such a center shall be immunized against influenza, pertussis, and measles. If a person meets all other
requirements for employment or volunteering, as applicable, but needs additional time to obtain and provide
immunization records, the person may be employed or volunteer conditionally for a maximum of 30 days upon
signing and submitting a written statement attesting that the person has received the required immunizations.
Employees and volunteers shall be immunized against influenza between August 1 and December 1 of each year.
 (Health and Safety Code 1596.7995)

A person shall be exempt from the above immunization requirements only under any of the following circumstances:
 (Health and Safety Code 1596.7995)

1. The person submits a written statement from a licensed physician declaring either that immunization is not
safe because of the person's physical condition or medical circumstances or that the person has evidence of
current immunity to influenza, pertussis, and measles.

2. In the case of the influenza vaccine, the person submits a written declaration declining the vaccination.

3. In the case of the influenza vaccine required during the first year of employment or volunteering, the vaccine is
not timely because the person was hired after December 1 of the previous year and before August 1 of the
current year.

Documentation of the required immunizations or exemptions from immunization shall be maintained in the
employee's personnel file.  (Health and Safety Code 1596.7995)

In addition to the above immunization requirements, teachers employed in a licensed child care center shall present
evidence of a current tuberculosis clearance and meet other requirements specified in Health and Safety Code
1597.055.  (Health and Safety Code 1597.055)

Eligibility and Enrollment

To participate in the district's subsidized child care program, families shall document both an eligibility basis and need
for care as follows:  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271 and 10271.5)

1. The family is eligible for subsidized services on the basis of being:

a. A current aid recipient

b. Income eligible

c. Homeless

d. The family's children are recipients of child protective services or have been identified as being or at risk



of being abused, neglected, or exploited

e. A member of the household is certified to receive benefits from Medi-Cal, CalFresh, the California Food
Assistance Program, the California Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and
Children, the federal Food Distribution Program on Indian Reservations, Head Start, Early Head Start, or
any other means-tested government program as determined by the California Department of Social
Services.

2. The family has a need for child care based on either of the following:

a. The parents/guardians are participating in vocational training leading directly to a recognized trade,
paraprofession, or profession; are engaged in an educational program for English language learners or to
attain a high school diploma or general educational development certificate; are employed or seeking
employment; are seeking permanent housing for family stability; or are incapacitated

b. The child is identified by a legal, medical, or social services agency, the district liaison for homeless
students, a Head Start program, or an emergency or transitional shelter as being a recipient of protective
services, as being or at risk of being neglected, abused, or exploited, or as experiencing homelessness

The Superintendent or designee shall consult the county's centralized eligibility list, when available, or shall maintain
a district waiting list in accordance with admission priorities. As vacancies occur, applicants shall be contacted in
order of their priority.  (5 CCR 18106)

First priority for enrollment shall be given to neglected or abused children who are recipients of child protective
services, or children who are at risk of being neglected or abused, upon written referral from a legal, medical, or
social services agency. If unable to enroll a child in this category, the district shall refer the child's parent/guardian to
local resource and referral services so that services for the child can be located.  (Welfare and Institutions Code
10271)

Second priority for enrollment shall be given to families, regardless of the number of parents in the home, who are
income eligible, as defined in Welfare and Institutions Code 10271.5. Families with the lowest gross monthly income
in relation to family size shall be admitted first. If two or more families are in the same priority in relation to income,
the family that has a child with disabilities shall be admitted first or, if there is no child with disabilities, the family in
which the primary home language is a language other than English shall be admitted first. If there is no family of the
same priority in which the primary home language is a language other than English, the family of the same priority
that has been on the waiting list for the longest time shall be admitted first.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271
and 10271.5)

After all children eligible for subsidized services have been enrolled, the district may enroll other children in
accordance with the priorities established by the Governing Board.

The district's decision to approve or deny services shall be communicated to the parent/guardian through a written
Notice of Action mailed or delivered within 30 days from the date the application is signed by the parent/guardian.
 (5 CCR 18094, 18118)

Upon establishing eligibility for services, a family shall be eligible for and shall receive services for not less than 24
months before having the family's eligibility or need recertified and shall not be required to report changes to income
or other changes for at least 24 months. If such eligibility ends before the end of the child care and services program
year, eligibility shall be extended until the end of the program year as long as applicable age-eligibility requirements
specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 10213.5 are met.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271)

However, a family establishing eligibility on the basis of income shall report any increases in income that exceed the
threshold for ongoing income eligibility specified in Welfare and Institutions Code 10271.5, and the family's ongoing
eligibility shall be recertified at that time. At any time, a family may voluntarily report income or other changes which
shall be used, as applicable, to reduce the family's fees, increase the family's services, or extend the period of



eligibility before recertification.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271)

Additionally, a family establishing eligibility for services on the basis of receiving services under a CalWORKs Stage 1,
2, or 3 program shall be eligible for and shall receive services for not less than 12 months before having the family's
eligibility or need recertified and shall not be required to report changes to income or other changes for at least 12
months.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271)

The Superintendent or designee shall mail or deliver a Notice of Action to a parent/guardian at least 14 calendar
days before any intended change in services, including, but not limited to, an increase or decrease in fees, an increase
or decrease in the amount of services, or termination of services, due to any of the following circumstances:  (5 CCR
18095, 18119)

1. A determination made during recertification or the update of the application that the need or eligibility
requirements are no longer being met or the fee or amount of service needs to be modified

2. Failure of the parent/guardian to document the family's need or eligibility after the district requested such
documentation in writing

3. An indication by the parent/guardian that the service is no longer wanted

4. The death of a parent/guardian or child

5. The conclusion of a limited-term agreement, provided that the parent/guardian has been informed in writing of
the date that the services would terminate

The Superintendent or designee shall establish and maintain a basic data file for each family receiving child care and
development services including, but not limited to, the completed and signed application for services, documentation
used to determine the child's eligibility and need, and copies of all Notices of Action.  (5 CCR 18081, 18095)

Fees and Charges

Except when offering a program that is prohibited by law from charging any fees, the Superintendent or designee
may charge fees for services according to the state fee schedule, the actual cost of services, or the maximum
daily/hourly rate specified in the contract, whichever is least.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10260, 10271, 10290,
10291, 10436; 5 CCR 18078, 18108-18110)

Fees shall be assessed at initial enrollment and reassessed when a family is recertified or experiences a change in
status. Fees shall be considered delinquent after seven days from the date that fees are due. Parents/guardians shall
be notified in the event that fees are delinquent. If a reasonable plan for payment of the delinquent fees has not
been provided by the parents/guardians, services shall be terminated if all delinquent fees are not paid within two
weeks of such notification. Parents/guardians shall receive a copy of the district's regulations regarding fee collection
at the time of initial enrollment into the program.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10290; 5 CCR 18082, 18114,
18115)

District child care centers shall post in a prominent location adjacent to the license at the child care facility the rates,
and discounts or scholarship policies if any.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10288)

Expulsion/Unenrollment and Suspension Based on Behavior

The district's child care and development program shall not expel or unenroll a child or persuade or encourage a
child's parents/guardians to voluntarily unenroll from the program based on the child's behavior, unless the district
first takes the following actions to address the child's behavior:  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491)



1. In writing, inform the parents/guardians of the child's persistent and serious challenging behaviors and consult
with the parents/guardians and teacher, and if available engage an early childhood mental health consultant, in
an effort to maintain the child's safe participation in the program

2. If the child has an individualized family service plan (IFSP) or individualized education program (IEP), contact,
with written parent/guardian consent, the agency or district employee responsible for such plan or program to
seek consultation in regard to serving the child

3. If appropriate, consider completing a comprehensive screening to identify the needs of the child, including, but
not limited to, screening the child's social and emotional development, referring the parents/guardians to
community resources, and implementing behavior supports within the program

If the district has taken the actions specified in Items #1-3 above and the child's continued enrollment would present
a serious safety threat to the child or other enrolled children, the district shall refer the parents/guardians to other
potentially appropriate placements, the local child care resource and referral agency, or any other referral service
available in the local community. The district shall, to the greatest extent possible, support direct transition to a more
appropriate placement. The district may then unenroll the child. The district shall have up to 180 days to complete
the actions described above.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491.1)

A child shall not be suspended from the district's child care and development program, nor shall a child's
parent/guardian be encouraged or persuaded to prematurely pick up a child before the program day ends, except as
a last resort in extraordinary circumstances, when a safety threat exists that cannot be eliminated or reduced without
the removal of the child.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491.1)

Before determining that a suspension is necessary, the district shall collaborate with the child's parents/guardians
and, as needed, shall use appropriate community resources to determine that no other reasonable option is
appropriate.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491.1)

When suspension is deemed necessary, the district shall help the child return to full participation in the program as
soon as possible while ensuring safety, by doing all of the following:  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491.1)

1. Continuing to engage with the child's parents/guardians and continuing to use appropriate community
resources

2. Developing a written plan to document the action and supports needed

3. Providing referrals to appropriate community resources

4. If the child has an IFSP or IEP, contacting, with written parent/guardian consent, the agency responsible for the
child's IFSP or IEP, to seek consultation on servicing the child

Upon enrollment, the parents/guardians of each child shall be notified, in writing, of the limitations on expulsion,
suspension, or any form of disenrollment and how the parents/guardians may file an appeal to CDSS in the event of
expulsion or suspension. If the district suspends or expels a child from the child care and development program, the
district shall, at least 24 hours before the effective date of the suspension or expulsion, issue the child's
parents/guardians a written "Notice of Action, Recipient of Services," as described in 5 CCR 18095, informing the
parents/guardians of the right to file an appeal of the action directly with CDSS no later than 14 calendar days after
receiving the notice.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10491.1)

If a child is suspected of having a developmental delay, disability, or mental health issue, the child's parent/guardian
shall be referred, if appropriate, to the mental health system, the state's early intervention program, or the district's
special education program regarding evaluation for services under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
(IDEA).  Children identified as having exceptional needs may only be suspended or expelled in conformance with the
procedures and limitations of the IDEA.

Disenrollment

When necessary due to a reduction in state reimbursements, families shall be disenrolled from subsidized child care
and development services in the following order:  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10272.5)



1. Families with the highest income in relation to family size shall be disenrolled first.

2. If two or more families have the same income ranking, children who have been enrolled in child care services
the longest shall be disenrolled first.

3. If two or more families have the same income, children without disabilities shall be disenrolled first.

4. Families whose children are receiving child protective services or are at risk of neglect or abuse, regardless of
family income, shall be disenrolled last.

Health Examination and Immunizations

Prior to or within six weeks of enrollment, a child enrolling in a child care center shall obtain a physical examination
and evaluation and receive age-appropriate immunizations.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271)

A child may be exempted from the immunization requirements only if a licensed physician indicates that
immunization should not be given and specifies how long this exemption is expected to be needed.  (22 CCR
101220.1)

A medical exemption shall be submitted using the standardized medical exemption certification form developed by
California Department of Public Health (CDPH) and transmitted using the California Immunization Registry. The
request shall include, but not be limited to, a description of the medical basis for which the exemption for each
individual immunization is sought and whether the medical exemption is permanent or temporary, including the date
upon which a temporary medical exemption will expire. All medical exemptions shall not extend beyond the current
grade span of the student, and a temporary exemption shall not exceed one year.  (Health and Safety Code 120372)

If there is good cause to believe that a child is suffering from a recognized contagious or infectious disease, the child
shall be temporarily excluded from the child care and development program until it is determined that the child is not
suffering from that contagious or infectious disease.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10271)

District child care centers shall disclose immunization information to the local health department and CDPH in
accordance with Health and Safety Code 120440, and maintain the confidentiality of such information in the same
manner as other students records in accordance with law and as specified in Administrative Regulation 5125 -
Student Records.  (Health and Safety Code 120440)

Attendance

Sign-in and sign-out sheets shall be used daily for all children for attendance accounting purposes. Attendance
records shall include verification of excused absences, including the child's name, date(s) of absence, specific reason
for absence, and signature of parent/guardian or the district's authorized representative if verification is made by
telephone.  (5 CCR 18065, 18066)

Absences shall be excused for the following reasons:

1. Illness or quarantine of the child or of the parent/guardian  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10213.5)

2. Family emergency  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10213.5)

A family emergency shall be considered to exist when unforeseen circumstances cause the need for immediate
action, such as may occur in the event of a natural disaster or when a member of the child's immediate family
dies, has an accident, or is required to appear in court.

3. Time spent with a parent/guardian or other relative as required by a court of law  (Welfare and Institutions
Code 10213.5)

4. Time spent with a parent/guardian or other relative which is clearly in the best interest of the child  (Welfare
and Institutions Code 10213.5)



An absence shall be considered to be in the best interest of the child when the time is spent with the child's
parent/guardian or other relative for reasons deemed justifiable by the program coordinator or site supervisor.

Except for children who are recipients of child protective services or are at risk of abuse or neglect, excused
absences in the best interest of the child shall be limited to 10 days during the contract period.  (5 CCR 18066)

When a child has been absent and the family has not been in communication with the program coordinator or site
supervisor for seven consecutive calendar days, the district shall attempt to contact the parent/guardian through a
variety of communication methods, including one attempt in writing which may be through electronic means,
informing the parent/guardian that failure to communicate with the district may result in termination of child care
services. The district shall keep documentation of all such communication attempts in the family's data file, and, if
there has been no communication for a total of 30 consecutive calendar days, issue a Notice of Action to disenroll
the family on the basis of abandonment of care.   (5 CCR 18066.5)

Parents/guardians shall be notified of the policies and procedures related to excused absences for child care and
development services.  (5 CCR 18066)

Rights of Parents/Guardians

At the time a child is accepted into a licensed child care and development center, the child's parent/guardian or
authorized representative shall be notified of the rights specified in 22 CCR 101218.1, including, but not limited to,
the right to enter and inspect the child care facility and the right to be informed, upon request, of the name and type
of association to the center of any adult who has been granted a criminal record exemption.  (Health and Safety
Code 1596.857; 22 CCR 101218.1)

The written notice of parent/guardian rights also shall be permanently posted within the facility in a location
accessible to parents/guardians. Notwithstanding these rights, access to the facility may be denied to an adult whose
behavior presents a risk to children present in the facility or to noncustodial parents/guardians when so requested by
the responsible parent/guardian.  (Health and Safety Code 1596.857)

In addition, if a parent/guardian disagrees with any district action to deny a child's eligibility for subsidized child care
services, disenroll the child due to a funding shortage, increase or decrease fees, increase or decrease the amount of
services, terminate services, or otherwise change the level of services, the parent/guardian may file a request for a
hearing with the Superintendent or designee within 14 calendar days of the date the Notice of Action was received.
Within 10 calendar days of receiving the request for a hearing, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the
parent/guardian of the time and place of the hearing, which, to the extent possible, shall be convenient for the
parent/guardian.  (5 CCR 18120)

The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures specified in 5 CCR 18120 by a district
administrator who is at a staff level higher in authority than the staff person who made the contested decision.
Within 10 calendar days after the hearing, the district administrator shall mail or deliver a written decision to the
parent/guardian. If the parent/guardian disagrees with the written decision, the parent/guardian may, within 14
calendar days, appeal the decision to the Child Development Division.  (5 CCR 18120-18122)

Coordinating Transitions

When a child in the district's child care and development program transfers to a local public school, the district's child
care and development program administrator shall provide the child's parent/guardian with information from the
previous year which is beneficial to the student and the student's teacher, including, but not limited to,
developmental issues, social interaction abilities, health background, and diagnostic assessments, if any.  The program
administrator shall transfer this information to the student's elementary school, with permission of the student's
parent/guardian.  (Welfare and Institutions Code 10315)

To facilitate the transition of a child with a disability, the district designates the individual listed below as the main
point of contact for coordinating and completing, with other agencies and persons, the transition of a child and family
from infant/toddler programs to preschool (Part C to Part B of IDEA), including establishing practices to educate and



support families during the transition:  (Government Code 95008)

Educational Services Director
1018 C Street, Suite 210
209-744-4545 ext. 303
knijjar@galt.k12.ca.us

Records

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of enrollment, attendance, types of families served, income
received from all families participating in the district's child care and development program, and any other records
required under the state contract.



Policy 6146.4: Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For Students WithPolicy 6146.4: Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For Students With
DisabilitiesDisabilities

Status:Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008 | Last Reviewed Date:| Last Reviewed Date: 02/27/2008

The Individualized Education Program (IEP) team shall determine the appropriate standards and assessments, as well
as the accommodations, that may be required for students with disabilities.

No student shall be classified as eligible for differential standards of proficiency for the purpose of circumventing the
legal requirement to maintain academic eligibility for extracurricular or cocurricular activities. (Education Code
35160.5)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

8



Policy 6159.2: Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For Special EducationPolicy 6159.2: Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For Special Education Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008

The Governing Board recognizes its responsibility to provide a free appropriate public education to students with
disabilities in accordance with law. When the district is unable to provide direct special education and/or related
services to students with disabilities, the Board may enter into a contract with a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or
agency (NPS/A) to meet student needs consistent with the comprehensive local plan of the Special Education Local
Plan Area.

Prior to entering into a contract to place any student in an NPS/A, the Superintendent or designee shall verify that
the school or agency is certified to provide special education and related services to individuals with disabilities and
complies with staff training requirements in accordance with Education Code 56366 and 56366.1. In addition, the
Superintendent or designee shall monitor, on an ongoing basis, the certification of any NPS/A with which the district
has a contract to ensure that the certification has not expired.

No district student with a disability shall be referred to, or placed in, an NPS/A unless the student's individualized
education program (IEP) team has determined that the placement is appropriate for the student.  (Education Code
56342.1)

The district shall pay to the NPS/A the full amount of the tuition or fees, as applicable, for students with disabilities
who are enrolled in programs or receiving services provided by the NPS/A pursuant to the contract.  (Education
Code 56365)

In accordance with law, any student with disabilities placed in an NPS/A shall have all the rights and protections to
which students with disabilities are generally entitled, including, but not limited to, procedural safeguards, due
process rights, and periodic review of the student's IEP.

During the period when any student with disabilities is placed in an NPS/A, the student's IEP team shall retain
responsibility for monitoring the student's progress towards meeting the goals identified in the IEP.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that any contract with an NPS/A contains a requirement for the NPS/A
to comply with district policy, procedures, and practices related to student rights, health, and safety, including the
use of seclusion and restraint. All NPS/A staff that serve district students shall be made aware of, and trained in such
policies, procedures, and practices.

The Superintendent or designee shall notify the Board prior to approving an out-of-state placement for any district
student.

The Superintendent or designee may apply to the Superintendent of Public Instruction to waive any of the
requirements of Education Code 56365, 56366, and 56366.6.  (Education Code 56366.2)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District

9



Regulation 6159.2: Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For SpecialRegulation 6159.2: Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For Special
EducationEducation

Status:Status: DRAFT

Original Adopted Date:Original Adopted Date: 02/27/2008

Master Contract

Every master contract between the district and a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency (NPS/A) shall specify the
general administrative and financial agreements for providing special education and designated instruction and
services. The master contract shall be for a term not to exceed one year and shall be renegotiated prior to June 30.
 Provisions of the contract shall include, but not be limited to:  (Education Code 56366; 5 CCR 3062)

1. Student-teacher ratios

2. Transportation specified in a student's individualized education program (IEP)

The contract shall not include special education transportation provided through the use of services or
equipment owned, leased, or contracted by the district for students enrolled in the NPS/A unless provided
directly or subcontracted by that NPS/A.

3. Procedures for recordkeeping and documentation

4. The maintenance of school records by the district to ensure that appropriate high school graduation credit is
received by any participating student

5. An individual services agreement for each student, which will be negotiated for the length of time for which
NPS/A special education and designated instruction and services are specified in the student's IEP

6. A description of the process to be utilized by the district to oversee and evaluate placements in the NPS/A,
including a method for evaluating whether each student is making appropriate educational progress

7. Procedures and responsibilities for attendance and unexcused absences

8. General provisions related to modifications and amendments to the contract, waivers, disputes, contractor's
status, conflicts of interest, termination, inspection and audits, compliance with applicable state and federal
laws and regulations, and indemnification and insurance requirements

9. Payment schedules, including, but not limited to, payment amounts, payment demand, right to withhold, and
audit exceptions

The contract may allow for partial or full-time attendance at the NPS/A.  (Education Code 56366)

With mutual agreement of the district and NPS/A, changes may be made to the administrative and financial
agreements in the master contract at any time, provided the change does not alter a student's educational
instruction, services, or placement as outlined in the student's individual services agreement.  (Education Code
56366)

The master contract or individual services agreement may be terminated for cause if either party gives 20 days'
notice. However, the availability of a public education program initiated during the period of the contract shall not
give cause for termination unless the parent/guardian agrees to transfer the student to the program.  (Education
Code 56366)

Placement and Services

For any student to be placed in an NPS/A, the Superintendent or designee shall develop an individual services
agreement based on the student's IEP.  Each individual services agreement shall specify the length of time authorized
in the student's IEP for the NPS/A services, not to exceed one year.  Changes in a student's educational instruction,
services, or placement shall be made only on the basis of revisions to the student's IEP.  (Education Code 56366)

Board Policy Manual
Galt Joint Union Elementary School District



At least once each year, the district shall:  (Education Code 56366)

1. Evaluate the educational progress of each student placed in an NPS/A, including a review of state assessment
results

2. During the annual meeting held to review the student's IEP pursuant to Education Code 56343, consider
whether the student's needs continue to be best met at the NPS/A and whether changes to the student's IEP
are necessary, including whether the student may be transitioned to a public school setting

Prior to the annual review of a student's IEP, the Superintendent or designee shall notify any high school district to
which the student may transfer of the student's enrollment in an NPS/A.  (5 CCR 3069)

When a special education student meets the district requirements for completion of the prescribed course of study
as designated in the student's IEP, the district shall award the student a diploma of graduation.  (5 CCR 3070)

Out-of-State Placements

Before contracting with an NPS/A outside California, the Superintendent or designee shall document the district's
efforts to use public schools and/or to find an appropriate program offered by an NPS/A within California.
 (Education Code 56365)

Within 15 days of any decision for an out-of-state placement, the student's IEP team shall submit to the
Superintendent of Public Instruction a report with information about the services provided by the out-of-state
program, the costs of the special education and related services provided, and the district's efforts to locate an
appropriate public school or NPS/A within California.  (Education Code 56365)

If the district decides to place a student with an NPS/A outside the state, the district shall indicate the anticipated
date of the student's return to a placement within California and shall document efforts during the previous year to
return the student to California.  (Education Code 56365)

On-Site Visits

The Superintendent or designee shall conduct an on-site visit to an NPS/A before the placement of a student at the
school or agency, if the district does not have any other students currently enrolled at the NPS/A.  (Education Code
56366.1)

At least once per year, the Superintendent or designee shall conduct an on-site monitoring visit to each NPS/A at
which the district has a student attending and with which it maintains a master contract.  The monitoring visit shall
include, but is not limited to:  (Education Code 56366.1)

1. A review of services provided to the student through the individual services agreement

2. A review of progress the student is making toward the goals set forth in the student's IEP

3. A review of progress the student is making toward the goals set forth in the student's behavioral intervention
plan, if applicable

4. An observation of the student during instruction

5. A walkthrough of the facility

The district shall report the findings resulting from the monitoring visit to CDE within 60 calendar days of the on-site
visit.  (Education Code 56366.1)


	Agenda
	Closed Session
	Board Meeting Protocol
	Presentations & Recognitions
	Reports
	LCAP Goal 1
	LCAP Goal 2
	Other Reports
	232.412 Consent Calendar
	232.413 Items Removed from Consernt Calendar
	232.414 Public Hearing - Sufficiency of Instructional Materials
	232.415 Resolution 2; Sufficiency of Instructional Materials
	232.416 FM3 Research Proposal
	232.417 Resolution 3; Authorized Signatories
	232.418 GEFA Side Letter re: Acceleration Blocks
	232.419 Actuarial Study
	232.420 Unaudited Actuals
	22-23 UA Presentation-Final 9-18-23 LY Reviewed.pdf
	Final Synopsis of Unaudited Actuals 2022-23


	232.421 Resolution 4; Commit Fund Balance
	232.422 Resolution 5; GANN Limit
	232.423 Sub Teacher Pay Rate Increase
	232.424 BP 3314.2 Revolving Funds
	232.425 Venmo Account
	232.426 Board Policies for Adoption



